. BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Second Amended
Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probation
Against: '
Case No.: 800-2017-031854
Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.

Physician’s & Surgeon’s
Certificate No. A 31509

Respondent.

\

DENIAL BY OPERATION OF LAW
PETITION FOR RECONSIDERATION

No action having been taken on the'petition for reconsideration, filed by Albert J. Garcia,
Esq., on behalf of Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D., and the time for action having
expired at 5:00 p.m. on December 24, 2021, the petition is deemed denied by operation
of law.
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BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS .
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Second Amended
Accusation and Petition to Revoke Case No. 800-2017-031854
Probation Against:

Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. | ORDER GRANTING STAY

Physician’s & Surgeon’s (Government Code.Sectibn 11521)
Certificate No. A 31509

Respondent.

Albert Garcia, Esq., on behalf of Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D., has filed
a Request for Stay of execution of the Decision in this matter with an effective date of
December 15, 2021, at 5:00 p.m.

Execution is stayed until December 24, 2021, at 5:00 p.m.

This Stay is granted solely for the purpose of allowing the Board tlme to review
and consider the Petition for Reconsideration.

DATED: December 14, 2021

\

; — Reji Varghese
fof: William Prasifka Deputy Director
Executive Director
Medical Board of California
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BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

)

In the Matter of the Second Amended Accusation
and Petition to Revoke Probation -
Against:

Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. Case No. 800-2017-031854

.Physician's and Surgeon's
Certificate No. A 31509

Respondent.

DECISION

The attached Proposed Decision is hereby amended, pursuant to
Government Code section 11517(c)(2)(C), to correct a clerical error that does not
affect the factual or legal basis of the Proposed Decision. The Proposed Decision
is amended as follows:

1. Page 1 and Page 40: the Certificate number is corrected to read
‘A31509.’ :

2. Page 3: the Certificate expiration date is corrected to read “October 31,
2023

3. Page 37, Paragraph 23, Lines 2-3: the date is corrected to read “April 14,
2020.”

The attached Proposed Decision is hereby adopted as the Decision and

Order of the Medical Board of California, Department of Consumer Affairs, State of
California.

This Decision shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on December 15, 2021. _

IT IS SO ORDERED November 15, 2021.

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA

000 Moo

Richard E. Thorp, M.D., Chgir
Panel B _

DCU35 (Rev 07-2021;



- BEFORE THE
\MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA -

In the Matter of the Second Amended Accusation and

\ Petition to Revoke Probation Against:
TYRON CLEON REECE, M.D.
Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate Nd. A 35109
Responde-nt.
.. Agency Case No. 800-2017-‘031854

OAH No. 2021030934

PROPOSED DECISION

Thomas Heller, Administrative Law Judge, Office of Administrative Hearings

(OAH), State of California, heard this matter by videoconference on September 13-16,

2021.

Vladimir Shalkevich, Deputy Attorney General, represented co,mplainant William
J. Prasifka, Executive Director, Medical Board of California (Board), Department of

Consumer Affairs (Department).

Albert J. Garcia, Esq., represented respondent Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.



The parties presented witness testimony and documentary evidence. The record

closed and the matter was submitted for decision on September 16, 2021.
SUMMARY

Respondent is a family medicine physician who ha-s been on probation with the
Board since November 2014 following a criminal conviction for conspiring to distribute
controlled substances in violation of federal law. In November 2017, the Board |
extended respondent’s seven-year probation term by two more years due to probation
violations. Complainant now requests that the Board revoke respondent’s probation
and physician’s and surgeon’s certificate for allegedly placing four patients off work for
long periods without medical justification, committing errors in.his care and treatment
of the patients, writing a fraudulent off-work letter for a'Department investigator-
posing as a patient, and losing another patient’'s medical records. Respondent admits
he erred by writing an off-work letter for the investigator and by misplacing one
patient’s records, but he disputes the other charges and asks the Board to extend his
probation again rather than revoke his certificate. Clear and convincing evidehce
established causes for disciplinary action and probation violations, and respondent’s
unprofessional conduct while on probation compels the conclusion that his certificate

should be revoked.
FACTUAL FINDINGS

Background

1. On September 1, 1977, the Board issued Physician’s and Surgeon’s

Certificate number A 31509 to respondent. The certificate was in effect at all times
2



relevant to the charges in this case and will expire on October 31, 2021, unless

renewed.

2. Respondent earned a bachelor's degree in chemistry from Shéw
University in Raleigh, North Carolina in 1961. He then served as a Captain in the United
States Air Force from 1961 through 1969, serving in Vietnam in 1967 and 1968. He is
the recipient of the Vietnam Service Medal with Bronze Service Star, the National
Defense Service Medal,_ the Republic of Vietnam Commendation Medal, and the

United States Air Force Good Conduct Medal.

3. In 1970, requndent received a master's degree in chemistry from St.
Mary's University in San Antonio, Texas. He eérned his medical degree from the
University of Colorado in 1974. He then completed a surgery internship at Los Angeles
County/USC Medical Center in 1975, and he was a neurosurgery resident at Martin
Luther King, Jr. General Hospital, Los Angeles between 1976 and 1979, although he did .
not complete the residency program. Respondent currently practices family medicine

under the name of Prism Medical Clinic in Rancho Cucamonga, California.

4. In 2013, complainants’ predecessor as Executive Director for the Board
filed an Accusatioh for disciplinary action against respondent charging him with
conviction of a crime sUbstantiéIly related to thé qualifications, functions, or duties of a
physician; commission of acts involving dishonesty or corruption: excessive
prescription of controlled substances; receipt of rebates for patient referrals; violation
of drug statutes; and general unprofessional conduct. Specifically, the Accusation
alleged respondent wrote prescriptions for controlled substances for money without
seeing patients, and that he was convicted in the United States District Court, Southern
District of California, for conspiring to distribute controlled substances in violation of

federal law. (21 U.S.C. § 841.)



5. In October 2014, respondent agreed to a Stipulated Settlement and
Disciplinary Order in which he admitted the truth of the allegations in the Accusation
and waived his right to a hearing on the charges. In a Decision and Order effective
December 24, 2014, the Board adopted the stipulation, revoked respondent’s
cértificate, stayed the revocation, and placed him on probation for seven years. The
probation terms included a 90-day suspension, a prohibition on prescribiﬁg controlled-
substances, and requirements to complete 100 hours of community service, education
and prescribing practices courses, a professionalism (ethics) program, and psychiatric
and medical evaluations. Other terms required respor__’mdent to have billing and practice
monitors, to enroll in a physician assessment anql clinical education progrém, to pay
the costs of probation monitoring and of the psychiatric and medical evaluations, and |

to obey all laws while on probation, among other requirements.

6. In October 2016, complainant’s predecessor filed a Petition to Revoke
probation agaihst respondent due to alleged probation violations. After a hearing, the
Board extended respondent’s probation for two years for violating terms of probation,
including failure to participate in a professionalism enhancement program (ethics
course), failure to pay the costs of pro'bation monitoring, and failure to maintain a
required log of his notifications to patients of the probation restrictions on his
practice. The modified probation terms included an additional 30-day suspension
unless respondent paid the Board $10,392.50 as reimbursement for the costs he owed,
proved he was actively enrolled in the physician assessment and clinical education
program required by his probation, and proved he maintained the required log of his

notifications to patients.



Riverside Transit Agency Complaint

7. On April 17, 2017, the Board received a complaint from the Riverside
Transit Agency ’(RTA), the primary transit agency for western Riverside County,
California. The complaint statedvRTA only offered Kaiser medical insurance to its
employeés, but “[flour of our employees, who currently have Kaiser, went to Dr.
Tyron[] Reece (non-Kaiser doctor) and [were] subséquently placed off work for at least
three months each.” (Exhibit 7.) RTA wrote it “suspect[ed] that Dr. Reece is placing.

people off work unethically.” (Zbid)

8. The Board investigated the complaint and subpoenaed respondént’s
medical records for the four patients. The patients were RTA bus drivers whom
respondent p]aced>on leave from work in 2016 or early 2017, three of whom he
continued to see after the date of RTA’s complaint to the Board. Respondent’s records

for the patients indicate the following.
PATIENT 1

9. Patient 1, a 34-year-old female, first saw respondent on November 23,
2016. She presented with complaints of stress, back pain, and insomnia. She filled out
respondent'’s standard patient intake forms, and respondent completed his standard
two-page Subjective, Objective, Assessment, and Plan (SOAP) note for the visit. In the
Subjective section of the note, respondent wrote “stress, back pain,” without furiher
comment. In the Objective section, respo‘ndent wrote that the patient was
hypervigilant and apprehensive with paraspinal hypotonicity, decreased range of
motion, and "Flexion 20% [T] Extension 15% [1] Rotation <5% [1] Patellar reflex 4+/4
[T] Clohus.” The Assessment section included respondent’s diagnoses of stress |

reaction, lumbar stress, and psychosomatic vasoconstriction. In the Plan section,

5



respondent’s recommendations were: “No lift, bend, pull, push, reach, stoop, kneel,
i

squat, twist, stretch, sit/stand > 2 minutes, climb or crawl [1] Stress Management —

Crisis intervention,” with a disability period of 90 days. (Exhibit 9, pp. A380-381.)

10.  On the same day, respondent wrote a letter for the patient stating she
could not work from November 22, 2016, to February 22, 2617. On December 21,
2016, respondent saw Patient 1 again and documented “stress” and “low back pain”
without further clarification. The patient was noted as “hyper-vigilant suspicious,” with
otherwise the same physical exam as in the prior visit. Respondent's diagnoses were
stress reaction and lumbar strain with “combat-like fatigue.” Respondent
recommended the same activity modifications as in the prior visit, along with “stress -
management - limbic exploration.” Respondent signed the note with the parenthetical
“(Viet-Nam Vet)" after his signature and also wrote “Non-compliant — P.T. ! 1 (Exhibit

9, pp. A382-383.)

11.  On January 13, 2017, respondent saw Patient 1 again and noted low back

- spasms and anxiety without additional history. Respondent also wrote that the patient

was “agitated spatial” with similar physical exam comments as the notes of the prior
visits. Respondent’s diagnoses were again stress reaction and lumbar strain. The
recommended activity modifications were the same as previously recommended with

“Stress management - reality focus.” (Exhibit 9, pp. A384-385.) o

12.  On February 24, 2017, respondent last saw Patient 1. Respondent’s notes
of the visit were similar to his notes of previous visits. There was no comment on

whether Patient 1 would be returning to work. (Exhibit 9, pp. 386-387.) |



PATIENT 2

13.  Patient 2, a 34-year-old male, first saw respondent on March 22, 2017.
The patient presented with chief complaints of sciatic nerve pain and back pain, and
respondent’s SOAP note for the visit recorded, “Shooting pain down his right leg
especially after sitting long time when driving.” Reépondent's physical examination
noted a blood pressure of 131/96, paralumbar tenderness, paraspinal hypertonicity,
decreased range of motion, and various measurements of back range of motion (25%
flexion, 15% extension, 5% rotation), s’;raight leg raise (SLR)+ left 75 degrees and right
40 degrees, patellar reflexes of 3+/4, zero Babinski (a. foot reflex test), and pinprick
2+/4. Respondent’s diagnoses were acute lumbar strain and radiculopathy RLE [right
lower extremity]. The plan was physical therapy and disability certification for 60 days
to include “No lift, bend, pull, push, reach, stoop, kneel, squét, stretch, twist, sit/stand

- > 2 minutes climb.” (Exhibit 11, pp. A402-403.)

14.  On March 22, 2017, respo.ndent wrote a letter for Patient 2 stating that

the patient was completely unable to work until May 22, 2017.

15.  On April 13, 2017, respondent saw Patient 2 agaiﬁ and documented
‘complaints of sciatic nerve pain and low back pain 8/10. No Iother history was
docﬁmente_d_. Respondent'’s p;hysical examination notes documented straight leg
raising test 65 degrées on the left and 45 degrees on the right with pinprick 2+/6 and
normal gait. Respondent recommended physical therapy and application of hot/cold
to the right lower extremity. The patient was directed not to lift, pull, push, stoop,
kneel, squat, twist or stretch. (Exhibit 11, pp. A404-405.)

16.  On April 25, 2017, and May 18, 2017, respondent saw Patient 2 again and

documented no changes in condition. On May 18, 2017, respondent wrote a letter
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extending the initial two-months period of disability of the patient by three more

. months, to August 22, 2017.

17. OnJuly 3, 2017, respondent saw Patient 2 again and wrote essentially the
same progress note as for prior visits. Respondent recommended specific exercises to

inélude'pigeon pose, stand hamstring, and sit spinal stretch.

/

18.  On August 16, 2017, respondent documented patient complaints of
shooting pain right' leg and low back pain, but no additipnél history. Respondent
assessed the patient’s range of mc;tion and documented 25% flexion, 20% extension,
10% rotation, SLR+ left 80 degrees, right 55 degrees, and a normal gait. Respondent
diagnosed the patient with sciatica (radiculopathy) and lumbar strain, but he returned

Patient 2 to work with recommendations for leg positioning while'driving a bus.

19.  Respondent next saw Patient 2 on December 18, 2IO17,‘r‘10ting a chief
complaint of sciatic nerve without additional documented history. The physical exam
includéd a blood pressure of 133/90 and fasciculation RLE [right lower extremity] and
pinprick 1+/6. Respondent recommended referral to a neurologist for nerve
conduction studies and stated that Patient 2 should have intermittent time off (one

!

episode/month for 1-3 days/episode).

= 20. On May 17, 2018, Respondent saw Patient 2 again and documented
complaints of “R side R shoulder pain, R foot num [sic]," with no additional history. The
physical examinatioh noted: righf glenoid effusion, range of motion (ROM) 80%
abduct and internal rotation, hypertonicity, and pinprick 2+/6 RLE. Patient 2 was .
diagnosed with shoulder strain, lumbar strain, and sciatica radiculopathy. Physical
therapy was recommended, and the patient was not to lift, squat, or stoop. (Exhibit 11,

pp. A417-418.)



21.  Between March 22, 2017, and August 16, 2017, respondent documented
visits of Patient 2 for therapy. The therapy notes are on pre-printed forms and are
essentially identical in documenting subjective complaints of severe lower back muscle

spasms, with the therapy types marked as hot, massage, and ROM exeréises;

PATIENT 3

22.  Patient 3, a 34-year-old female, first visited respondent on April 14, 2017.
She filled -out patient intake fdfms indicating the main reason for her visit on that day
were "high levels of stress” and lower back pain. The patient noted a personal medical
history of hypertension and a family hisfory of high blood pressure, asthma, diabetes,
and stroke. On one form, shé checked boxes indicating health problems over the last
six months with her head, neck, bones/joints, skin (acne), mood, and fatigue. She also
wrote, "I often have headaches, feel pressure, my lower back hurts, I have acne. I'm

always tired from stressing sometimes irritable.” (Exhibit 12, p. A457.)

23.  Respondent’s SOAP note for the visit lists the patient's complaints as
“Stress [T] Lower back pain 7/10 [T] High blood pressure,” with no additional history. In
the Objective section of the note, respondeﬁt wrote that the patient was hypervigilant,
apprehensive, and spatial, with paraspinal hypertonicity, with decreased range of
motion (flexion 15-20%, extension 10%, rotation <5%), patellar reflex 4+/4, and clonus.
Underlined on the page are pre-printed sections that include “Neurological -
Alert/ofiented X 3, Cognition — sound, adaptive, integrated. Behavior appropriate.” The
recorded vital signs include a blood pressure of 160/127, a pulse rate of 72, a
respiratory rate of 21, a temperature 98.1, and a height and weight of 5 feet four
inches and 171 pounds. In the Assessment section, respondent circled the words
structural, psychological, and, dorsum, and he reported a diagnosis of lumbar strain

and stress reaction. Respondent recommended physical therapy and listed activity

9



- restrictions as “no lift, bend, pull, push, reach, stoop, kneel, squat, twist, stretch,
sit/stand> 2 minutes, climb or crawl.” Respondent also recommended stress
management. There is no assessment or plan related to the blood pressure reading.

(Exhibit 12, pp. A462-463.) -

24.  On April 14, 2017, Respondent completed out and gave Patient 3 a
“Health Care Provider's Certification for Leave, Employee Iliness,” which stated that she

was “completely unable to work from 4/14/17 to 7/14/17." (Exhibit 12, p. A459.)

25.  On May 17, 2017, respondent again saw Patient 3 and wrote a progress
- note nearly identical to the note dated April 14, 2017. The only material differences are
the date, a blood pressure reading of 150/110, and a reference to “stress management
— crisis intervention” in the Plan section of the note. (Exﬁibit 12, p. A466-467.) On the
same day, respondent wrote a letter stating that Patient 3 “remains under our care for
conditions precluding all gainful activities and employment. These conditions warrant

extension effective to July 14, 2017.” (Exhibit 12, p. A468.)

26.  OnJune 16;\2017, respondent again saw Patient 3. Respondent's SOAP
note for the visit'réports "stress, low back pain 9/10" and an elevated b-lood pressure
reading of 146/113. The rest of the note is nearly identical to notes of prior visits, and
the activity modifications are the same. (Exhibit 12, p. A469-A470.) Respondent wrote

another letter stating that the patient’s disability extended through July 14,72017.
PATIENT 4

27.  Patient 4, a 33-year-old male, first visited respondent on August 25, 2016,
complaining of back pain and stress. Patient 4 admitted to using tobacco, alcohol, and
caffeine in unstated quantities on the intake form, and provided no other medical

history. In the Subjective section of respondent’s SOAP note, respondent wrote:
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"Stressed-excessive [T] Low back pain 10/10 [1] Complications in all environments -
social, domestic, work [f] not getting adequate rest at night.” The Objective section
includes a blood pressure of 142/98 with otherwise normal vita! signs. Respondent
wrote that the patient was "Hyper-vigilant [T] Agitated [T] Preséure speech [f] Spatial
(Combat-like fatigue). Respondent also wrote that the patient had paraspinal
hypertonicity, decreased range of motion, “flexion 20%, extension 10%, rotation <5%;
patellar reflex 4+/4, clonus (psychosomatic vasoconstriction) compromised tissue
perfusion.” The Assessment section has the terms “structural,” ”psycholbgical," and
“dorsum” circled, and respondent also wrote "stress reaction lumbar strain (acute).”
Respondent’s activity modifications and plan were “Stress management--crisis
intervéntion. No lift, bend, pull, push, reach, stoop, kneel, squat, stretch, sit/stand> 2

minutes, climb.” (Exhibit 13, pp. A487-488.)

28.  On August 25, 2016, respondent wrote a letter stating that Patient 4's
condition warranted "“disability extension effective to November 25, 2016.” (Exhibit 12,
p. A489.) On September 22, 2016, respondent saw Patient 4 again and documented:
“Anxiety — highly all day & night” and “Back pain 9/10,” with no other history recorded.
The patient’s blood pressure was 139/86, and the patient was described as hyper-

“vigilant, spatial, agitated, and angry. The rest of the documentation of the physical
examination, éssessment, and _pJ‘an sections were the same as the note on August 2§

2016. (Exhibit 12, pp. A 490-491.)

29.  On October 14, 2016, respondent saw Patient 4 again and wrote that the
patient was “severely frustrated [abou’g] all the things around back spasms, trying to
get out of bed, pain 9/10.” The patient's blood pressure was documented as 148/96,
and réspondent described him as “apprehensive, spatial” with similar comments as in

respondent’s note of the prior visit. Respondent'’s diagnoses were subacute lumbar

. 11,



strain, intractable stress reaction, no skeletal pathology, and compromised tissue
perfusion secondary to a psychosomatic reaction. The activity restrictions were the
same and respondent recommended “stress management — reality focus.” (Exhibit 13,

pp. A492-493.)

30.  Patient 4's next visit was on November 23, 2016, and respondent wrote
that the patient was “angry” and “combative.” Respondent added a diagnosis of
“combat-like fatigue"Ato theAprevious diagnoses of intractable stress reaction and
lumbar strain. Respondent’s plan was for physical therapy, stress management, no
public vehiéle operations, and no anxiolytics or muscle relaxers. After signing the
document, respondent wrote under his signature “(Vietnam Vet) PTSD Survivor
(Coaching Combat-Like Fatigue).” (Exhibit 13, pp. A494-495.) On the same day,
respondent wrote a letter for Patient 4 extending the disab‘ility périod by three more

months to February 25, 2017.

31.  On the next visit on December 16, 2016, respondent wrote that Patient 4
stated he “didn’t- want to be around anyone, can't sleep, wake-up in frantic state, back
spasms more whén extremely upset.” The patient’s blood pressure was 147/93, and he
was noted as extremely hyper-vigilant, suspicious, flight fight phenomenon autonomié
reaction, and compromised tissue perfusion (combat-like fatigue). Respondent
diagnosed Patient 4 with subacute Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), lumbar
strain, and “(Combat fatigue - Zenith).” The plan was activity restrictions as noted
previously, with “no public véhicle operation or productive -exposure of any form

(stress management — reality focus). Refrain from any form of job contact (Walk on

beach).” (Exhibit 13, pp. A498-499.)

32.  OnJanuary 10, 2017, respondent again saw Patient 4, who on this
occasion stated he was “tired/not feeling good inside, low back pain 8/10.”

12



Respondent documented a blood pressure of 140/87, and his objective findings were
essentially identical to the previous visit, including “flight/fight phenomenon v(persist).”
Respondent'’s diagno_sés were stress reaction and lumbar strain, iio. skeletal
pathophysiology. Physical therapy was recommended, the activity modifications were
~again "No lift, bend, push, pull, reach, kneel, stoop, squat, twist, stretch, sit/stand >2
minutes climb or crawl,” and respondent also recommended “stress mahagemént,

focus-minimizing (offensive nature).." (Exhibit 13, pp. 500-501.)

33.  On February 24, 2017, Respondent saw Patient 4 and documented stress,
9/10; low back- pain 7/10 (not as‘much spasm); a blood pressurt; of 139/93; and similar
physical examination comments as in the notes of prior visits. The diagnoses weré
stress reaction, lumbar strain, and psychosomatic etiology for compromised tissue
perfusion. Activity modifications continued as noted in the prior visit, with “Stress
management [1] Processing coghition—prepa‘ration [T] Return to work (h/andling PTSD).”
(Exhibit 13, pp A502-503.) On February 25, 2017, resporident wrote a letter extending
the patient’s period of disability by three more months to May 25, 2017. (Exhibit 13,

pp. A502-503.)

34. On March 23, 2017, respondent documented: “not as much stress (4-5
days out of the week), low back pain 7/10, veiy little spasms now when get out of
bed.” The patient’s blood pressure was 143/89, and the patient was described as
“combative suspicious . . . little reactive today flight/fight more focus for control.”
Respondent’s diagnoses were again stress reaction, lumbar strain, and “combat-like
fatigue.” Physical therapy was recommended along with the same activity
modifications and “stress management (education of limbic system).” (Exhibit 13, pp.

A505-506.)

13



35.  On April 28, 2017, respondent documented, “mind doesn't feel as heavy
aé it once did can focus a little bit more still feel little nervous when around lots of
people low back pain 6-7/10, able to exercisg more.” The physical exam noted a§
blood pressure of 141/83, paraspinal hypertonicity, decreased range of motion, flexion
30-40%, extension 20%, rotation 15% patellar reflex 2-3+/4 minimal clonus, flight
fright less combat-like fatigue (more control of feelings). Respondent recommended
physical therapy, activity moaifications as above, and “stress management

identification of exogenous stress offensive.” (Exhibit 13, pp. A507-508.)

36. On May 24, 2017, respondent saw Patient 4 again and noted stress and

mild back pain 6/10, without any other history. Respondent's notes in the Objective
section included the comment “jovial more focus.” The patient’s blood pressure was
117/74, and respondent documents physical examination findings of 40-50% fiexion,
40% extension, rotation 30%, 1+/4 patellar reflex, and “0 clonus.” Réépondent also
wrote, “Flight-fight minimal [T] Able to tqlerate shopping at mall more.” Respondent’s
diagnoses were stress reaction and lumbar strain, and the plan was activity

modification and “minimizing flight/fight phenomenon.” (Exhibit 13, pp. A509-510.)
Respondent wrote a letter for Patient 4 on the same day exténding the period of
disability by another three months to August 25, 2017. The total period of disability for

. the patient was one year from the first visit.
Undercover Operation

37. OnlJanuary 21, 2020, the Health Quality Investigation Unit of the
Department’s Division of Investiéation conducted an undercover operation at
respondent’s clinic. A Department Investigator using a fictitious name poséd asa
patient to receive an off-work order. The investigator, Tia Johnson — identified as -

Patient 5 in the Second Amended Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probation —

14



recorded the video and audio of her interactions with respondent using a hidden

camera.

38.  Johnson entered respondent’s clinic waiting room and completed intake
forms using a pseudonym. When Johnson was called to the back office, a medical
assistant took her vital signs. When the medical assistant asked Johnson height and
weight, the medical assistant recorded them in the chart without measurement. The
medical assistant then asked Johnson why she was in the office. Johnson indicated she
just was not feeling well and needed an off-work note. The medical assistant stated
that there needed to be something wrong in the chart t@justify an off-work note and

asked if Johnson was feeling stressed or depressed. Johnson stated she was not.

39.  Johnson was then instructed to wait in an examination room. Soon after,
respondent entered the réom and escorted Johnson to another office _nearby. When
meeting with Jvohnson‘, respondent reviewed hér intake forms and stated that the word
“stress” had been scratched out on a document the medical assistaht had provided to
respondent. Respondent asked Johnson what her medical condition was. Johnson
stated she did not put the word “stress” on the document, and respondent asked what
was wrong with her. Johnson replied she was fine and was simply trying to get off )
work to go to her sister’s wed‘ding for a few days. Respondent \stated, “Oh, so you just
need a medical excuse?” and typed and signed the off-work letter for her while

Johnson sat in respondent’s office.

40.  The off-work letter respondent provided to Johnson stated, “Please be
advised that the above patient was evaluated in this office as of January 28, 2020, for
urgent medical condition requiring medical management. The patient will have
intensive management effective through February 4, 2020, precluding all gainful ,

activitie [sic]/employment for this period.” (Exhibit 16, p. A565.)
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Department of Insurance Complaint

41.  In May 2018, the Board received a complaint from the California
Department of Insurance regarding a patient respondent reported treating at his office
who resided in Louisiana. The patient is identified as Patient 6 in the Second Amended

Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probation.

42.  Patient 6, a 65-year-old female, visited respondent first on May 29 or
May 30, '!2017, and a second time on June 29, 2017. The patient complained of injuries
resulting from a slip and fall on or about May 26, 2017. On July 3, 2017, respondent
signed a disability form for the patient’s insurance company stating that the date of
treatment was May 30, 2017. However, a pain management clinic in Louisiana also
reported treating Patient 6 on the same date, and the insurance company noted the
discrepancy. After learning of the discrepancy, respondent initially wrote that he
treated the patient on May 25, 2017, which was one day before the reported date of
the injury. When advised of that fact, respondent provided a letter to the insurance
company'’s claim department correcting the date of treatment to May 29, 2017. The
insurance company reported the inconsistent responses to the Depértment of

Insurance, which complained to the Board.

43. . On September 17, 2020, investigators from the Health Quality
Investigation Unit of the Department’s Division of Investigations interviewed
respondent. During the interview, respondent stated he had treated Patient 6 but h'ad
misplaced her medical records. Respondent produced twd pages of records he

obtained from the patient herself (Exhibit 26), but he lost her patient file.
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Procedural History

44.  Complainant’s predecessor filed the original Accusation and Petition to
Revoke Probation on April 14, 2020, and respondent timely filed a Notice of Defense.
Complainant filed the First Amended Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probation on
February 22, 2021, and the Second\Amended Accusation and_Petition to Revoke
Probation on July 28, 2021. The Second Amended Accusation and Petition to Revoke
Probation and all other statutorily required documents were properly served on
respondent. Respondent was not required to file a further notice of defense in

response to the amended allegations and charges. (Gov. Code, § 11507.)
Hearing
COMPLAINANT’S CASE

45.  Complainant presented evidence of respondent’s license history and
prior discipline, the complaintsrfrom RTA and the Califorhia Department of Insurance
to the Board, medical records of the patients, and a video and audio recording of the
undercover investigation in which Johnson posed as a patient. Complainant also
presented transcripts of Board interviews of respondent, testimony from RTA

—

employee Choung Chav and Investigator Johnson, and expert testimony and written

reports from Nathan Carlson, M.D.
Choung Chav

46. Chav is a benefits administrator for RTA. She described the circumstances
underlying RTA’s complaint to the Board, testifying that RTA does not normally see
physicians place its employees-off work for three-month periods as an initial matter,

and the off-work periods that respondent granted to the four bus drivers were highly
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unusual. Chav also testified that RTA offers health insurance through Kaiser, which has
facilities and providers close to RTA’s main office. Three of the four RTA employees
had Kaiser health insurance, but nonetheless chose to visit respondent, who was not a
Kaiser physician. One of the employees (Patient 4) was off work in August 2016 before
first seeing responldent in late August 2016, but the other three were not off work

before they first visited respondent.
Tia Johnson

47.  Johnson testified she paid $125 in cash for her office visit to respondent
during the undercover operation. Johnson had her vitals taken, but respondent
performed no physical examinatiqn of her. The Board later obtained respondent'’s
records of Johnson's visit, and the SOAP note that respondént signed and produced to
the Board has the word “stress” written on it as \thnson's chief complaint. It also
includes a handwritten diagnosis that appears to read i"st“reSs reaction” and states |
respondent’s plan of action is “stress management.” (Exhibit 15, pp. A557-558.) The
word “stress” is not crossed or scratched out anywhere on the note, and respondent

did not produce any other medical record for Johnson on which it was.
Nathan Carlson, M.D.

48.  Dr. Carlson graduated from fhe Loma Linda University School of
Medicine in 1999. He is board certified in family medicine and a fellow in the American
Academy of Family Physicians. Dr Carlson practices family medicine for Kaiser
Permanente in Fontana, California. He has about 1200-1600 patients in his practice,

and he has been a medical reviewer for the Board since 2008.

49.  In his testimony and written reports, Dr. Carlson opined that respondent

departed from the standard of care in multiple respects. First, respondent committed
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extreme departures by ﬁroviding certifications of medical incapacity without adequate
clinical justification to Patients 1 through 4 and a fraudulent certification of medical
incapacity to Patient 5 (i.e., Investigator Johnson). The standard of care when a patient
presents to a primary care clinic requesting modification of their employment status

_ requires a physician to elicit and document a complete history relate to the medical
condition. A certification that a patient is completely unable to work requires a
moderate to severe medical condition where symptoms are unlikely to be controllable
at the job site, even with reasonable accommodations. Further, taking patients off
work for stress-related symptoms may be provided in primary care for a short time,
but the patient should be refer_rgd to a practitioner who specializes in mental health.

care if the disabling mental health symptoms persist.

50.  Dr. Carlson opined that nothing in respondent’s limited documentation
for the patients suggests any of them had high risk back pain, such as from a fracture, |
~ infection, or cancer. The durations of the certifications of medical incapacity were
excessive for the clinical présentations, and nothing in the patients; presentations‘
justified medicél certificates of compléte incapacity for those durations. The vast
majority of musculoskeletal back pain in patients resolves within six weeks or less.
Further, respondent gave an off-work letter to Investigator Johnson despite her stating

there was nothing wrong with her.

51.  Second, respondent committed an extreme departure from the standard
| of care in his medical record keeping for Patient 2. The patient’s medical record is hard
to read and partially illegible. Respondent’s notes do not record a detailed history of -
the patient’s present illness or update the status of'the patient’s pain, function, or
response to thérapy. Too little is documented in the records, and some of

respondent’s physical examination findings are non-standard and unclear, such as
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“2+/6 pinprick,” which does not have any meaning by itself. The records also do not

clarify where the patient has decreased sensation. : y

52.  Third, resp‘ondent committed extreme departures from the standard of
care by failing to address the elevated blood pressures of Patient 3 and Patient 4. The
patients came to respondent’s office multiple times with high blood pressures, but
neither patient was assessed for any symptoms related to hypertension. The sfandard
of care requires thét a provider document a history of present illness or injury when a
patient presents to a clinic with elevated blood pressure. Previous blood pressure
problems shouid be documented as well as therapies that have been tried.
Respondent took no action with respect to any of the elevated blood pressure

readings.

53.  Fourth, respondent committed an extreme departure from the standard
of care by failing to fully evaluate and treat Patient 3 for her worsening back injury.
Respondent did not document a comprehensive back pain history, and it was unclear
from the records if the patient had acute or chronic low back pain, if there were any
triggers, or what the patient had done to treat it. Although the patient reported her
back péin worsening, respondent did not pérform any additional workup or refer the
patient to specialists. Respondent also did not discuss, offer, or prescribe any
‘medication to the patient or refer the patient to another physician who could have
prescribed pharmaceuticals as part of the paﬁent’s treatment plan. While respondent
was prohibited from prescribing controlled substances while on probation, respondent
displayed a lack of knowledge regarding the use of even low risk medications for the

treatment of musculoskeletal pain.

54.  Fifth, respondent committed an extreme departure from the standard of
" care by failing to fully evaluate and treat Patient 4's anxiety. The patient presented
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with potentially serious mental health symptorhs that deserved furtHer attention. There
was no comprehensive psychiatric evaluation either done or recommended by
respondent. There was also no documented psychiatric history or psychotropic
rﬁedication history. Respondent's\t'reatment'was simply for the patient to have no
exposure to work and “walk on thé beach.” Respondent did not offer medications that
are useful for the treatment of mood disorders such as PTSD or refer the patient to
another physician for such medications. Overall,‘responldent _displayed a lack of
knowledge or ability regarding the mental health diagnasis éhd treatment of the

patient.

55.  Sixth, respondent committed an extreme departure from the standard of
care by failing to have any records for his care and treatment of Patient 6. The
standard of care requires physicians to keep timely, accurate, completed, and legible
records for patients, but respondent provided no records documenting his evaluation’

of the patient.

56.  Dr. Carlson also opined that respondent’s manner of keeping medical
records of his care and treatment of Patients 1, 3, 4, and 5 departed from the standard
of care. Respéndent’s medfcal records for the patients reflected a pattern of mihimal
documentation related to the progress of the patients’ condifions. Physicians
‘providing subsequent care would not be able to form a reasonable narrative of the

patients’ course of treatment based on the records.

57.  Dr. Carlson also opined in one of his reports that respondent’s failure to
recognize and addréss elevated blood pressure readings for Patient 2 was a simple
departure from the standard of care. But at the hearing, Dr. Carlson testified that upon
further review, the patient’s blood pressure was elevated only during his first visit, and

\
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respondent’s failure to address that one elevated reading was of limited concern given

the patient’s lower blood pressure readings on later visits.
 RESPONDENT'S CASE

58.  Respondent presented letters of reference, a certificate of completion of
a medical record keeping course in July 2020, his own testimony, the testimony of
three character witnesses, and expert testimony and a written report from Diana Koin,

M.D.
Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.

59.  Respondent admits he erred by writing an off-work letter for the
investigator (Patient 5) and by misplacing the records of Patient 6, but he denies
acting improperly concerning Patients 1 thr;)ugh 4. Respondent testified he diagnosed
the bus drivers with lumbar strain and stress, and that stress and back pain are
conditions that often arise from the physical nature of the occupation, which requires

‘long stretches in the siltting position and exposure to bumps that occur while driving
on roads and surface streets. Respondent has extensive experience in diagnosing and
treating bus drives, and there is a connection between stress and back pain in bus

drivers that goes hand in hand.

60.  The patients’ presenting complaints, respondent'’s physical examination,
and his objective findings, all support respondent’s issuance of the certificates of
medical incapacity. His progress notes document the patient’s presenting complaints,
medical histories, physical examinations, assessments, and treatment plans. He
“always"” places bus drivers off work for at least 90 days, because the drivers need that

amount of time to avoid worsening back pain and associated stress.
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61.  Regarding the elevated blood pressures of Patients 3 and 4, respondent
- did not inVestigaté the issues because he assumeclj that physicians at Kaiser were
addressing those issues. Respondent also never believed Patient 3 had a worsening
back injury, because he had conc.erns that she was malingering. This concern was
based on a number of factors. First, his belief that the patient's subjective complaints
were exaggerated. She described her pain on.her final visit as 9 on a scale of 10. But |
there Were no objective findings that verified the extent of that subjective pain
complaint. Second, she was noncompliant with her physical therapy plan, and third,
she failed to return after her fourth visit. Dr. Reece nevertheless gave the patient the
benefit of the doubt because he determined her stress complaints to be credible. He
did not prescribe pain medication to her because most pain medications are
coﬁtrolled substances that he cannot prescribe while on probation, and non-scheduled

~ pain medications can irritate the stomach over the long term.

62.  Patient 4's made respondent “nervous” because the patient’s stress level
was extreme. Respondent did not feel comfortable sending him back to work in that
condition. He did not provide anxiolytics or muscle relaxers to the patient because
respondent did not want them to interfere with ‘fhe patient’s treatment plan, and
respohdent did not trust the patient with muscle relaxers. Respondent also does not
believe in prescribing psychiatric mgfjications for stress. Respondent is a Vietnam

veteran and PTSD survivor, and he refuses to take medication for stress. Patients

become dependent on the medications, which do not solve the patients’ problems.

63. In February 2020, respondent wrote a letter to a Board investigator
stating he would shorten his disability periods to six weeks for all entities and attempt
to implement returns to work with light duty, restrictions, or reasonable

accommodations for two or three months pending reevaluations. But respondent

23



testified he has not shortened his disability periods as indicated. He took a record
keeping course to improve his office’s practices, but he did not specify any changes he

made due to the course.
William Modeste

64. Williém Modeste is a retired guidance counselor from the State
University of New York/Queens College. Modeste has kn-an respondent for 64 years.

He testified respondent is truthful and a man of integrity. Modeste finds it hard to
conceive or believe that respondent acted as alleged during the undercover
investigation by providing the off-work letter to Johnson. If he did, it is “totally out of

character” for respondent, and Modeste’s opinion of respondent would not change.
Uzoma Emezi

65.  Uzoma Emezi had known respondent for over 23 years. Respondent is
Emezi's personal physician and a friend: Emezi testified respondent is a man on
honesty and integrity. Emezi's review of the Accusation does not change his positive

opinidn of respondent.
Marcellinus Osuji

66.  Marcellinus O-éduji has worked for respondent in his rﬁedical office for 24
years. Osuji was respondent’s office mana'ger during the time when respondent was
~ accused of conspiring to distribute controlled substances in violation of federal law.
Osuji testified he never saw respondent act improperly with respect to contfolled
subs{ances, and that respondent was a God-fearing, reputable, and honest person.
Osuji also testified respondent’s record keeping practices have remained the same

over the last few years.
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Diana Koin, M.D.

67.  Dr. Koin is board certified in internal medici'ne, although she retired from
clinical practice in 2015. Her clinical practice involved geriatric medicine. Her
physician’s and.surgeon’s certificate is current but in retired status. She was in the
same medical school class as fespondent. Koin assessed and treated back pain often in

her practice, but she never had to prepare a certificate of disability due to back pain.

68. In her testimony and written report, Dr. Koin opined thét respondent
acted within the standard of care by providing certificates of medical impairment to
Patients 1-4. Respondent obtained histories and performed appropriate physicals for
lower back pain on the patients, and his findings provided medical indications for the
~ diagnoses and certificates of impairment. Given respondsnt’s trainfng in neurosurgery,
respondent would have been very capable of assessing back and spine jssues.
Respondent's military history would also give him first-hand knowledge about stress
disorders and PTSD. Howevér, Koin could not comment on the appropriateness of the
lengths of the disability periods, as she did not track the periods of disability with the

clinical notes.

69. Regarding Patient 4, it appeared from the records that the patjent’s
mental health was being monitored by Kaiser. Dr. Koin opined it was only a simple
departure from the standard of care for respondent to confirm and document that

Kaiser was managing the patient’'s mental health.

70.  Regarding elevated blood pressure readings, Dr. Koin testified it is a
common occurrence for blood pressure to be elevated when patients are in pain or
consulting a doctor. Dr. Koin understood the patients at issue were all receiving their

primary care from Kaiser where their blood pressure was presumably being managed.
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In Dr. Koin's opinion, it was only a simple departure from the standard of care for
respondent not to document that the blood pressures of Patients 3 and 4 were being

followed by Kaiser.

71.  Dr. Koin disagreed with Dr. Carlson’s opinion that respondent
demonstrated lack of knowledge or incompetence with respect to medications for
mental health disorder. Respondent has considerable experience in the field of mental
health, and his unwillingness to prescfibe psychiatric medications is on the spectrum

of acceptable practice regarding such medications.

72.  Dr. Koin also opined that the records respondent prepared for Patients 1-
4 were adequate. The lack of detail in some entries does not limit the care of the

patients by respondent or other physicians.

73.  Regarding Patient 5, Dr. Koin opined it was misconduct for respondent to
issue a certificate of medical incapacity if the patient indicated she had no comvplaints,
physical or otherwise. The unavailability of the medical records for Patient 6 was also a

deviation from the standard of care.
ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE

l74.»”_ Respondent does not dispute the charges against him regarding Patien.t
5 or Patient 6. Regarding Patient 5 (i.e., Investigator Johnson), respondent gave
Johnson an off-work letter despite Johnson explicitly statilng there was nothing wrong
with her. Respondent's preparation of the letter was dishonest and fraudulent, and Dr.
Carlson’s testimony that it was, an extreme departure from the standard of care was

persuasive and unrebutted.
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75.  In addition, the SOAP note that respondent signed and produced to the
Board for Johnson's visit is a false medical record created with fraudulent intent. It -
reports Johnson's chief complaint as “stress,” a diagnosis of “stress reaction,” and a
recommendation for “stress management.” Respondent prepared the note to support
the fraudulent off-work letter. Further, while respondent refel;red to the word “stress”
being scratched out from a document during Johnson'’s \)isit, the word is not scratched
out on the SOAP note, and resbondent did not produce any other medical record for
Johnson to the Board on which it was. This suggests the medical records that
respondent produced are either incomplete or were changed to restate falsely that

Johnson complained of stress.

76.  Regarding Patient 6, Dr. Carlson and Dr. Koin agree the lack of records
for the patient was a departure from the standard of care, disagreéing only on whether
the departure was ordinary or extreme. But complainanf only charges respondent with
a failure to maintain-adequate and accurate records for the patient, not with gross
negligence or ordinary negligence with respect to the missiﬁg recdrds. The difference
of experf opinion about the extent of the departure from the standard of care is
immaterial as to whether respondent failed to maintain adequate and accurate records

for Patient 6. He failed to do so and does not dispute that fact.

= 77.  Dr. Carlson and Dr. Koin disagree more starkly about whether
respondent’s certificatic;ns of medical incapacity for Patients 1-4 were within the
standard of care. Dr. Carlson’s opinion that the months-long (and for Patient 4, one-
year long) certifications of complete inability to work were extreme departures from
the standard of care is persuasive. Respondent’s examinations, notes,‘and
determinations 6f medical incapacity for the patients were strikingly similar, bordering

on formulaic. Dr. Carlson found nothing to suggest the patients had high risk back
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pain, such as from a fracture, infection, or cancer, and Dr. Koin did not determine
otherwise. In Dr. Carlson’s view, the lengths of time of the certificates of complete
disability were excessive for the cliriical presentation, because the vast majoﬁty of

musculoskeletal back pain resolve within six weeks or less.

78.  In contrast, Dr. Koin testified she could not comment on the
\appropriateness of the léngths of the disability periods, as she‘ did not track the‘» »
periods of disability with the clinical notes. Dr. Koin's lack of analysis of the Ien'gths of
the disability periods diminishes the value of her opinion. The Iength of the disability
periods, and the determination of complete disability for extended periods, are major

problems with the certifications of medical incapacity as Dr. Carlson testified.

79.  Dr. Carlson and Dr. Koin also disagree on whether respondent’s record
keeping for Patients 1-4 was within the standard of care. Dr. Koin opined it was, while
Dr. Carlson opined it was not and that the record keeping for Patient 2 evidenced an
extreme departure from the standard of care. Dr. Carlson’s opinion that the records
were inadequate and a departure standard of care violation is persuasive. The medical
records for the patients show a pattern of minimal documentation and rote entries —

-some of them difficult fo decipher and understand - related to the progress of the

| patients’ conditions. Dr. Carlson’s opinion that physicians providing subsequent care
would not be able to form a reasonable narrative of the .patients’ course of treatment
based on the records is also persuasive. However, it is unclear what is so different
about Patient 2's records to support Dr. Carlson’s opinion that those records in
particular evidence an extreme departure from the standard of care. The records for
that patient are not so d-ifferent from the other records that they support a finding of

an extreme departure versus a simple departure.
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80.  Dr. Carlson further opined that respohdent committéd extreme
departures from the standard of care by failing to address the elevated blood
pressures of Patient 3 and Patient 4. Dr. Koin disagreed that the departures wefe
extreme, opining that respondent’s failures to confirm the patients’ blood pressures
were being monitoréd by Kaiser physicians were simple departures from the standard
of care. Dr. Carlson’s opinion on this issue is persuasive. Respondent’s records
_ document repeated elevated blood pressure readings, but nothing in the records
documents any assessment or discussion with the patient'of those readings. Instead,

' respondent disregarded those readings repeatedly and never-acted .on them in any

fashion. The nature and extent of the elevated readings over time support Dr. Carlson’s

opinion.

81.  Dr. Carlson also opined that respondent committed an extreme
departure from the standard of care by failing to adequately evaluate and treat Patient
3's worsening back injury. Respondent disputed that the patient’s injury was worsening
and testified he thought the patient was rpalingering, although respéndent did not
note that suspicion in his notesi The recofds include the patient’s subjective -reports of
increasing back pain from 7/10 to 9/10. Respondent did not perform any additional
workup or refer the patient to any specialists despite the reported lack of
improvement in her condition. Responf:ient also did not discuss, offer, or prescribe any
medication to the patient or refer the patient to another physician who could have
prescribed pharmaceuticals as part of the patient’s treatment plan. These facts support
Dr. Carlson’s opinion. Further, respondent displayed a lack of knowledge regarding the
use of even low risk medications for the treatment of musculoskeletal pain, expressing

an unwilling to recommend any medications at all for back pain.
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82.  Dr. Carlson’s opinion that respondent committed an extreme departure
from the standard of care by failing to fully evaluate and treat Patient 4's anxiety is |
also persuasive for similar reasons. The patient presented with potentiélly sérious
mental health symptoms, but respondent’s treatment was primarily for the patient to
have no exposure to work and “walk on the beach.” Respondent did not offer
medications that are useful for the treatment of mood disorders such as PTSD or refer
the patient to another physician for such medications, and respondent expressed an
unwillingness to recommend or refer for such medication under any circumstances.
This displayed a lack of knowledge or ability regarding the mental health diagnosis

and treatment of the patient..
LEGAL CONCLUSIONS

Legal Standards .

1. “The board shall take action against any licensee who is charged with
unprofessional coﬁduct.” (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 2234.) Uvnprofevjssiohal conduct
“includes, but is not limited to, gross negligence (§ 2234, subd. (b)), repeated nAeingent
acts (§ 2234, subd. (c)), incompetence (§ 2234, subd. (d)), and “[t]he commission of any
act involving dishonesty -or corruption that is substantially related to the qualifications,
functions, or duties of a physician and surgeon” (§ 2234, subd. (e)). “Knowingly making
or signing any certificate or other document directly or indirectly related to the |
practice of medicine . . . which falsely represents the exi.stence or nonexistence of a’

state of facts” also constitutes unprofessional conduct, as does “creating any false

! Undesignated statutory references are to the Business and Professions Code.
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medical record, with fraudulent intent.” (8¢ 2261, 2262.) Further, “[t]he failure of a
physician and surgeon to maintain adequate and accurate records relating to the -

provision of services to their patients constitutes unprofessional conduct.” (§ 2266.)

2. “A licensee whose matter has been heard by an administrative law judge
of the Medical Quality Heéring Panel as designated in Section 11371 of the

Government Code . . . and who is found guilty, . . . may, in accordance with the

provisions of this chapter: [T] (1) Have his or her license revoked.......... [11 (2) Have his or
her right to practice suspended for- a period not to exceed one yéar..; ........ [T] (3) Be
placed on proba'éion and be required to pay the costs of probation monitoring......... [1]
(4) Be publicly reprimanded......... [T] (5) Have any other action taken in relation to

discipline as part of an order of probation, as the board or an administrative law judge

may deem_proper.” (§ 2227, subd. (a).)

3. To impose discipline on a medical licensee, there must be a nexus
between the professional misconduct and the physician’s fitness or competencé to
practice medicine. (Griffiths v. Superfor Court (2002) 96 Cal.App.4Ath 757, 769
(Griffiths)) Conduct may be substantially related to a physician's fitness even though
the conduct does not relate to the skills needed for the practice of medicine. (See, e.g.,
Krain v. Medical Board (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1416, 1424-1425 [physician’s criminal
conviction for solicitation of subornation of perjury was substantially related to his
qualifications as a physician]; Windham v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance (1980)
104 Cal.App.3d 461, 469-470 [criminal conviction for tax evasion was substantially
related to a phy?ician's fitness to practice].) Whether the conduct at issue qualifies as
unprofessional conduct turns on whether the conduct sufficiently established
respondent’s unfitness to be a physician. (Moustafa v. Board of Registered Nursing

(2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 1119, 1139; Griffiths, supra, 96 Cal.App.4th at p. 769.)
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4. Complainant bears the burden of proving the alleged grounds for
disciplinary action by clear and convincing e\;idence to a reasonable certainty. (Ettinger
v. Board of Medlical Quality Assurance (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 853, 856.) Clear and
convincing evidence “requires a finding of high probability,” and has been described
as “requiring that the evidence be "so clear as to leave no substantial doubt”; |
“sufficiently strong to command the unhesiteting assent of every reasonable mind.”
[Citation.]” (/n re Angelia P. (1981) 28 Cal.3d 908, 919.) ”Evfdence of a charge is clear
and convincing so long ‘as‘there is a ’high probability’ that the charge is tru‘e.
[Cita’t_ions.] The evidence need not establish the fact beyond a reasonable doubt.”

(Broadman v. Commission on Judicial Performance (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1079, 1090.)

5. Respoﬁdent’s probation terms include a requirement that respondent
“shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, [and] all rules governing the practice of/ _
medicine in California.” (Exhibit 35, p. A867.) Another term states, “If Respondent
violates probation in any respect, the Board, after giving Respondent notice and the
opportunity to Be heard, may revoke probation and carry out the disciplinary order
that was stayed.” (Exhibit 35, p. A869.) Therefore, if complainant proves respondent is
guilty of unprofessional conduct, the Board may revoke respondent’s probation and

carry out the revocation was stayed.
Analysis -

6. The Second Amended Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probation
includes seven causes for discipline. It also includes a petition to revoke probation
based on the same facts underlying the causes for discipline. Complainant proved
each cause for discipline by clear and convincing evidence. Further, respondent’s
misconduct involved the care and treatment of patients and his record keeping

involving that care and treatment. Therefore, there is manifest nexus between
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respondent’s professional misconduct and his fitness or competence to practice
medicine, which qualifies the conduct as unprofessional conduct. (Griffiths, supra, 96

Cal.App.4th at p. 769.)
FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE — GROSS NEGLIGENCE

7. In the first cause for discipline, complainant charges respondent With
gross negligence inithe care and treatment of Patients 1 through 5 under section 2234,
subdivision (b). “Gross negligencé’ tong has been defined in (.Zalifornria and other
jurisdictions as either a ‘want of even scant ca‘re’ or ‘an extreme departure from the
ordinary standard of conduct.’ [Citations.]" (City of Santa Barbara v. Superior Court
(2007) 41 CaI.4tH 747, 754; Franz v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance (1982) 31
Cal.3d 124, 138; Gore v. Board of Medlical Qua//z‘yAssurance (1980) 110 Cal. App 3d
184, 195-198.)

8. Complainant proved respondent committed extreme departures from the

standard of care constituting gross negligence in the following respects:

a. Respondent provided certifications of medical incapacity for
extended perlods to Patlents 1 through 4 without adequate clinical justification. He

also provided a fraudulent certification of medical incapacity for Patlent 5.

b. Respondent failed to recognize and address numerous elevated

blood pressure readings in his care of treatment of Patients 3 and 4.

C. Respondent failed to fully evaluate and treat or refer Patient 3 for

treatment of her back pain after she reported it was worsening.

d. Respondent failed to fully evaluate and treat or refer Patient 4 for

treatment of anxiety.
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- SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE — REPEATED NEGLIGENT ACTS

9. In the second cause for discipline, complainant charges respondent with
repeated negligent acts with respect to Paltients\1 through 5. A physician is negligent if
he or she departs from the standard of care, i.e., fails to use the skill and care that a
reasonably careful physician would have used in similar circumstances. (California Civil

.Jury Instructions (CACI) No. 600.)

10. Complainant provéd respondent departed from the standard of care with
respect to the matters described in the First Cause for Discipline. Further, respondent
departed'from the standard of care with respect to his manner of keeping medical
records of his care and treatment of Patients 1 through 5. Therefore, complaint proved
respondent committed repeated negligent acts constituting cause for discipline under

section 2234, subdivision (c).
THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE — INCOMPETENCE

11.  In third cause for discipline, complainant charges respondent with
incompetence. “Incompetence” is defined as a lack of knowledge or professional
ability. (Kear/ v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance (1986) 189 Cal.App.3d 1040, 1054
(Kear).) The term “incompetency”. generally indicates “an absence-of qualification,
ébility or fitness to perform a prescribed duty or function.” (Pollak v. Kinder (1978) 85
Cal.App.3d 833, 837.) Incompetency is distinguishable from negligence; one “may be
competent or capable of performing a given .duty but negligent in perfofmirig that
duty.” (/d. at p. 838.) Th‘us, “‘a single act of negligence .. . may be attributable to
remissness in discharging known duties, rather than . .. incompetency respecting the
proper performance.” (/d. (citation omitted).) While it is conceivable that a single act

of misconduct may be sufficient to reveal a general lack of ability to perform the
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licensed duties, thereby supporting a finding of incompetency, a single, honest failing,
without more, generally does not constitute the functional equivalenf of
incompetency. (/d. at p. 839.) However, several acts or decisions with a single patient
can show incompetency. (Kear/, supra, 189 Cal.App.3d at p: 1056.) This includes flawed

reasoning that Ieads_to a negligent act. (/bid))

12, Complainant proved respondent displayed a-lack of knowledge
regarding the use of even low-risk medications in the treatment of musculoskeletal
pain for Patient 3. Respondent also displayed a lack of knowledge with regard to the
mental health treatment and diagnosié of Patient 4. This eviden\ce established

respondent displayed incompetence with respect to those patients constituting cause

for discipline under section 2234, subdivision (d)
FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE — DISHONEST OR CORRUPT ACTS

13.  In the Fourth Cause for Discipline, complainant charges respondent with

acts of corruption or dishonesty in his care and treatment of Patient 5, i.e., Johnson.

14.  Complainant proved respondent acted in a corrupt and dishonest
manner with respecf to Patient 5. Respondent provided Johnson with an off-work
letter even though Johnson said there was nothing wrong with her. This corrupt and
dishonest act was substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and duties of a
physician and surgeon. Thereforé, complainant proved this cause for discipline. (§

2234, subd. (e).)
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FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE — KNOWINGLY MAKING OR SIGNING A FALSE

MEDICAL DOCUMENT

15.  In the Fifth Cause for biscipline, complainant charges respondent with
knowingly making or signing a false medical document in connection with his care and

treatment of Johnson.

16,  Complainant proved respondent fraudulently made and signed an off-
work letter certifying that Johnson was unable to work. This was a false medical
document that lacked medical justification. Therefore, complainant p'roved this cause

for discipline. (§ 2261.) .
SIXTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE — CREATION OF A FALSE MEDICAL RECORD

17.  In the Sixth Cause for Discipline, complainant charges respondent with
creating a false medical record with fraudulent intent in connection with Patient 5 (i.e.,

Johnson).

18.  Complainant proved this cause for discipline. (§ 2262.) The SOAP note
that respondent signed for Johnson’s visit is a false medical record created with
fraudulent intent. It describes Johnson’s chief complaint as “stress,” and it ailso includes
a diagnosis of “stress reaction” and a recommendation for “stress management,” all_of

which were fraudulent.

SEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE — INADEQUATE AND INACCURATE MEDICAL

RECORD KEEPING -

19.  In the Seventh Cause for Discipline, complainant charges respondent

with inadéquate and inaccurate medical record keeping for all six patients.

/

36



20.  Complainant proved this cause for discipline. (§ 2266.) Respondent’s
records for Patients 1 through 5 are cryptic, formulaic, and lacking in detail, and Dr.
Carlson's opinion that the records are inadequate was persuasive. Respondent also

produced no records at all for Patient 6.
CAUSE TO REVOKE PROBATION

21.  Complainant proved respondent is guilty of unprofessional conduct in
multiple respects as described above, which constitutes a failure to obey all laws under
the terms of respondent’s probation with the Board. Therefore, the evidence

establishes cause to revoke respondent’s probation.
STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

22. At the hearing, respondent alleged an affirmative defense of bar by the
statute of limitations. Section 2230.5 requires that an accusation be filed three within
three years after the Board \discovers the act or omission that forms the grounds for
discipline against a physician, of within sevendyears after the alleged act or omission

occurred, whichever occurs first.

23.  RTA submitted its complaint to the Board on April 17, 2017. The initial
Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probation was signed by complainant on April 14,
2017, and the “[a]n accusation or petition to revoke probation shall be deemed ‘filed
on the date it is signed by the executive director....... " (Cal. Code Regs.,, tit. 16, §
1356.5.) Therefore, the Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probation was timely.
Further, the Department’s undercover operétion took place in 2020; and the Board
received the complaint from the California Department of Insurance in May 2018. The
charges regardi-ng those matters appear in the First Amended Accusation and Petition

to Revoke Probation, which was filed in February 2021, less than three years after the
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Department of Insurance complaint and the undercover operation. Therefore, the

charges based on those facts are also not barred by the statute of limitations.
Disciplinary Action

24.  With causes for disciplinary action established, the Board has discretion
to determine the suitable discipline, “subject to the Legislative mandate that the
Board’s highest priority be protection of the public; and, secondarily, discipline should
‘aid in the rehabilitation of the: Iice/nsee." (§ 2229, subds. (a) & (b).)" (Pirouzian v.
Superior Court(2016) 1 Cal.App.S;ch 438, 448.) In exercising its discretion, the Boérd
considers the Manual of Model Disciplinary|0rdérs and Diséiplinary Guidelines (12th
Edition 2016) (Guiaelines) that it has adopted. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 16, '§ 1361, subd. -
*(a).) "Deviation from these orders and guidelines, including the standard terms of
.probation, is appropriate where the Board in its sole discretion determines by A

adoption of a proposed decision or stipulation that the facts of the particular case
warrant such a deviation — for example: the presence of‘mitigating factors; the age of
;che case; evidentiary problems.” (/b/d.) The recommended disciplinary actions for the
causes for discipline at issue range from a minimum of stayed revocation with five |
years' probation to a maximum of revocétion. The recommended minimum
disciplinary action for a violation of probation is a 30-day suspension, and the

recommended maximum disciplinary action is revocation.

25.  The maximum disciplinary action of revocation is warranted in this case.
Respondent has been on Board probation since 2014 due to a federal criminal
convictioﬁ involving dishonesty iﬁ his pra')ctice.‘Six years later in 2020, he acted
dishonestly again in his practice, giving a fraudulent off-Work letter to an undercover
Department investigator. Respohdent’s recent act of dishonesty indicates his

rehabilitation has not succeeded.
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26.  Further, respondent unprofessional conduct does not stop there. He also
committed multiple acts of negligence and gross negligence with respect to four
actual patients, kept inadequate records for them, displayed incompetence with
respect to the medical conditions of two of the patients, and produced no records at
alt for another patient. Respondent'’s probation has already been extended once for
-two years due to other ‘probation violations. The unprofessional conduct in this case is

~more serious than those violations and evidences a physician who is unlikely to be

rehabilitated by a further extension of probation.

27.  License revocation is a "drastic penalty.” (Cooper v. State Board of
Medlical Examiners (1950) 35 Cal.'2d 242, 252.) But with such serious misconduct and
repeat dishonesty while respondent is on probation for dishonest acts, allowing
respondent to continue practicfng would not be protective of the public or of public
confidence in the medical prqfessioﬁ. Therefore, the proper disciplinary action is
revocation of respondent’s license, not another extension of probation as respondent

requests. \
Civil Penalty

28.  In addition to any other disciplinary action, the Board may impose a civil
penalty of $500 for creating a false medical record with fraudulent intent in a violation
of section 2262. Complainant r'equestsimposition of a civil penalty, and it is warranted
on these facts. Therefore, respondent will be ordered to pay a $500 civil penalty to the

Board.
//

//
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o ORDER

Respondent Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.'s pfobation is revoked.

Physician's and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A 35109 issued to respondent Tyron
Cleon Reece, M.D.,, is revoked.

Respondent is ordered to pay a civil penalty of $500 to the Board within 30 days
of the effective date of this order.

DATE; 10/18/2021 71 LA

Thomas Heller {(Oct 18, 2021 15:05 PDT}

THOMAS HELLER

Administrative Law Judge

Office of Administrative Hearings

!
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RON BONTA
Attorney General of California
JUDITH T. ALVARADO
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
VLADIMIR SHALKEVICH
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 173955
California Department of Justice
300 South Spring Street, Suite 1702
Los Angeles, California 90013
Telephone: (213) 269-6538
Facsimile: (916) 731-2117
E-mail: Vladimir.Shalkevich@doj.ca.gov
Attorneys for Complainant

BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Second Amended Accusatiof Case No. 800-2017-031854
and Petition To Revoke Probation Against ' v
SECOND AMENDED ACCUSATION
TYRON CLEON REECE, M.D. AND PETITION TO REVOKE

9269 Utica Avenue, Suite 145 PROBATION

Rancho Cucamonga, California 91730

Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate
No. A 31509,

Respondent.

PARTIES

I.  William Prasifka (Complainant) brings this Accusation and Petition to Revoke
Probation solely in his official capacity as the Executive Director of the Medical Board of
California (Board).

2. On September 1, 1977, the Board issued Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate
Number A 31509 to Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. (Respondent). That license will expire on
October 31, 2021, unless renewed.

1
1"
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3. Ina disciblinary action entitled In the Matter of the Accusation Against Tyron Cleon
Reece, M.D., Case No. 11-2010-211926, the Board issued a Decision, effective December 24,
2014, in which Respondent's Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate was revoked. However, the
revocation was stayed, and Respondent's license was placed on probation for seven (7) years with
certain terms and conditions. A copy of that Decision is attached as Exhibit A and is
incorporated by reference.

4.  Ina separate disciplinary action entitled In the Matter of the Petition to Revoke
Probation Against Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D., Case No. 800-2016-023827, the Board issued a
Decision, effective November 3, 2017, in which Respondent's probation was extended by two
years with terms and conditions. A copy of that Decision is attached as Exhibit B and is
incorporated by reference. As a result of this Decision, Respondent is scheduled to be on
probation until December 24, 2023. .

JURISDICTION

5. This Second Amended Accusation and Petition to Revoke Probatibn is brought before
the Board under the authority of the following laws. All section references are to the Business
and Professions Code (Code) unless otherwise indicated.

6.  Section 2227 of the Code states:

(a) A licensee whose matter has been heard by an administrative law judge of
the Medical Quality Hearing Panel as designated in Section 11371 of the Government
Code, or whose default has been entered, and who is found guilty, or who has entered
into a stipulation for disciplinary action with the board, may, in accordance with the
provisions of this chapter: ’

(1) Have his or her license revoked upon order of the board.

(2) Have his or her right to practice suspended for a period not to exceed one
year upon order of the board.

(3) Be placed on probation and be required to pay the costs of probation
monitoring upon order of the board.

(4) Be publicly reprimanded by the board. The public reprimand may include a
requirement that the licensee complete relevant educational courses approved by the
board.

(5) Have any other action taken in relation to discipline as part of an order of
probation, as the board or an administrative law judge may deem proper.

2
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(b) Any matter heard pursuant to subdivision (a), except for warning letters,
medical review or advisory conferences, professional competency examinations,
continuing education activities, and cost reimbursement associated therewith that are
agreed to with the board and successfully completed by the licensee, or other matters
made confidential or privileged by existing law, is deemed public, and shall be made
available to the public by the board pursuant to Section 803.1.

7. Section 2234 of the Code, states, in pertinent part:

The board shall take action against any licensee who is charged with
unprofessional conduct. In addition to other provisions of'this article, unprofessional
conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following:

(a) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, assisting in or
abetting the violation of or conspiring to violate any provision of this chapter.

(b) Gross negligence.

(c) Repeated negligent acts. To be repeated, there must be two or more
negligent acts or omissions. An initial negligent act or omission followed by a
separate and distinct departure from the applicable standard of care shall constitute -

. repeated negligent acts.

(1) An initial negligent diagnosis followed by an act or omission medically
appropriate for that negligent diagnosis of the patient shall constitute a single
negligent act.

(2) When the standard of care requires a change in the diagnosis, act, or
omission that constitutes the negligent act described in paragraph (1), including, but
not limited to, a reevaluation of the diagnosis or a change in treatment, and the
licensee’s conduct departs from the applicable standard of care, each departure
constitutes a separate and distinct breach of the standard of care.

(d) Incompetence.

(e) The commission of any act involving dishonesty or corruption which is
substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician and
surgeon....

8. Section 2261 of the Code states:

Knowingly making or signing any certificate or other document directly or indirectly
related to the practice of medicine or podiatry which falsely represents the existence or
nonexistence of a state of facts, constitutes unprofessional conduct.

9, Section 2262 of the Code states:

Altering or modifying the medical record of any person, with fraudulent intent, or
creating any false medical record, with fraudulent intent, constitutes unprofessional
conduct.

In addition to any other disciplinary action, the Division of Medical Quality or the
California Board of Podiatric Medicine may impose a civil penalty of five hundred dollars
($500) for a violation of this section.
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10. Section 2266 of the Code states:

The failure of a physician and surgeon to maintain adequate and accurate records
relating to the provision of services to their patients constitutes unprofessional conduct.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

I1.  On April 17,2017, the Board received a complaint from the Riverside Transit
Agency (RTA), the primary transit agency for western Riverside County, California. RTA
provides Kaiser medical insurance to their employees. However, four of their employees went to
Respondent, a non-Kaiser doctor, and were placed off work for three months each.

12.  Respondent practices family medicine under the name of Prism Medical Clinic, at
9269 Utica Avenue, Rancho Cucamonga, California 91730.

Patient 1'

13.  Patient | was a 34-year-old female when first seen by Respondent on November 25,
2016. She presented with complaints of stress, back pain, and insomnia. Respondent
documented in the Subjective Section of his note for that date, "stress, back pain," without further
comment. Under Objective, the patient was described as "hyper-vigilant apprehensive" and
“paraspinal hypotonicity, decreased range of motion, flexion 20%, extension 15%, rotation <5%,
patellar reflex 4+ /4 clonﬁs." The Definitive Diagnosis section noted, stress reaction, lumbar
stress, psychosomatic vasoconstriction. The Recommendations were: no lift, bend, pull, push,
reach, stoop, kneel, squat, twist, stretch, sit/stand > 2 minutes, climb or crawl. Stress
Management - crisis intervention, with a disability period of 90 days.

14. On November 23, 2016, Respondent wrote a letter expl;aining that Patient 1 could not’
work for three months, from November 22, 2016, to February 22, 2017.

15. On December 21, 2016, Respondent saw Patient 1 and documented "stress" and "low
back pain" without further clarification. The Patient was noted as "hypér-vigilant suspicious"
with otherwise the same physical exam as in the prior visit. The diagnoses were stress reaction

and [umbar strain with combat-like fatigue. The recommendations were activity modification as

! The patients are designated by number for privacy reasons.
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above with stress management - limbic exploration. On the signature, Respondent identified
himself as a Vietnam veteran and also wrote "non-compliant - p.t.!1"

16.  On January 13, 2017, Respondent saw Patient 1 and noted, "low back spasms
anxiety" without additional history. The Objective section noted "agitated spatial” with similar
physical exam comments. The Assessments noted were stress.reaction and lumbar strain. The
activity modifications were the same as previously recommended with stress management -
reality focus.

17. On February 24, 2017, Respondent last saw Patient 1. The notes were similar to the
documentation on previous visits. There was no comment on whether or not Patient 1 would be
returning to work.

18. In his treatment of Patient 1, Respondent provided to her employer a certificate of
medical incapacity without adequate clinical justification. Nothing in this patient's presentation
justified a medical certificate of complete incapacitaﬁon for three months. Respondent did not
consider modified duty or a shorter period of incapacity, such as the interval between clinical
evaluations.

19. In his treatment of Patient 1, Respondent failed to create a corhplete, adequate, and
timely medical record for this patient. Respondent’s medical records for Patient 1 contained
minimal documentation and physicians providing subsequent care would not be able to form any
reasonable narrative of this patient’s course. Medication lists for Patient 1 were no't documented
and Respondent’s allusions to psychological treatments are non-standard and unclear.

Patient 2

20. Patient 2 was a 34-year-old male who was first seen by Respondent on March 22,
2017, for sciatic nerve pain and 'back pain as chief complaints. The history noted shooting pain
down right leg, especially after sitting long time when driving. The physical exam noted a blood
pressure of 131/96 and paralumbar tenderness as well as various measuremeﬁts of back range of
motion (25% flexion, 15% extension, 5% rotation), straight leg raise (SLR) + L 75 degrees and R
40 degrees, and patellar reflexes of 3+/4, 0 Babinski and pinprick 2+/4. The diagnosis

documented in Respondent's notes was acute lumbar strain and radiculopathy RLE [right lower
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extremity]. The plan was physical therapy and disability certification for 60 days to include no
lift, bend, pull, push, reach, stoop, kneel, squat, stretch, twist, sit/stand > 2 minutes or climb.

21. On March 22, 2017, Respondent wrote a letter stating that Patient 2 was comple&:ly
unable to work until May 22, 2017.

22. On April 13,2017, Respondent documented sciatic nerve pain low back pain 8/10.
No other history was documented. The physical exam documented straight leg raising test 65
degrees on the left and 45 degrees on the right with pinprick 2+/6. Normal gait was also
documented. Physical therapy was recommended, as was hot/cold to the right lower extremity.
The patient was to not lift, pull, push, stoop, kneel, squat, twist or stretch.

23. On April 25,2017, and May 18, 2017, Respondent saw Patient 2 and documented no
changes in condition. | »

24. OnMay 18, 2017, Respondent wrote a disability extension letter for Patient 2,
extending the period of disability by three months, to August 22, 2017.

25.  OnJuly 3, 2017, Respondent saw Patient 2 and documented essentially the same
progress note as the prior visits. Respondent recommended specific exercises this time to include
pigeon pose and stand hamstring and sit spinal stretch.

26. On August 16, 2017, Respondent documented shooting pain right leg, low back i)ain,
but no additional history. Respondent documented 25% flexion, 20% extension, 10% rotation,
SLR+ L 80 degrees, R 55 degrees, and a normal gait. Respondent diagnosed sciatica
(radiculopathy) and lumbar strain. He returned Patient 2 to work with recommendations for leg
positioning while driving a bus.

27. Respondent next saw Patient 2 on December 18, 2017, at which time he noted a chief
complaint of sciatic nerve without additional documented history. The physical exam included a
blood pressure of 133/90 and fasciculation? RLE [right lower extremity] and pin prick 1+/6.
Respondent recommended referral to a neurologist for nerve conduction studies and stated ihat

Patient 2 should have intermittent time off (one episode/month for 1-3 days/episode).

2 A fasciculation, or muscle twitch, is a small, local, involuntary muscle contraction and
relaxation which may be visible under the skin.
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28. On May 17, 2018, Respondent saw Patient 2. Respondent documented "R side R
shoulder pain, R foot num (sic)." There is no additional history. The physical exam noted: R
glenoid effusion, ROM 80% abduct and internal rotation, hypertonicity, and pin prick 2+/6 RLE."
Patient 2 was diagnosed with shoulder strain, lumbar strain, and sciatica radiculopathy. Physical
therapy was recommended, and the patient was not to lift, squat, or stoop.

29.  From March 22, 2017, to August 16, 2017, for Patient 2, Respondent documented 21
visits for therapy. These notes are on pre-printed forms and are essentially identicai, stating: back
lower severe muscle spasms, with therapy type marked: hot, massage, ROM Exercises, therapy
site: back lower.

30. In his treatment of Patient 2, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under
section 2234, subdivision (b) of the Code for gross negligence by failing to maintain complete,
accurate, and timely medical records for Patient 2. The medical record for this patient is difficult
to read and is only partially legible. The Subjective sections fail to record a detailed history of
present illness or update the patient's pain, function, or response to therapy. Respondent
documented physical exam findings that are non-standard and unclear. For example, "2+/6 pin
prick" does not have any méaning by itself. Nor did Respondent clarify where the patient had
decreased sensation.

31. In his treatment of Patient 2, Respondent provided a certificate of medical incapacity
without adequate clinical justification. |

32. Inhis treatment of Patient 2, Respondent failed to recognize and address the elevated
blood pressure readings for this patient. Patient 2 presented with elevated blood pressure readings
but was not assessed for any symptoms that may be related to hypertension. These elevated blood
pressure readings were not acknowledged by Respondent in his progress notes, were not included
in the assessments, nor were there any appropriate treatments or follow-up recommendations.
When interviewed, Respondent stated that he "assumed" other physicians were managing the
patient's blood pressure, and this is why he did not address it.

i

"
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Patient 3

33. Patient 3, a 34-year-old female, was first seen by Respondent on April 14, 2017. She
filled out patient intake forms indicating the main reason for her visit on that day was high levels
of stress, lower back pain. She noted a personal medical history of hypertension and a farﬁily
history of high blood pressure, asthma, diabetes, and stroke. She marked areas on the form, under
review of systems where she had health problems. She listed head, neck, bones/joints, skin
(acne), mood, and fatigue. She also wrote, "I often have headaches, feel pressure, my lower back
hurts, I have acne. I'm always tired from stressing sometimes irritable;'. |

34. The progress note prepared by Respondent for Patient 3, dated April 14, 2017,
contains the following information in the Subjective section: stress, lower back pain 7/10, high
blood pressure. There is no additional history. The Objective section states: hyper-vigilant,
apprehensive, spatial and paraspinal hypertonicity, decreased ROM [range of motion], flexion 15-
20%, Ext [extension] 10%, rotation <5% patellar reflex 4/4 -clonus. Underlined on the page are
pre-printed sections that include a neurological alert/oriented x 3, cognition-sound, adaptive,
integrated. Behavior appropriate. The recorded vital signs are blood pressure 160/127, pulse rate
72, respiratory rate 21, temperature 98.1, height 5 feet, four inches, weight 171. The Assessment
section has a pre-printed list circling differential structurai psychological, anatomical dorsum, and
definitive lumbar strain, stress reaction. Physical therapy is recommended, and activity
restrictions are no lift, bend, pull, push, reach, stoop, kneel, squat, twist, stretch, sit/stand > 2
minutes, climb or crawl. Also recommended is stress management. There is no assessment or
plan related to the blood pressure reading. |

35. On April 14,2017, Respondent filled out and gave Patient 3 a "Health Care Provider's
Certification for Leave, Employee Iliness," which stated that she was “completely unable to work
from 4/14/17 to 7/14/17.7 |

36. OnMay 17,2017, Respondent again saw Patient 3. The progress note for that day is
identical to the April 14, 2017 progress note. The only differences are the date and a blood

pressure reading of 150/110. The same day, Respondent wrote a letter stating that Patient 3
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"remains under our care for conditions precluding all gainful activities and employment. These
conditions warrant extension effective to July 14, 2017.”

37. OnJune 16, 2017, Respondent again saw Patient 3. The progress note in the
Subjective section states: stress, low back pain 9/10. The Objective section is the same as prior
notes except for a blood pressure of 146/113. The assessments are the same, and the Plan section
has the activity modifications the same with stress management - crisis intervention. The records
contain an identical letter about medical disability dated June 17, 2017.

38.  In his treatment of Patient 3, Respondent failed to recognize and address the
numerous elevated blood pressure readings. This patient came into Respondent’s office
numerous times with sharply elevated blood pressure readings. Despite that, the patient was not
assessed for any symptoms related to hypertension. Moreover, these elevated blood pressure
readings were not acknowledged by Respondent in his progress notes, nor were they included in
the assessments, nor were any appropriate treatments, nor were follow-up recommendations
made. When this patient’s diastolic blood pressure was in the ﬁypertensive urgency range, above
120, Respondent did not initiate care related to this patient’s blood pressure.

39. Inrhis treatment of Patient 3, Respondent failed to fully evaluate and properly treat a
patient with worsening low back pain. Respondent did not document a comprehensive back pain
history. For example, it is unclear if this patient had acute or chronic low back pain, if there were
any triggers, or what the patient had done to treat it. Respondent failed to document the presence
or absence of red flag syrﬁptoms. Respondent based treatment response on his own estimates of
back movements, rather than an assessment of functional improvement of the patient. He did not
discuss or offer any medications or application of cold or heat therapy to this patient. Almost all
low-risk back pain improves or resolves, at most in a matter of a few weeks. When this did not
occur, and in fact, when the patient's reported back pain level worsened from 7/10 initially to 9/10
in June, Respondent did not do any further workup, nor did he refer the patient to specialists.
Additional off work orders without further evaluation were below standard of care. Respondent

stated when interviewed that he did not believe that medications were useful in the care of
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patients with musculoskeletal back pain. Respondent did not refer the patient to another
physician who could have prescribed pharmaceuticals as part of the patient's treatment plan.

40. In his treatment of Patient 3, Respondent provided a certificate of medical incapacity
without adequate clinical justification. Within this patient's limited, documented history, there is
nothing suggesting the patient had high-risk back pain, such as fracture, infection, or cancer. The
physical examination was consistent with musculoskeletal back and neck pain. There was also not
enough information documented to justify taking the patient off work for mental health
symptoms. Respondent did not order any ifnaging or any specialty consultations, further
suggesting that he was not concerned about a serious underlying diagnosis that would justify a
three-month-long period of total incapacity. Respondent did not consider taking the patient off
work for a shorter period of time, such as until his next evaluation of the patient. He also stated,
when interviewed, that he did not consider modified duty as an option. Severe pain, not
improving within the expected period of time, should have an appropriate treatment plan of
additional workup and care to rule out serious causes. Respondent did not refer this patient when
the symptoms were refractory. The choice of 90 days off work was excessive for the clinical
presentation.

41. In his treatment of Patient 3, Respondent failed to maintain complete, accurate, and
timely medical records for this patieht. Respondent’s medical records reflect a pattern of minimal
documentation related to the progress of the patient’s conditions. Accordingly, physicians
préviding subsequent care would not be able to form any reasonable narrative of the patient’s
course based on those records.

42. In his treatment of Patient 3, Respondent demonstrated a lack of knowledge regarding
the use of even low-risk medications in the treatment of musculoskeletal pain.

Patient 4

43. Patient 4 was a 33-year-old male when first seen by Respondent on August 25, 2016,
complaining of back pain and stress. Patient 4 admitted to using tobacco, alcohol, and caffeine in
unstated quantities on the intake form, and provided no other history.

"
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44.  Respondent documented stressed-excessive, low back pain 10/10, complications in all
environments, social, domestic, work, not getting adequate rést at night. The Objective Section
includes a blood pressure of 142/98 with otherwise normal vital signs. Patient 4 was documented
as being hyper-vigilant, agitated, pressured speech, spatial (combat-like fatigue). He had
paraspinal hypertonicity with decreased [range of motion], flexion 20%, extension 10% and
rotation <5%, patellar relflex 4+/4, clonus (psychosomatic vasoconstriction compromised tissue
perfusion). The Assessment Section notes structural, psychological, and dorsum circléd. Under
Definitive:, "stress reaction lumbar strain (acute)" is noted. The Plan documented was: stress
management--crisis intervention. No lift, bend, pull, push, reach, stoop, kneel, squat, stretch,
sit/stand > 2 minutes, climb.

45.  On August 25, 2016, Respondent provided a letter stating that Patient 4's condition
warrants "disability extension effective to November 25, 2016.”

46. On September 22, 2016, Respondent saw Patient 4 and documented: anxiety -- highly
all day & night and back pain 9/10. There was no other history recorded. Blood pressure was
139/86, and the patient was described as hyper-vigilant, spatial, agitated, angry. The rest of the
documentation of the Physical Exam, Assessment, and Plan sections were identical to the note on
August 25, 2016.

47. On October 14, 2016, Respondent saw Paﬁent 4 again. His notes state that the patient
was "severely frustrated [about] all the things around back spasms, trying to get out of bed, pain
9/10." Blood pressure was documented as 148/96, and the patient was described as
“apprehensive, spatial” with similar comments as above. The documented assessment was
subacute lumbar strain, intractable stress reaction, no skeletal pathology; and compromised tissue
perfusion secondary psychosomatic reaction. The plan was for physical therapy and stress
management, as well as no public vehicle operations, anxiolytics, or muscle relaxers. After
signing his name, Respondent included that he was a Vietnam vet PTSD survivor (coaching
combat-like-fatigue).

48. On November 23, 2016, Respondent wrote a disability extension letter for Patient 4,

extending the disability period by three months, to February 25, 2017.
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49.  On December 16, 2016, Respondent documented that Patient 4 stated that he "didn't
want to be around anyone, can't sleep, wake-up in frantic state, back spasms more when
extremely upset." He had a blood pressure of 147/93. He was noted as extreme hyper-vigilant,
suspicious, flight fight phenomenon autonomic reaction, and compromised tissue perfusion
(combat-like fatigue). Respondent diagnosed Patient 4 with subacute PTSD, lumbar strain and
(combat fatigue - Zenith). The plan was activity restrictions as noted previously, with "no public
vehicle operation or productive exposure of any form (stress management - reality focus).
Refrain from any form of job contact. Walk on beach."

50.  On January 10, 2017, Respondent again saw Patiént 4, who, on this occasion, stated
that he was "tired/not feeling good inside, low back pain 8/10." The Respondent documented a
blood pressure of 140/87. Respondent wrote identical notes in the Objective section, including
that the flight/fight phenomenon (persist). The definitive diagnosis was stress reaction, lumbar
strain, and no skeletal pathophysiology. Physical therapy was recommended, activity
modifications of no lift, bend, push, pull, reach, kneel, stoop, squat, twist, stretch, sit/stand >2
minutes climb or crawl as he had documented previously and (Vietnam vet), stress management,
focus-minimizing (offensive nature).

51.  On February 24, 2017, Respondent saw Patient 4 again. On this visit, Respondent
documented, stress, 9/10; low back pain 7/10 (not as much spasm); had a blood pressure of
139/93; and similar physical ‘exam comments as in prior entries. The assessments were stress
.reaction, lumbar strain, and psychosomatic etiology for compromised tissue perfusion. Activity
modifications continued as noted in the January 10, 2017 visit, with stress management
processing and cognition-preparation return to work (handling PTSD).

52.  On February 25, 2017, Respondent wrote a disability extension letter for Patient 4,
extending the period of disability by three months, to May 25, 2017.

53.  On March 23, 2017, Respondent documented: not as much stress (4-5 days out of the
week), low back pain 7/10, very little spasms now when get out of bed. Blood pressure was
143/89, and the patient was described as "combative suspicious . . . little reactive today

flight/fight more focus for control." Assessments were stress reaction, lumbar strain and combat-
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like fatigue. Physical therapy was recommended along with the same activity modifications and
"stress management (education of limbic system).”

54.  On April 28, 2017, Respondent documented, "mind doesn't feel as heavy as it once
did can focus a little bit more still feel little nervous when around lots of people low back pain
6-7/10, able to exercise more." The physical exam noted as blood pressure of 141/83, paraspinal
hypertonicity, decreased range of motion, flexion 30-40%, extension 20%, rotation 15% pateilar
reflex 2-3+/4 minimal clonus, flight fright Ies§ combat-like fatigue (more control of feelings).
Respondent recommended physical therapy, activity modifications as.above, and “stress
management identification of exogenous stress offensive."

55. On May 24, 2017, Respondent saw Patient 4. Respondent noted stress-mild back pain
6/10, without any other history. The notes in the Objective section included the comment “jovial
more focus." Blood pressure was 117/74, and there was 40-50% flexion, 40% extension, rotation
10%, and 1+/4 patellar reflex 0 clonus. Flight-fight minimal, able to tolerate shopping at mall
more. Assessments were stress reaction and lumbar strain, and the plan was activity modification
and "minimizing flight/fight phenomenon."

56. OnMay 24, 2017, Respondent wrote a disability extension letter for Patient 4,
extending the period of disability by three months, to August 25, 2017.

57. In his treatment of Patient 4, Respondent failed to recognize and address numerous
elevated blood pressure readings. The patiént was not assessed for any symptoms that may be -
related to hypertension. These elevated blood pressure readings were not acknowledged by
Respondent in his progress notes, were not included in the assessments, nor were any appropriate
treatments or follow-up recommendations rendered. When interviewed, Respondent stated that
he assumed that other physicians were treating Patient 4’s elevated blood pressure.

58. Reépondent provided a certificate of medical incapacity to Patient 4 without adequate
clinical justification. Within this patient's limited documentary history, there is nothing that
suggests that the patient had high-risk back pain, due to a fracture, infection, or cancer. The
physical examination was consistent with musculoskeletal back and neck pain. There were

symptoms concerning for more severe psychiatric diagnoses, such as hypervigilance, anger,
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PTSD symptoms, and anxiety, which debilitated this patient. However, Respondent failed to
refer Patient 4 fof a specialty consultation when the symptoms persisted, and even when the
patient had improved, Respondent continued to extend the patient's time off work three months at
atime. Furthermore, Respondent explicitly stated his pétient had no significant physical
pathophysiology and yet still did not recommend mental health consultation. Respondent did not
order any imaging or any specialty consultations, further suggesting he was not concerned about a
serious underlying diagnosis that would justify multiple, consecutive three-month-long periods of
total incapacity.

59. Respondent failed to fully evaluate and treat Patient 4’s anxiety. Respondent
described Patient 4 as frantic, hypervigilant, pressured speech, spatial, not feeling good inside,
and with anxiety day and.night. These are potentially serious mental health symptoms that
deserve further attention. There was no comprehensive psychiatric evaluation either done by or
recommended by Respondent. There was no assessment of depression with validated clinical
instruments such as PHQ-2 or PHQ-9 (these are patient health questionnaires consisting
respectively of two and nine questions to aid in depression diagnosis). The risk of suicide was
never documented in the progress notes for this patient. There was no documented psychiatric
history or psychotropic medication history.' Respondent made the diagnosis of an intractable
stress reaction but never justified this diagnosis by documenting any cause or exacerbating factor
for Patient 4’s stress. Respondent diagnosed this patient with post-traumatic stress disorder and
"combat-like fatigue" but never documented whether or not this'patient was a combat veteran or
had been exposed to traumatic stress. Respondent's treatment was to have no exposure to a
productive work environment and to walk on the beach, and this demonstrates a level of care
below standards for the medical community. In his interview with the Board’s investigators,
Respondent expressed significant doubts that effective, evidence-based medications are useful in
the treatment of mood disorders such as PTSD, and he did not offer medications for this patient
who may have benefited from them.

60. In his treatment of Patient 4, Respondent failed to maintain complete, accurate, and

timely medical records for this patient. Respondent's medical records reflect a pattern of minimal
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documentation related to the progress of the patient's conditions. As a result, physicians
providing subsequent care would not be able to form any reasonable narrative of the patient’s
course based on the records. In addition, Respondent’s allusions to psychological treatments and
documentation of his medical conclusions are unclear.

61. In his treatment of Patient 4, Respondent demonstrated a lack of knowledge in
general about mental health diagnosis and treatment.

Patient §

62. OnJanuary 21, 2020, an undercover law enforcement operation was conducted at
Respondent’s medical office. A Health Quality Investigations Unit Investigator, using the
fictitious name “S.C.," paid $125 and underwent a consultation with Respondent to receive an
off-work order. Her interactions with Respondent were audio and video recorded.

63. Patient 5 entered Respondent's clinic waiting room and compkleted intake forms.
When she was called to the back office, she had her vital signs taken by a medical assistant.
When the medical assistant asked Patient 5 her height and weight, she recorded them in the chaft
without measurement. Thé medical assistant then asked Patient 5 why she was in the office.
Patient 5 indicated that she just was not feeling well and needed an off-work note. The medical
assistant stated that there needed to be something wrong in the chart to justify an off-work note,
so she wrote "stress" and then crossed it out when Patient S indicated she Was not stressed.
Patient 5 was then instructed to wait in an exam room. Soon after, Respondent entered the room
and escorted Patient 5 to another office nearby. Patient 5 explained to Respondent that there was
nothing wrong, but she needed a note so she could go to her sister's wedding in Louisiana.
Respondent stated, "so you need a medical excuse?" He then proceeded to type out a letter of
medical impairment for the requested dates of Patient 5's wedding trip. There was no physical
exam done.

64. The note Respondent provided to Patient 5 stated, "Please be advised that the above
patient was evaluated in this office as of January 28, 2020, for urgent medical condition requiring

medical management. The patient will have intensive management effective through February 4,
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2020, precluding all gainful activate/employment for this period.” Respondent typed and signed
this note.

65. Patient 5 was unahbiguous that there was nothing physically or psychologically
wrong with her. She explicitly reported she had no symptoms. She came into the office
articulating a singular purpose to obtain a fraudulent certificate of medical impairment so she
could gét off work to visit family in Louisiana. Respondent obliged her without hesitation,
falsely stating that she was completely unable to work over the coming days.

66. The medical record for this patient contains no accurate documentation of the real
reason for the patient's visit and, in fact, the issue of the patient experiencing stress was fabricated
by the medical assistant and acknowledged as such later by Respondent in an investigative
interview.

67. In his treatment of Patient 5, Respondent issued a fraudulent certificate of medical
incapacity based upon a request from a completely healthy patient.

68. In his treatment of Patient 5, Respondent, with fraudulent intent, fabricated a medical
record to justify issuing a fraudulent certification of medical incapacity based upon a request from
a completely healthy patient.

69. In his treatment of Patient 5, Respondent failed to keep accurate and adequate
medical records. |

Patient 6

70. Patient 6 was a 65-year-old female when first seen by Respondent on approximately
May 29, 2017 or May 30, 2017, and second time on June 29, 2017. She complained of injuries
resulting from a slip and fall on or about May 26, 2017.

71.  OnJuly 3, 2017, Respondent signed a disability form for Colonial Life and Accident
Insurance Company, stating that Respondent treated Patient 6 for a slip and fall that occurred on
May 26, 2017. Respondent stated the date of treatment was May 30, 2017, and that Patient 6 was
suffering from lower hip pain and leg burning.

1"
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72. On December 22, 2017, Respondent provided a letter to Colonial’s claim department
correcting the date of treatment to May 29, 2017.

73. On September 17, 2020, Respondent was interviewed by the California Department
of Consumer Affairs Division of Investigation, Health Quality Investigation Unit in the San
Bernardino office. Present at the interview was the Investigator and the District Medical
Consultant. At the interview, Respondent admitted that he had treated Patient 6 and had
misplaced her records, as follows:

Investigator: Q: “do you have medical records for “Patient 6" right now?”

Respondent: A: “Not my personal records that I had when I first — first saw her, no. 1
don't.”

Investigator Q: “Okay. Uh — how come?”

Respondent A: “As I said, they — uh — they 've been misplaced.”

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Gross Negligence)

74. Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. is subject to disciplinary action under section
2234, subdivision (b) of the Code in that he committed gross negligence in the care and treatment
of five patients.

75. The allegations of paragraphs 11 through 73 are incorporated herein by reference.

Patient 1

76. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 1, without
adequate clinical justification, was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

Patient 2

77. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 2, without
adequate clinical j-ustiﬁcation, was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

78. Respondent’s manner of keeping medical records of his care and treatment of Patient
2 was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

7

I
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Patient 3

79. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 3, without
adequate clinical justification, was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

80. Respondent’s failure to recognize and address numerous elevated blood pressure
readings in his care and treatment of Patient 3, including his failure to assess Patient 3 for any
symptoms related to hypertension and Respondent’s failure to acknowledge elevated blood
pressure in Patient 3’s medical record, and his failure to treat or to refer Patient 3 for treatment of
hypertension was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

81. Respondent’s failure to fully evaluate and treat or refer Patient 3 for treatment of his
worsening back pain was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

Patient 4. |

82. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 4, without
adequate clinical justification, was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

83. Respondent’s failure to recognize and address numerous elevated blood pressure
readings in his care and treatment of Patient 4, including his failure to assess Patient 4 for any
symptoms related to hypertension and Respondent’s failure to acknowledge elevated blood
pressure in Patient 3’s medical record, and his failure to treat to or refer Patient 4 for treatment of
hypertension was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

84. Respondent’s failure to fully evaluate and treat or to refer Patient 4 for treatment of
anxiety was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

Patient 5

85. Respondent’s providing a fraudulent certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 5,
was a distinct extreme departure from the standard of care.

"

i

"
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SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Repeated Negligent Acts)
86. Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. is subject to disciplinary action under section
2234, subdivision (c) of the Code in that he committed repeated negligent acts in the care and

treatment of five patients.

t

87. The allegations of paragraphs 11 through 73 are incorporated herein by reference.

Patient 1 ‘

88. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 1, without
adequate clinical justification, was a departure from the standard of care.

89. Respondent’s manner of keeping medical records of his care and treatment of Patient
1 Wés a departure from the standard of care.

Patient 2

90. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 2, without
adequate clinical justification, was a departure from the standard of care.

91. Respondent’s manner of keeping medical records of his care and treatment of Patient
2 was a departure from the standard of care.

92. Respondent’s failure to recognize and address the elevated blood pressure readings
during his care and treatment of Patient 2 was a departure from the standard of care.

Patient 3

93. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 3, without
adequate clinical justification, was a departure from the standard of care.

94. Respondent’s failure to recognize and address numerous elevated blood pressure
readings in his care and treatment of Patient 3, including his failure to assess Patient 3 for any
symptoms related to hypertension and Respondent’s failure to acknowledge elevated blood
pressure in Patient 3’s medical record, and his failure to treat or to refer Patient 3 for treatment of
hypertension was a departure from the standard of care.

95. Respondent’s failure to fully evaluate and treat or refer Patient 3 for treatment of his

worsening back pain was a departure from the standard of care.
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96. Respondent’s manner of keeping medical records of his care and treatment of Patient

3 was a departure from the standard of care.
Patient 4

97. Respondent’s providing a certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 4, without
adequate clinical justification, was a departure from the standard of care.

98. Respondent’s failure to recognize and address numerous elevated blood pressure
readings in his care and treatment of Patient 4, including his failure to assess Patient 4 for any
symptoms related to hypertension and Respondent’s failure to acknowledge elevated blood
pressure in Patient 3’s medical record, and his failure to treat to or refer Patient 4 for treatment of
hypertension was a departure from the standard of care.

99. Respondent’s failure to fully evaluate and treat or to refer Patient 4 for treatment of
anxiety was a departure from the standard of care.

100. Respondent’s manner of keeping medical records of his care and treatment of Patient
4 was a departure from the standard of care.

Patient 5§
- 101. Respondent’s providing a fraudulent certificate of medical incapacity for Patient 5,
was a departure from the standard of care.

102. Respondent’s manner of keeping medical records of his care and treatment of Patient
5 was a departure from the standard of care.

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Incompetence)

103. Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. is subject to disciplinary action under section
2234, subdivision (d) of the Code in that he demonstrated incompetence in his care and treatment
of two patients. The circumstances are as follows:

104. The allegations of paragraphs 11' through 73 are incorporated herein by reference.

Patient 3

105. In his treatment of Patient 3, Respondent demonstrated a lack of knowledge or ability

regarding the use of even low-risk medications in the treatment of musculoskeletal pain.
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Patient 4

106. In his treatment of Patient 4, Respondent demonstrated a lack of knowledge or ability

with regard to mental health diagnosis and treatment.

FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Dishonest or Corrupt Acts)
107. Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. is subject to disciplinary action under section
2234, subdivision (e) of the Code in that he engaged in acts of dishonesty or corruption in his care
and treatment of Patient 5. The circumstances are as follows:
108. The allegations of paragraphs 62 through 69 are incorporated herein by reference;
FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Knowingly Making or Signing a False Medical Document )
109. Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. is subject to disciplinary action under section
2261 of the Code, in that he knowingly made and /or signed a document which falsely
represented the existence or nonexistence of a state of facts with regard to his care and treatment
of Patient 5. The circumstances are as follows:
110. The allegations of paragraphs 62 through 69 are incorporated herein by reference.
SIXTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Creation of a False Medical Record)

- 111. Respondent, Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. is subject to disciplinary action under section
2262 of the Code, in that he created a false medicél record of his care and treatment of Patient 5.
The circumstances are as follows:

112. The allegations of paragraphs 62 through 69 are incorporated herein by reference.
SEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Inadequate and Inaccurate Medical Record Keeping)
113. By reason of the facts set forth above in the First through Sixth Causes for Discipline,
Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 2266 of the Code for inadequate and
inaccurate medical record-keeping of Patients One through Six as fully set forth above.

Paragraphs 11 through 73 are incorporated herein by reference as though fully set forth.
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CAUSE TO REVOKE PROBATION

(Failure to Obey All Laws)

114. At all times after the December 24, 2014, the effective date of Respondent's
Disciplinary Order in Case 11-2010-211926, Condition 12 of his probation required as follows:

“OBEY ALL LAWS. Respondent shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, all rules
governing the practice of medicine in California and remain in full compliance with ény court-
ordered criminal probation, payments, and other ofders.”

115. Respondent's probation is subject to revocation because he failed to comply with |
Probation Condition 12, referenced above. The facts and circumstances regarding this violation
are as follows:

A.  The facts and circumstances alleged in tﬁe First through Sixth Causes for Discipline
are incorporated herein as if fully set forth.

B.  Based on the facts and circumstances set forth in the First through Seventh Causes for
Discipline, Respondent violated Business and Professions Cod.e section 2234, subdivisions (b),
(c), (d) and (e), as well as Business and Professions Code sections 2261, 2262 and 2266, thereby
violating Probation Condition 12 referenced above.

DISCIPLINARY CONSIDERATIONS

1 16.- To determine the degree of dilscipline, if any, to be imposed, Complainant alleges that
on or about November 24,2014, in a prior disciplinary action titled I the Matter of the
Accusation Against Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. before the Medical Board of California, in Case
Number 11-2010-211926, Respondent's license was revoked, but the revocation was stayed, and
Respondent was placed on probation for seven years based upon a conviction of a substantially
related crime [conépiracy to distribute controlled substances in violation of federal law], the
commission of acts involving dishonesty or corruption, excessive prescribing, rebates for patient
referrals, violation of drug statutes, and general unprofessional conduct. Probation terms and
conditions included the requirement to complete an actual suspension of 90 days, community
service, an education course, a prescribing practices course, a professionalism [ethics] program, a

psychiatric evaluation, medical evaluation, and treatment, to have practice and billing monitors, a
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prohibition prohibiting him from prescribing any controllea substances, a requirement to obey all
laws, to notify patients of prohibited practice, to pay for psychiatric evaluation, and to pay
probation monitoring costs, among other terms. That Decision is now final and is incorporated by
reference as if fully set forth herein.

117. To determine the degree of discipline, if any, to be imposed on Respondent Tyron
Cleon Reece, M.D., Complainant alleges that on or about November 3, 2017, in a prior
disciplinary action entitled In the Matter of the Petition to Revoke Probation Against Tyron Cleon
Reece, M.D. before the Medical Board of California, Case Number 800-2016-023827,
Respondent's probation, above referenced, was extended for two (2) years for violating six terms
of probation including failure to take an education course, failure to take a professionalism
program [ethics] course, failure to pay the cost of the psychiatric evaluation, failure to pay the
cost of the medical evaluation, failure to pay the cost of probation monitoring, and failure to
notify patients of prohibited practice. Probation terms and conditions included a 30-day
suspension, or alternatively to pay $10,392.50 as reimbursement for the cost of the above
described psychiatric, medical, and probation monitoring costs. In addition, Respondent was to
provide proof to the Board that he is actively enrolled in the PEP program at PACE as required by
Condition 8 of the Decision‘and Order, effective December 24, 2014, That Decision is now final
and is incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

118. To determine the degree of discipline, if any, to be imposed on Respondent Tyron
Cleon Reece, M.D., Complainant alleges that on or about September 19, 2013, in the United
States District Court, Southern District of California, Respondent was convicted of Count 1 of an
indictment in a case entitled, United States vs. Tyron Reece, et al., case number 11CR3588-AJB,
to wit, conspiracy to distribute controlled substances, in violation of Title 21, United States Code,
Section 841(a)(1). .

PRAYER
WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein alleged,

and that following the hearing, the Medical Board of California issue a decision:
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. Revoking or suspending Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate Number A 31509,
issued to Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.;

2. Revoking the probation of Surgeon's Certificate Number A 31509, issued to Tyron
Cleon Reece, M.D.;

2. Revoking, suspending, or denying approval of Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.’s authority
to supervise physician assistants and advanced practice nurses;

3. Imposing a civil penalty on Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. in the amount of $500 for
violation of Business and Professions Code section 2262;

4. If placed on probation, ordering Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. to pay the Board the costs
of probation monitoring; and '

5. Taking such other and further action as deemed necessaryjand proper.

paTED: SUL 28 201

WILLIAM PRAKI

Executive Direct

Medical Board ofLalifornia
Department of Consumer Affairs
State of California

Complainant

LA2020501641
63893455.docx
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BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
In the Matter of the Accusation Against: )
TYRON CLEON REECE, M.D. ; Case No. 11-2010-211926
Physician's and Surgeon;s ; |
Certificate No. A 31509 )
Respondent ;

DECISION AND ORDER

The attached Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order is hereby
adopted as the Decision and Order of the Medical Board of California,
Department of Consumer Affairs, State of Califernia.

This Decision shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on December 24, 2014.

ITIS SO ORDERED: November 24, 2014.

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA

s Gots 10

Dev Gnanadev, M,D., Chair
Panel B.
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KAMALA D. HARRIS

Attorney General of California

E. A.Jongs I

Supervising Deputy Attorney General

CHRIS LEONG

Depuly Attorney General

State Bar No. 141079
California Department of Justice
300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702
Los Angeles, CA 90013
Telephone: (213) 897-2575
Facsimile: (213) 897-9395
E-mail: chris.leong@doj.ca.gov

Attorneys for Complainant

_ BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

‘ _ STATE OF CALIFORNIA
In the Matter of the Accusation Against: Case No. 11-2010-211926
TYRON C, REECE, M.D. OAH No. 2014020139
321 E. Hilicrest Blvd.,
Inglewood, CA 90301 : STIPULATED SETTLEMENT AND-
DISCIPLINARY ORDER’

Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No.
A 31509

Respondent.

In the inferest of a prompt and speedy settlement of this matter, consistent with the public |
interest and the responsibility of the Medical Board of California of the Department of Consumer
Affairs (Board), the parties hereby agree to the following Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary
Order which will be submitted to the Board for approval and adoption as the final disposition of
the Accusation.

PARTIES

1  Kimberly Kirchnﬁeyer ("Complainant") is the Executive Director of the Board. She
brought this action solely in her official capacity and is represented in this matter by Kamala D, -
Harris, Attorney General of the State of California, by Chris Leong, Deputy Attorney General.

2. Respondent TYRON C. REECE, M.D. ("Respondent") is represented in this -
proceeding by attorney Duane R. Folke, Esq., whose address is; 3450 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite
108-17, Los Angeles, CA 90010-2208:

STIPULATED SETTLEMENT (11-2010-211926)
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- served on Respondent on November 14, 2013. Respondent timely filed his Notice of Defense

every right set forth above.

3. Onorabout September 1, 1977, the Board issued Physician's and Surgeon's
Certificate No. A 31509 to Respondent. The Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate was in fulln
force and effect at all times relevant to the charges brought in Accusation No. 11-2010-2] 1926

and will expire on October 31, 2015, unless renewed. -

JURISDICTION

4. Accusation No. 11-2010-211926 was filed before the Board and is currently pending

against Respondent. The Accusation and all other statutorily required documents were properly -

contesting the Accusation.

5: A copy of Accusation No. 11-2010-211926 is attached as Exhibit A and is

incorporated herein by reference.

ADVISEMENT AND WAIVERS

6.  Respondent has carefully read, fully discussed With counsel, and understands the
charges and allegations in Accusation No. 11-2010-211926. Resp'ondent has also carefully read,
fully discussed with counsel, and understands the effects of this Stipulated Settlement and
Disciplinary Order. .

7. Respondent is fully aware of his legal rights in this métter, inciuding the right to a
hearing on the charges and allegations in the Accusation; the right to be represented by counsel at
his own expense; thc right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him; ‘the right to
present evidence and to testify on his.own behalf; the right to the issuance of subpoenas to compel
the attendance of witnesses and the production of documents; the right to reconsideration and
court review of an adverse decision; and all other rights accorded by the California
Adﬁ)inistrativ&: Procedure Act and other applicable laws.

8. Respondent voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waives and gives up each and

CULPABILITY

9.  Respondent admits the truth of each and every charge and allegation in the First

Cause for Discipline in Accusation No. 11-2010-211926.

2
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| charges and allegations contained in Accusation No. 11-2010-211926 shall be deemed true,

to rescind the stipulation prior to the time the Board considers and acts upon it. If the Board fails

10.  Respondent agrees that his Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate is subject to
discipline and he agrees to be bound by the Board's probationary terms as set forth in the
Disciplinary Order below.

11, Respondent agrees that if he ever petitions for early termination of probation or

modification of probation, or if the board ever petitions for revocation of probation, all of the

correct and fully admitted by Respondent for purposes of that proceeding or any other licensing

proceeding involving Respondent in the State of California.

CONTINGENCY

12, This stipulation shall be subject to approval by the Medical Board of California.
Respondent understands and agrees that counsel for Complainant and the staff of the Medical
Board of California may communicate directly with the Board regarding this stipulation and
seftlement, without notice to or participation by Respondent or his counsel. By signing the

stipulation, Respondent understands and agrees that he may not withdraw his agreement or seek

to adopt this stipulation as its Decision and Order, the Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary
Order shall be of no force or effect, except for this paragraph, it shall be inadmissible in any legal
action between the parties, and the Board shall not be dlsquahhed from further action by having
considered this matter. _

13 The parties understand and agree that Portable Document Format (PDF) and facsimile
copies of this Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order, including Portable Document Format
(PDF) and facsimile signatures thereto, shall have the same force and effect as the originals.

14, In consideration of the foregoing admissions and stipulations, the parties agree that
the Board - may, without further notice or formal proceeding, issue and enter the following
Disciplinary Order:

DISCIPLINARY ORBDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Physician's and.Surgeon's Certificate No. A 31509 issued
to Respondent TYRON C, REECE, M.D, (Respondent) is revoked, However, the revocation is

3
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' educational progrém(s) or course(s) shall be at Respondent’s expense and shall be in addition to

stayed and Respondent is placed on probation for seven (7) years on the following terms and

conditions.

I, ACTUAL SUSPENSION. As part of prabation, Respondent is suspended from the

practice of medicine for ninety (90 days) beginning the sixte¢hth (16th) day after the effective

date of this decision.

2.  COMMUNITY SERVICE - FREE SERVICES. Within 60 calendar days of the

effective date of this Decision, Respondent shall submit to the Board or its designee for prior
approval a community service plan in which Respondent shall within the first 2 years of
probatiot;, provide 100 hours of free service;s (e.g., medical or nonmedical) to a community or
non-profit organization. If the term of probﬁtion is designated for 2. years or less, the community
service hours must be completed not later than 6 months prior to the completion of probation.

Prior to engaging in any community service Respondent shall provide a true copy of the
Decision(s) to the chiel of staff, director, office manager, program manager, officer, or the chief
executive officer at every community or non-profit organization where Respondent provides
community service and shall submit proof of compliance to the Board or its designee within 15
calendar aays. This condition shall also apply to any change(s) in comrhunity sel-vice. |

Community service performed prior to the effective date of the Decision shall not be
accepted in fulfiliment of this condition.

3. EDUCATION COURSE. Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this

Decision, and on an annual basis thereaftet, Respondent shall submit to the Board or its designee
for its prior approval educational program(s) or course(s) which shall not be less than 40 hours
per year, for each year of pfobation. The educational program(s) or course(s) shall be aiméd at

correcling any areas of deficient practice or knowledge and.'shall be Category I certified, The

the Continuing Medical Education (CME) requirements for renewal of licensure, Following the
completion of each course, the Board or its designee may administer an examination to test
Respondent’s knowledge of the course. Respondent shall provide proof of attendance for 65

hours of CME of which 40 hours were in satisfaction of this condition.

4
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4.  PRESCRIBING PRACTICES COURSE. Within 60 calendar days of the effective

date of this Decision, Respondent shall enroll in a course in prescribing practices equivalent to the
Prescribing Practices Course at the Physician Assessment and Clinical Education Program,
University of California, San Diego School of Medicine (Program), approved in advance by the
Board or its deqxgncc Respondent shall provide the program with any information and documcnts
that the Program may deem pertinent. Respondent shall participate in and successfully complete
the classroom component of the course not later than six (6) months after Rcspondent s initial
enroliment. Respondent shall successfully oomp[etc any other component of the course within
one (1) year of enrollment, The prescribing practices course shall be at Respondent’s expense
and shall be in addition to the Continuing Medical Education (CME) réquirements for renewal of
licensure. |

A prescribing practices course taken after the acts that gave rise to the charges in the
Accusation, but prior to the effective date of the Decision may, in the sole discretion of the Board
or its designee, be accepted towafds the fulfillment of this condition if the course would have
been approved by the Board. or its designee had the course been taken after the effective date of
this Decision. |

Respondent shall submit a certification of successful completion to the Board or its
designee not later than 15 calendar days after successfully completing the course, or not later than
15 calendar days after the effective date_of the Decision, whichever is later.

5. PROFESSIONALISM PROGRAM (ETHICS COURSE). Within 60 calendar days of

the effective date of this Decision, Respondent shall enroll in a professionalism program that
meets the requirements of Title 16, California Code of Regulations (CCR) section 1358.
Respondent shall participate in and successfully complete that program, Respondent -shall
provide any information and documents that the program may dF:em pertinent. Respondent shall
successfully complete the classroom component of the program not later than six (6) months after
Respondent’s initial enroliment, and the longitudinal component of the program not later than the
time specified by the program, but no later than one (1) year after attending the classroom

componcrﬁ’. The professionalism program shall be at Respondent’s expense and shall be in

5
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i
addition to the Continuing Medical Education (CME) requirements for renewal of Iicensure.

A professionalism program taken after the acts that gave rise to the charges ixi the
Accusation, But prior to the effective date of the Decision may, in the sole discretion of the Board
or its designee, be accepted towards the fulfillment of this condition if the program i\}vould have
been approved by the Board or its designee had the program been taken after the ef‘i‘ective date of
this Decision. '

' Respondent shall submit a certification of successfui oompletion to the Board or its
designee not later than 15 calendar days after successtully completing the program or not later

than 15 calendar days after the effective date of the Decision, whichever is later.

6. PSYCHIATRIC EVALUATION. Within 30 calendar days of the eitective date of

this Decision, and on whatever periodic basis thereafter may be required by the Board or its
designee, Respondent shall undergo and complete a psychiatric evaluation (and psychological
testmg, if deemed necessary) by a Board-appointed board certified psychiatrist, who shall
consider any information provided by the Board or designee and any other mformation the
psychiatrist deems relevant, and shall furnish a written evaluation report to the Boaid or its
designee. Psychiatric evaluations conducted prior to the effective date of the Decision shall not
be accepted towards the fulfillment of this requirement. Respondent shall pay the c&st of all
psychiatric evaluations and psychological testing. |
Respondent shall comply with all restrictions or conditions recommended by the evaluating

psychiatrist within 1’5 calendar days aller being notified by the Board or its designee.

7. MEDICAL EVALUATION AND TREATMENT, Within 30 calendaridays ofthe
effective date of this Decision, and on a periodic basis thereafter as may be requireci by the Board
or its designee, Respondent shall undergo a medical cvaluation by a Board-appointed physman
who sha I consider any information provided by the Board or desxgnee and any other mformatwn
the ev_a[uatmg physician deems relevant and shall furnish a medical report to the Board or its
designee. Respondent shall provide the evaluating physician any information snd diocumentation

|
that the evaluating physician may deem pertinent. |

Following the evaluation, Respondent shall comply with all restrictions or conditions
|

6 |
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date of this Decision, Respondent shall participate in a professional enhancement program

|

I
|

recommended by the evaluating physician within 15 calendar days after being notiﬁled by the
Board or its designee. If Respondent 1s required by the Board or its designee to undergo medical
treatment, Respondent shall within 30 calendar days of the requirement notice, submxt to the
Board or its designee for prior approval the name and qualifications of a California licensed

treating physician of Respondent’s choice. Upon approval of the treatmg physnclan\ Respondent

shall within 15 calendar days undertake medical treatment and shall contmue such treatment until
further notice from the Board or.its designee. ‘

The treating physician shall consider any information provided by the Board ér its designee
or any other information the treating physician may deem pertinent prior-to commencement of
treatment. Respondent shall have the treating physician submit quarterly reports to _t;he Board ot
its designee indicating whether or not_the Respondent is capable of practicing mediéine safely,
Respondent shall provide the Board or its designee with any and all medical records pertaining to
treatment, the Board or its designee deems neécssary. | |

Lf, prior to the completion of probation, Respondent is found to be physically %ncapable of
resuming the practice of medicine without restrictions, the Board shall retain continf‘uing
jurisdiction over Respondent’s license and the period of probation shall be extendeci until the
Board delermines that Respondent is physically capable of resuming the practice of‘: medicine

without restrictions. Respondent shall pay the cost of the medical evaluation(s) and treatment.

8. MONITORING - PRACTICE/BILLING. Within 30 calendar days of the effective

equivalent to the one offered by the Physician Assessment and Clinical Education Program at the
University of California, San Diego Schoo! of Medicine, that includes, at mir}imumi quarterly
chart review, semi-annual practice assessment, and semi-annual review of professidna] growth
and education. Respondent shall participate in the professional enhancement progr%m at
Respondent’s expense during the term of probation, : |

9. PROHIBITED PRACTICE. Dwring probation, Respondent is prohibitéd from

prescribing any controlled substances. Aftei the effective date of this Decision, all fpdtwnts bcmg

treated by thc Respondent shall be notified that the Respondent is prohibited from plescubmg any

i
7 |
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immediate inspection and copying on thc premises at all times during business hours by the Board

including all physician and locum tenens registries or other similar agencies, and to the Chief

controlled substances. Any new patients must be provided this notification at the time of their
initial appointment.

Respondent shall maintain a log of all patients to whom the requfred oral notification was
made. The log shall contain the; I) paticnt’s name, address and phone number; 2) patient’s
medical record pumber, if available; 3) the full name of the person making the notification; 4) the
date the notification was made; and 5)a description of the notification given. Respondent shall

keep this log in a separate file or ledger, in chronological order, shall make the log available for

or its designee, and shall retam the log for the entire term of probation.

10.  NOTIFICATION. Within seven (7) days of the effective date of this Decision, the -

Respdndeﬁt shall provide a true copy of this Decision and Accusation to the Chief of Staff or the
Chief Exccutive Officer at every hospital where privileges or membership are extended to

Respondent, at any other facility where Respondent engages in the practice of medicine,

Executive Officer at every insurance carrier which extends mal practice insurance coverage to
Respondent. Respondent shall submit proof of compliance to the Board or its designee within 15
calendar days.

This condition shall apply to any change(s) in hospitals, other facilities or insurance carrier.

11, SUPERVISION OF PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS. During probation, Respondent is

prohibitcd from supervising physician assistants.

12, OBEY ALL LAWS. Respondent shall obey all federal, state and local laws, all rules
governing the practice of medicine in California and remain in full compliance with any court

ordered criminal probation, payments, and other orders.

13. QUARTERLY DECLARATIONS. Respondent shall submit quarterly declarations
under penalty of perjury on forms provided by the Board, stating whether there has been
compliance with all the conditions of probation.,

Respondent shall submit quarterly declarations not later than 10 calendar days after the end

of the preceding quarter.

STIPULATED SETTLEMENT (11-2010-211926)
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14.  GENERAL PROBATION REQUIREMENTS.

Compliance with Probation Unit

Respondent shalt comply with the Board’s probation unit and all terms and conditions of

this Decision.

Address Changes

Respondent shall, at all times, keep the Board informed of Respondent’s business and
residence addresses, email address (if available), and telephone number, Changes of such
addresses shall be immediately communicated jn writing to the Board or its designee. Under no

circumstances shall a post office box serve as an address of record, except.as allowed by Business
and Professions Code section 2021(b). *

Place of .Practice

Respondent shall not engage in the practice of medicine in Respondent’s or patient’s place
of residence, unless the patient resides in a skilled nursing facility or other similar licensed
facility.

License Renewa]

Respondent shall maintain a current and renewed California physician’s and surgeon’s

Travel or Residence Quiside California

Respondent shall immediately inform the Board or its desi gnee, in writing, of travel to any
areas outside the jurisd.iction of California which lasts, or is contemplated to last, more than thirty
(30) calendar days.

In the event Respondent should leave the State of California to reside or to practice
Respondent shall notify the Board or its designee in writing 30 calendar days prior to the dates of
dcpar?ure and return.

15. INTERVIEW WITH THE BOARD OR ITS DESIGNEE. Respondent shall be

available in person upon request for interviews cither at Respondent’s place of business or at the
probation unit office, with or without prior notice throughout the term of probation,

16, NON-PRACTICE WHILE ON PROBATION. Respondent shall notify the Board or

9
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Business and Professions Code sections 2051 and 2052 for at least 40 hours in a calendar r.nonth

‘obligations (e.g., restitution, probation costs) not later than 120 calendar days prior to the

its designee in writing within 15 calendar days of any periods of non-practice lasting more than
30 calendar days and within 15 calendar days of Respondent’s return to practice, Non-practice is

defined as any period of time Respondent is not practicing medicine in California as defined in

in direct patient care, clinical activity or teaching, or other activity as approved by the Board. All
time spent in an intensive training program which has been approved by the Board or its designee
shall not be considered non-practice, Practicing medicine in another state of the United States or
Fec_ieral jurisdiction while on probation with the medical licensing authority of that state or
Jjurisdiction shall not be considered non-practicé. A Bdard—ordcred suspension of practice shall
not be considered as a period of non-practice,

In the event Respondent’s period of non-practice while on probation exceeds 18 calendax
months, Respondent shall successfully complete a clinical training program that meets the criteria
of Condition 18 of the current version of the Board’s “Manual of Model Disciplinary Orders and
Disciplina_ry Guidelines” prior to resuming the practice of medicine.

Respondent’s period of non-practice while on prdbaﬁon shall not exceed two (2) years.

Periods of non-practice will not apply to the reduction of the probationary term,

Periods of non-practice will relieve Respondeﬁt of the responsibility to comply with the
probationary terms and conditions with the exception of t.his condition and the fc-)llowing terms
and conditions of probation: Obey All Laws; and General Probation Requirements,

17. COMPLETION OF PROBATION. Respondent shall comply with all financial

completion of probation. Upon successtul completion of probation, Respondent’s certificate shall
be fully restored.
18. VIOLATION OF PROBATION. Failure to fully comply w1th any term or condmon

of probation is a violation of probatlon If Respondent violates probation in any respect, the
Board, after giving Respondent notice and the opportunity to be heard, may revoke probation and
carry out the disciplinary order that was stayed, If an Accusation, or Petition to Revoke Probation,

or an Interim Suspension Order is filed against Respondent during probation, the Board shall have

10
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continuing jurisdiction until the matter is final, and the period of probation shall be extended uﬁtil '

the matter is final.’

19.  LICENSE SURRENDER. Following the effective date of this Decision, if
Respondent ceases practicing due to retirement c')r health reasons or is otherwise unable to satisfy
the terms and conditions of probation, Respondent may request to surrender his or her license.
The Board reserves the right to evaluate Respondent’s request and to exercise its discretion in
determining whether or not to grant the rvequest, or to take any other action deemed ap}l)ropriate
and reasonable under the circumstances. Upon formal acceptance of the surrender, Respondent
shall within 15 calendar days deliver Respondent’s wallet and wall certificate to tﬁe Board or its
designee and Respondent shall no longer practice medicine. Respondent will no longer be subject
to the terms and conditions of probation. If Respondent re-applies for a medical license, the
application shall be treated as a petition for reinstatement of a revoked certificate.

20. PROBATION MONITORING COSTS. Respondent shall pay the costs associated

with probation monitoring each and every year of probation, as designated by the Board, which
may be adjﬁsted‘on an annual basis, Such costsshall be payable to the Medical Board of
California and delivered to the Board or its designee no later than January 31 of each calendar

year.

ACCEPTANCE
I have carefully read the above Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order and have fully
discussed it with xny attorney, Duane R. Folke, Esq. [ understand the stipulatibn and the effect it
will have on my Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate. [ enter into this Stipulated Settlement and
Disciplinary Order voiuntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, and agree to be bound by the

Decision and Order of the Medical Board of California.

41, - o ' Z
vt fletin Pz [y tf oo
~ ’ /TYRON C. {EECE, M.D.
Responden
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I have read and fully discussed with Respondent TYRON C, REECE, M.D. the terms and
conditions and other matters contained in the above Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order,

I approve its form and content.

l’. ’ - L
_DATED: fé’ (7 % ///’2,,-%‘
%NE R.FOLKE, ESQ—
; ttorney for Respondent
ENDORSEMENT

The foregoing Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order is hereby respectfully

submitted for consideration by the Medical Board of California.

Dated: N b g Respectfully submitted,
perabec 12014 N
: KAMALA D. HARRIS

Attorney General of California
E. A. JONES 1]

Supervising Deputy Attorney General

CHRIS LEONG

Deputy Attorney General
Attorneys for Complainant

LA2013609293

-61390134.doc
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Attorneys for Complainant
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FILED

KAMALA D. HARRIS :
Attorney General of California _ STATE OF CALIFORNIA
B. A, Jones IIl AL BOARD-OF GALIFORNIA
‘Supervising Deputy Attomey General Eahs  Dlewrel” M-201% -
CHRIS LEONG ANALYST
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 141079

Califormia Department of Justice

300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702
Los Angeles, CA 90013
Telephone: (213) 897-2575
Facsimile: (213) 897-9395
E-mail: chris.leong@doj.ca.gov

- BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
In the Matter of the Accusation Against: Case No, 11-2010-211926.
TYRON C. REECE, M.D. .
321 E. Hillcrest Blvd,, '
- Inglewood, Califomia 50301 ACCUSATION
Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No. A3 1509 ‘
Respondent.
Complainant alleges:
PARTIES

1. Kimberly Kirchmeyet (Complainant) brings this Accusation solely in her official
capacity as the Interim Executive Director of the Medical Boatd of California (Board).

2. Onor about September 1, 1977, the Board- issued Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate
Number A 31509 to TYRON C. REECE, M.D. (Respondent). The Physician's and Surgeon's
Certificate was in full force and effect at all times relevant to the charges brought herein and w1]l
expire on October 31, 2015, unless renewed, '

JURISDICTION
3, This Accusation is brought before the Board, under the authority of the following laws.
All section references are to the Business and Professions Code (Code) unless otherwise

indicated.

Accusation (11-2010-211926)
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4, Section 2234 of the Code, states:

"The board shall take action against any licensee who is charged with unprofessional
conduct. In addition to other provisions of this article, unprofessional conduet includes, but is not
Limited o, the following: _ o

"(a) Violating or atternpting to violate, directly or indfrectly, assisting in or abetting the
violation of, or conspiring to violate anyvprovision of this chapter,

"(b) Gross negligence.

"(c) Repeated negligent acts. To be repeated, there must be two or more negligent acts or
omissions. An initial negligent act or omission followed by a separate and distinct departure from
the applicable standard of care shall constitute repeated negligeht acts,

‘(1) An initial negligent diagnosis followed by an act or omission medically
appropriate for that negligent diagnosis of the patient shall constitute a singlle negligent act,
"(2) When the standard of care requires s:change in the diagnosis, act, or omission

that constitutes the negligent act described in paragraph (1), including, but not limited to, a

reevaluation of the diagnosis or a change in treatment, and the licensee's conduct departs

from the applicable standard of care, sach departu.re constitutes a separate and distinet
breach of the standard of care. (

"(d) Inoompétence.

*(e) The commission of any act involving dishonesty or corruption which is substantially
related to the qualiﬁcatiéns, functions, or duties of a.physician and surgeon.

"(f) Any action or conduct which would have warranted the denial of a certificate,

"(g) The practice of medicine from this st§te into another state or country without meeting

the legal requirements of that state or country for the practice of medicine. Section 2314 shall not

apply to this subdivision. This subdivision shall become opérativc upon the implementation of the
proposed registration program described in Section 2052.5.
"(h) The repeated failure by a certificate holder, in the absence of good cause, to attend and

participate in an interview scheduled by the mutual agreement of the certificate holder and the

2
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board, This subdivision shall only apply to a certificate holder who is the subject of an
investigation by the board.”

5.  Section 2227 of the Code states:

"(a) Aclicensee whose matter has been heard by an administrative law judge of the Medjcal
Quality Heaung Panel as designated in Section 11371 of the Government Code, or whose default
has been entered, and who is found gu1lty, or who has entered into a stipulation for disciplinary
action with the board, may, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter:

. - "(1) Have his or her license revoked upon order of the bo.ard.
"(2) Have his or hef right to practice suspended for a period not to exceed one year

upon otder of the board.

"(3) Be placed on probation and be required to pay the costs of probation monitoring

upon order of the board. .

"(4) Be puﬁlicly reprimanded by the board, The public reprimand may include &
requirement that the licensee com-plete relevant educational courses approved by the board.

1(s) Ha\;e any other action taken in relation to discipline as part of an order of
probation, as the boaxd or an aﬁmipistr‘ative law judge may deem proper.,

"(b) Any matter hearci pursuant to subdivision (a), except for waming letters, medical
review or advisory conferences, professional competency examinations, continuing education
activities.'and cost reimbursement associated therewith that are agreed to with the board and
successfully completed by the licensee, or other matters made conﬁdentlal or privileged by
existing law, is deemed public, and shall be made aveulable to the public by the board pursuan’t to-
Section 803.1."

6.  Section 2236 of the Code states:

A(a) The conviction of any o'ffense substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or |
duties of a physician and surgeon constitutes unprofessional conduct within the meaning of this
chapter [Chapter 5, the Medical Practice Act]. The record of conviction shall be conclusive

¢vidence only of the fact that the conviction occurred.

Accusation (11-2010-211926)
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- shall be conclusive evidence of the fact that the conviction occutred.@

A(b) The district attorney, city attomey, or other prosecuting agency shall notiﬂ the
Division of Medical Quality of the pendency of an action against a licensee charging a felony or
misdemeanor immediately upon obtaining information that the defendant is a licensee. The notice|
shall identify the licensee and describe the crimes charged and the facts alleged. The prosecuting
agency shall also notify the clerk of the court in which the actidn is pending that the defendant is a

licensee, and the clerk shall record promiriently in the file that the. defendant holds a license as a

physician and surgeon,

a(c) The clerk of the ‘court in which a licensee is convicted of & crime shall, within 48
hours after the conviction, transmit a ceriified copy of the record of conviction to the board. The
division may inquire into the circumstances surrounding the commission of a crimé in order to fix

the degree of discipline or to determine if the conviction is of an offense substantially related to

. the qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician and surgeon.

A(d) A plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction after a plea of nolo contenders is deemed to
bea convi_c;cion‘within the meaning of this section and Section 2236.1. The record of .conﬁcﬁon

7.  Section 2238 of the Code states:

AA violation of any federal statute or federa-l regulaﬁon or any of the stafutes or regulations
of this state regulating dangerous drugs or conttolled substapees constitutes unprofessional
conduct.@

8.  Section 725 of the Code states:

"(a) Repeated actslof clearly excessive prescribing, furnishing, dispensing, or administering
of drugs or treatment, repeated acts of clearly excessive use of diagn.ostic procedures, or repeated
acts of clearly excessive use of diagnostic or treatment facilities as determined by the standard of

the cormnunity_of licensees is unproféessional conduct for a physician and surgeon, dentist,

podiatrist, psycliologist, physical therapist, chiropraotor,. optometrist, speech-language pathologist,
or audiologist.
"(b) Any person who engages in repeated acts of clearly excessive prescribing or

administering of drugs or treatment is guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by a fine of

4
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not less than one hundred dollars (3100) nor more than six hundred ciollars ($600), or by
imprisonment for a term of not less than 60 days nor more than 180 days, or by both that fine and
imprisonment, '

"(e) A praciitioner who has a medical basis for prescribing, furnishing,'dispensing, or
administering dangerous drugs or prescription controlled substances shall not be subject to
disciplinary action or présecution under this section,

"(d) No physician and surgeon shall be subject to disciplinary action pursuant to this section
for treating intractable pain in compliance with Section 2241.5."

9. . Section 650 of the Code states: _

“(a) Except as provided in Chapter 2.3 (commencing with Section 1400) of Divisioﬁ 20f
the Health and Safety Code, the offer, delivery, receipt, or aceeptance by any person licensed
under this division or the éhiropraétic Initiative Act. of any rebate, refund, bommission,
proference, patronage dividend, discount, or other consideration, whether in the form of mo ney or
otherwise, as compensation or inducement for referring patients, clients, or customers to any
person, irrespective of any membership, proprietary interest, or coownership in or with any person
to whom these patients, clients, or customers are referred is unlawﬁl.

“(b) The payment or receipt of consideration for services other than the referral of patients
which is based on a percentage of gross reveaue or similar type of contractual arrangement shall
not be unlawful if the consideration is commensurate with the value of the seryices furnished or
with the fair rental value of any premises or equipment leased or provided by the recipient to the
payer, . |

“(c) The offer, delivery, receipt, or-acceptance of any consideration between a federally
qualified health center, as defined in Section 1396d(1)(2)(B) of Title 42 of the United States Code,
and any individual or entity providing goods, items, services, donations, loans, or a combination
thereof to the health center entity pursuant to a contract, lease, grant, loan, or other agreement, if
that agreement contributes to the ability of the health center entity to maintain or increase the

availability, or enhance the quality, of services provided to a medically underserved population
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served by the health center, shall be permitted only to the extent sanctioned or permitted by
federal law. |

*(d) Except as provided in Chapter 2.3 (commencing with Section 1400) of Division 2 of
the Health and Safety Code and in Sections 654.1 and 654.2 of this code, it shall not'be unlawiul
for any person licensed under this division to refer a person to any laboratory, pharmacy, clinic_
(including entities exempt from licensure pua.:suant to Section 1206 of the Health and Safety
Code), or bealth care facility solely because the licensee has a proprietary interest or coownership
in the laboratory, pharmacy, clinic, or healﬂw. care facility, provided, however, that the licensee's
return on investment for that proprietary interest or coownership shall be based upon the amount
ofthe capital investment or proportional ownership of the licensee which ownership interest is not
bascd on the number or value of any patients referred. Any feferral excepted under thig section
shall be unlawful if the prosecutor proves that there was no valid medical need for the referral,

“(e) Except as provided in Chapter 2.3 (commencing with Section 1400) of Divisidn 20of
the Health and Safety Code and ixi Sections 654.1 and 654.2 of this code, it shall not be unlawful
to provide nonmonetary remuneration, in the form of hardware, software, or information
technology and training services, as described in subsections (x) and (y) of Section 1001,552 of
Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations, as amended October 4,2007, as published in the
Federal Register (72 Fed. Reg. 56632 and 56644), and subsequently amencicd versions.

*(f) "Health care facility" means & general acute care hospital, acute‘ psychiatric hospitél,
skilled nursing fac'ility, intermediate care facility, and any other health facility licensed by the
State '].Depaﬂment of Public Health under Chapter 2 &commencing with Section 125 0) of Division
2 of the Health and Safety Code,

“ (@) A violation of this section is a public offense and is punishabte upon a first conviction
by imprisonment in a cbunty jail for not more than one year, or by imprisonment pursuant to
subdivision (h) of Section 1170 of the Penal Code, or by a fine not exceeding fifty thousand
dollars ($50,000), or by both that imprisonment and fine. A second or subsequent conviction is
punishakle by imprisonment pursuant to subdivision (k) of Section 1170 of the Penal Code, or by

that imprisonment and a fine of fifty thousand dollats ($50,000).”

6
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INTRODUCTION

10; This Accusation involves presoriptiohs for medications regulated by the
Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act, passed into law in 1970. Title I of this
l_aw, the Controlled Substances Act, is the legal foundation of narcotics enforcement in the United
States, The Controlled Substances Act regulates the manufacture, possl,ession, movement, and
distribution of drugs in our country. The Controlled Substances Act places all drugs into one of
five schedules, or classifications, and is controlled by the Department of Justice and the
Department of Health and Human Services, including the Federal Drug Admizﬁstration. in 1972,
California followed the federal lead by adopting the Uniform Controlled Substance Act.
(Government Code §11153 et seq.), _

11, The following delineates the five schedules with examples of drugs, medications,
and information about each.

12, . Schedule I Drugs

These drugs have NO safe, accepted mcdical use in the United States, This schedule
includes drugs such as heroin, ecstasy, LSD and crack cocaine. Schedule I drugs have a high
tendency for abuse and have no accepted medical use, Pharmacies do not sell Schedule I drugs,
and they are not available with a plescnptmn by physician.

| 13. Schedule IX Drugs

Schedule 1T drugs have a high tendency for abuse, may have an accepted médical use, and
can produce dependency ot addiction with chronic use. Of all legal prescription medications,
Schedule II controlled substances have the higixest abuse potential. These drugs can cause severe
psychological or physical dependence.. Schedule IT drugs include certain narcotic, stimulant, and -
depressant drugs, Examples of Schedule I1 drugs include cocaine, opium, morphine, fentanyl,
amphetamines, and methamphetamines. ’

Schedule IT drugs may be available with a prescription. by a physician, but not all
pharmacies n'lay carry them. These drugs require more stringent recérds and storage procedures

than drugs in Schedules I and IV,

Accusation (11-2010-211926)
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14, Schedule I Drugs

Schedule I drugs have less potential for abuse or addiction than drugs in the first two
schedules and have a currently accepted medical use, The abuse of Schedule I drugs may lead to
moderate to high psychological dependence. '

Examples of Schedule I1I drugs include codeine, hydrocodone with acetaminophen, or

anabolic steroids, Schedule III drugs may be avzulable thh a prescnphon but not all pharmacies

may carry them

15. Schedule IV Drugs .

Schedule I'V drugs have ;a. low potential for abuse that lcad; only to limited physical
dependence er psychological dependence relative to drugs in Schedule 1T, Schedule IV drugs
have a currently accepted medical use and have limited addictive properties. Schedule IV drugs
have the same restrictions as Schedule III drugé

Bxamples of Schedule IV drugs include xanax, valium, phcnobarbltal ‘and rohypnol

| (commonly known as the "date rape" drug) These drugs may be available with a prescription, but

not all pharmacies may carry them.
16. ‘Schedule V Drugs
Schedule V drugs have a lower chance of abuse than Schedule IV drugs, have a currently
accepted medical use in the United States, and lesser chance of dependence compared to Schedule
IV drugs. This schedule includes such drugs as cough suppressants with codeine.
| CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES AND DANGEROUS DRUGS

17. Xanax is a dangerous drug puréuant to Code section 4022, It is a Schedule IV

Controlled Substance as designated by Health and Safety Code section 11057, subdivision (d)(1).
[ts generic name is Alprazolam and is used 1o relicve anxiet3;. )

18. . Hydrocodone (as designated by Health and Safety Code section 11056,
subdivision (e)(4))/APAP is an analgesic combination of a narcotic, Hydrocodone, and
Acetaminophen. Acetaminophen, often abbreviated as APAP, is a peripherally acting analgesic
agent found in many combination products and also available by itself. This combination product

is used to treat moderate to moderately severe pain. Inthe U.S., formulations containing more

8
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than 15 mg hydrocodone per dosage unit are considered Schedule II drugs. Those containing less
than or equal to 15 mg per dosage unit in combina-tion with acetaminophen or another non-
controlled drug are called hydrocodone compovnds and are considered Schedule TIT drugs.
Hydrocodone (as designated by Health and Sa;fety Code section 11055, subdivision (b)(1))(X)) is
not available in pure form in the United States due to a separate regulation, Hytirocodone is
always sold combined with another drug, Hydrocodone is a dangerous drug within the meaning
of code section 4022. '

19. . Promethazine with codeine is a dangerous drug puirsuant to section 4022 of the
Code. Itis a Schedule IV controlled substarice, as designated by Health and Safety Code section
11057, subdivision (f){(4). ~

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Conviction of Substantially Related Cri;nes)

20. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 22536 of the Code in that he
has been convicted of crimes which are substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or
duties of a physician and suxgeﬁsn.' The circumstances are ag follows:

21. Bince in or around 2006, Respondent has been w::itiﬁg prescriptions for controlled
substances for money without seeing the patient. At various times, Respondent would receive a
liét containing, among othér information, names of patients from about five individuals,
Respondent would write prescriptions for controlled substances for the named patients. The
prescriptions were taken to a pharmacy where they were filled for individuals, other than the
named patients. Respondent received approximately $60.00 for each prescription as more
specifically set forth in patagraph 22 below: A

22. OnAugust 12,2011, in the United States District Cdurt, Southern District of
California, Respondent was charged in count 1 of an indictment in a case entitled United States
vs. Tyron Reece, et al., case number 11CR3588-AJB, with conspiracy to distribute controlled
substances, in violation of Title 21, United Stetes Code, Section 841(a)(1). The indictment plead

in part as follows:

Accusation (11-2010-211926)
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“CONSPIRACY TO DISTRIBUTE CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES

“5,  Defendant TYRON REECE, a medical doctér licensed to practice medicine in

“2, ' Reginning on a date unknown to the grand jury and continuing up to and
including August 10, 2011, within the Southem District of California, and elsewhere,
defendants ANTHONY WRIGHT, aka “Sam,” CHARLES DABNEY, TYRON
REESE, MOSES BLACKMON, XIM MARTIN, and GLENN REYNALDO, did
knowingly and intentionally conspire and agree with Milton Farmer, charged
elsewhere, and each other and with others knowr; and unknown to the grand jury, to
distribute controlled substances all in violation of Title 21, Unitéd'States'Code,
Section 841(a)(1). '
“MANNER AND MEANS

“ROLES OF THE DEFENDANTS
“3,  Defendant ANTHONY WRIGHT paid defendants MOSES BLACKMON and
GLENN REYNALDQ cash for frandulent medical prescriptions issued by TYRON
REECE which were used to illegally acquire Scheduled- pharmaceutic'al drugs from co-
conspirators working at Dabney Pharmacy. |
“4. - Defendant CHARLES DABNEY, who was the raanager of Dabney Pharmacy
since 1989, in exchange fof cash, processed and filled defendant ANTHONY
WR,IGHT’S' fraudulent medical prescriptions at the rate of approximately 90

prescriptions a week.

California, sold ‘ﬁ‘audulent medical prescriptions for 100 tablets of hydrocodbne
(Schedule I, 100 tablets alprazolam (Schedule IV) and 1 pint of i)ronicthazine with
codeine (Schedule V) to defendants MOSES BLACKMON and GLENN REYNALDO
in exchange for $60.00 cash on multiple occasions. .

“6.  Defendant KIM MARTIN, a receptionist/clerk at Dabney Pharmacy, recelved
and processed defendant ANTHONY WRIGHT's fraudulent prescriptions in exchange
for cash payments from defendant ANTHONY WRIGHT,

10
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“OVERT ACTS
“7. Infurtherance of said conspiracy, and to effect the objects thereof, the following
overt acts, among others, were Gommitted within the Southern District of California,
and elsewhere;
“a) On or about March 21, 2010, in Los Angeles, California, during a
telephbne conwversation, defendant KIM MARTIN informed defendant
ANTHONY WRIGHT that she had given frandulent medical prescriptions to
defendent CHARLES DABNEY for processing,

“b)  “On about August 12, 2010, in Los Angeles, California, defendant
TYRON REECE issued medical prescriptions to an individual for 100 tablets
of hydrocadone (Schedule IIT), 100 tablets alprazolam (Schedule IV) and 1 pint

~ of promethazine with codeine (Schedule V), without conducting a medical
cxaminétidn. .
“c) Onor aBout August 25, 2010, in San Diego, California, during a
telepilone convcrsétion, defendant ANTHCNY WRI(:J‘HT offered to sell
tablets of oxycodéne, to a confidential source for $25.00 a tablet,
“d) On or about November 29, 2010, in Los Angeles, California, during a
telephone conversation, defendant MOSES BLACKMON informed defendant
ANT HONY WRIGHT that she had fifteen prescriptions available for
immediate delivery to ANTHONY WRIGHT.

- “e) On or about March 14, 2011, in Los Angeles, Califortjia, during &
telephone conversation, defendants CHARLES DABNEY and ANTHONY
WRIGHT discussed how DABNEY maintained list of names for defendant
ANTHONY WRIGHT to use to acquire frandulent medical prescriptions.

“f)  On or about March 28, 2011, in Los Angeles, California, duxing.a.
telephone conversation, defendant GLENN REYNALDO informed
ANTHONY WRIGHT that he would faoilitate the delivery of fraudulent
medical prescriptions to defendant KIM MARTIN at Dabney Pharmacy.”

11
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2234, subdivision (¢), of the Code in that he has committed acts involving dishonesty or

and surgeon.

23. OnAugust 12,2011, a Warrant for the Arrest of Respondent was filed in the United
States District Court. On August 16, 2011, Respondent was arrested by the U.S. Marshall,

24. OnNovember 1,2012, in the United States District Cowrt, Southern District of
California, Respondent entered a plea of guilty to count 1 of tﬁe indictment.

25, OnNovember 1, 2012, a Findings and Recommendation of the Magistrate J udge
Upon a Plea of Guilty, was signed by Hon. Jan M, Adler, United States Magistrate Judge.

26, OnNovember 19, 2012, an Order Accepting Guilty Plea, was signed by Hon.
Anthony J. Battaglia, U.S, District Court Judge.

27. On Septefnber 19, 2013, the United States'Disu'ict Court Judgc signed a Joint Motion
Continuing the Sentencing of Respondent, '

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Commission of Acts Involving Dishonesty or Corruption)
28. By reason of the allegations set forth above, in paragraphs 21 through 27, which are

incorporated herein as if fully set forth, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section
corruption which are substé.nﬁa]ly related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
A (Excessive Prescribi{xg)

29. Byreason of the allegations set forth abm}e, in paragraphs 21 through 27, which are
incorpor-ated herein as if fully set forth, Respondent is subject to diséiplinary action for excessive
prescribing, in violation of section 725 of the Code.

FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Rebates for Patient Referrals)

30. By reason of the allegations set forth above, in paragraphs 21 through 27, which are
incorporated herein as if fully set forth, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action fo.r receiving
rebates for patient referrals in violation of section 650 of the Qode. More specifically,

Respondent, in effect, referred patients to the pharmacy, by writing prescriptidns which were

12
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delivered to the pharmacy, in exchange for cash payments,
) FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Violation of Drug Statuteé)
31, By reason of the allegations set forth above, in paragraphs 21 through 27, Respoﬁdent
is 4subject to disciplinary action for unprofessional conduct undef section 2238 of the Code.
SIXTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
| - (General Unprofessional Conduct)
32, Byreason of the allegations set forth above, in paragtaphs 21 through 31, Respondent
is subject to disciplinary action for unprofessional conduct under section 2234 of the Code.
WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein alleged,
and that following the hearing, the Medical Board .of California issue a de;cision:
1. Revoking or suspending Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate Number A 31509,
issued to Tyron C. Reece, MDD ; | '
2. Revoking, suspending or denying approval of Tyron C. Reece, M.D.'s enthority to
supervise physician assistants, pursuant to section 3527 of the Code;
3, Ordering Tyrbn C; Reece, M.D. to pay the Medical Board of California, if placed on

probation, the costs of probation monitoting; and

4, Taking 'such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper.

- DATED: November 14, 2013 B J\L/M%M/%M

KIMBERLY KIRCHMEYER./f'
; Interim Bxeocutive Director

Medical Board of California

Department of Consumer Affairs

State of California
Complainant
1.A2013609293
61106959.doc
13
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BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER ATFFAIRS

. STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Petition to Revoke )

Probation Against: : o )

' )

' , )
Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. ) Case No. 800-2016-023827

' )

Physician's and Surgeon's )

Certificate No. A 31509 )

y )

Respondent )

)

DECISION

The attached Proposed Decision is hereby :idopfed as the Decision and Order
of the Medical Board of California, Department of Consumer Affairs, State of
California.

This Decision shall become effective at 5:00 p.m., on November 3, 2017,

IT IS SO ORDERED: October 6, 2017,

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA

Nowdely e Ll 12
Michelle Anne Bholat, M.D., Chair
Panecl B




BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
‘ STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Petition to Revoke

Probation Against: . Case No. 8002016023527
TYRON CLEON REECE, M.D. =~ . OAH No. 2017021015
Physician’s and Surgeon’s éertiﬁcate
No. A31509,
Respondent.
'PROPOSED DECISION

Matthew Goldsby, Administrative Law Judge with the Office-of Administrative
Hearings, heard this matter on July 27, 2017, at Los Angeles, California.

Chris Leong, Deputy Attorney General, appeared and repfesented complainant
Kimberly Kirchmeyer, Executive Director of the Medical Board of California, Department of
Consumer Affairs (Board).

Respondent Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D., appeared and represented himself.

After presenting oral and documentary evidence, the parties submitted Lhe matter for
decision on July 27, 2017.

FACTUAL FINDINGS
Jurisdictional Facts

1. Complainant brought the Petition to Revoke Probation (Petition) in her official
capacity. ' :

2. -Respondent timely submitted a Notice of Defense.




Disciplinary History and Terms of Probation

3. On September 1, 1977, the Board issued Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate
number A31509 to respondent. Respondent’s certificate is valid and is scheduled to expire
on October 31, 2017. '

4, On November 14, 2013, complainant brought an Accusation against
respondent, pleading causes for discipline based on the conviction of a substantially related
crime, the commission of acts involving dishonesty or corruption, the excessive prescription
of controlled substances, the receipt of rebates for patient referrals, the violation of drug
statutes, and general unprofessional conduct, Specifically, the Accusation’ alleged that
respondent wrote prescriptions for controlled substances for money without seeing patients,
and that he was convicted in the United States District Court, Southern District of California,

‘for conspiring to distribute controtled substances in violation of Title 21, United States Code
section 841(e).,

5. On October 7, 2014, respondent and his atiorney executed a Stipulated
Settlement and Disciplinary Order (Stipulated Order), prepared by complainant’s attorney,
whereby respondent admitted the truth. of the allegations of the Accusation and waived his
right to a hearing on the charges and allegations in the Accusation.

6. Effective December 24, 2014, the Board adopted the Stipulated Order and
revoked respondent’s Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate by its Decision and Order dated
November 24, 2014 (Decision and Order). The revocation was stayed, respondent’s license
was suspended for 90 days, and respondent was placed on probation for seven years on terms
and conditions, including the following pertinent orders:

(A}  Condition 3 of the Decision and Order required respondent to submit to
the Board for its prior approval educational programs or courses of no less than 40 hours per
year for each year of probation. The educational programs or courses were required to be at
respondent’s expense and were to be in addition to the Continuing Medical Education (CME)
requirements for renewal of licensure. Respondent was required to provide proof of 65 hours
of CME attendance, of which 40 hours were to be in satisfaction of Condition 3.

(B)  Condition 6 of the Decision and Order required respondent to undergo
and complete a psychiatric evaluation by a Board-appointed psychiatrist. Respondent was
ordered “[to] pay the cost of all psychiatric evaluations and psychological testing.” (Ex. 5.)

' (C)  Condition 7 of the Decision and Order required respondent to undergo
a medical evaluation by & Board-appointed physician. Respondent was ordered “[to] pay the
cost of the medical evaluation(s) and treatment.” (Ex. 5.) :

(D)  Condition 8 of the Decision and Order is entitled “MONITORING —
PRACTICE/BILLING” and required respondent to participate in a professional enhancement
program equivalent to the one offered by the Physician Assessment and Clinical Education
program at the University of California, San Diego School of Medicine (PACE), including,
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at minimum, quarterly chart review, semiannual practice assessment, and semiannual review
of professional growth and education.! Respondent was ordered to participate in the
professional enhancement program at his own expense during the term of probation.

(E).  Condition 9 of the Decision and Order prohibited respondent from
prescribing any controlled substances and required respondent to notify all patients of the
prohibition. 'Condition 9 expressly provided, “Respondent shall maintain a log of all patients
to whom the required oral notification was made... and keep this log in a separate file or
ledger, in chronological order, [and] shall make the log available for immediate inspection
and copying on the premises at all times during business hours by the Board or its designee,
and shall retain log for the entire term of probation.”

(F)  Condition 11 of the Decision and Order prohibited respondent from
supervising physician assistants during the term of probation.

(G)  Condition 20 of the Decision and Order requited respondent to pay the
costs associated with probation monitoring each and every year of probation by J anuary 31
of each calendar year. : ' ' ’

7. Condition 17.0f Decision and Order expressly states: “Respondent shall
comply with all financial obligations-(e.g., restitution, probation costs) not later than 120
calendar-days prior to the completion of probation.” (Ex. 5, attachment 2.) Respondent’s
estimated completion date of probation is December 24, 2021. Therefore, respondent must
comply with all financial obligations not later than August 26, 2021.

8. . Condition 18 of Decision and Order expressly states: “Failure to fully comply
with any term or condition of probation is a violation of probation. If Respondent violates

probation in any respect, the Board, after giving Respondent notice and the opportunity to be -

heard, may revoke probation and carry out the disciplinary order that was stayed.” (Ex. 5,
attachment 2.)

Compliance with the Terms of Probation

9. On January 20, 2015, respondent completed the psychiatric evaluation
required by Condition 6 of the Decision and Order. In a letter dated February 27, 2015,
respondent was informed that the evaluator found him safe to practice medicine, subject to a
further neuropsychological evaluation, psychotherapy, and treatment with a Board internist
or family practitioner. The cost of the evaluation was $2,400. ’

! The Board has published.a Manual of Model Disciplinary Orders and Disciplinary
Guidelines, 12" Edition, 2016 (Board Guidelines), which provide model terms for
MONITORING —~PRACTICE/BILLING. The mode! terms include lengthy provisions for
the designation of a practice monitor. As an alternative, the model terms provide for
participation in a professional enhancement program at the election of the licensee. The
Decision and Order omits these elective provisions, mandating enrollment in a professional
enhancement program, without any explanation for the deviation from the model terms.
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10.  On February 29, 2015, after completing the medical evaluation required by
Condition 7 of the Decision and Order, respondent was notified that the evaluator found him
medically safe to practice medicine, subject to designating a primary care physician for
periodic monitoring of hypertension, immunizations, cancer screening, and prescribing
medication. Respondent designated Dr. Steven Clark as his primary care physician, The
cost of the evaluation was $949. '

11, On October 27, 2015, after completing the neuropsychological evaluation -
recommended by the psychiatric evaluator, respondent was informed that the evaluator found
him safe to practice medicine, subject to ongoing psychotherapy. The cost of the
. neuropsychological evaluation was $2,937.50.

- 12, To comply with Condition 8 of the Decision and Order, respondent timely
enrolled in the Physician Enhancement Program (PEP) at PACE. OnJuly 1, 2015, PACE
sent respondent an invoice in the amount of $2,125 for the July 2015 quarterly period.

13. By the date of the hearing, respondent was in compliance with all educational
course requirements imposed by Condition 3 of the Decision and Ordet. By recently
completing over 40 hours of continuing education courses, respondent now has a total of 191
credits. He otherwise satisfied Condition 4 of the Decision and Order by attending a
prescribing practices course on October 26-28, 2015.

14, Respondent has not prescribed controlled substances, in compliance with
Condition 9 of the Decision and Order. Respondent informed his probation monitor that “he
did not obtain a DEA certificate, and that his office turns away any potential patient inquiring
about controlled substances.” (Ex 5, attachment K, p. 3.) -

15.  Respondent has regularly met with his probation monitor as directed. The cost
of probation monitoring was $4,106 in 2015 and $3,667 in 2016.

Allegations of Noncompliaice with the Terms of Probation

16.  The evidence shows that respondent’s current financial obligation to the Board
is $14,059.50, including reimbursement for the costs of the above-described psychiatric,
medical, and neuropsychological evaluations, and for probation monitoring costs. (Factual

Findings 9-11 and 15.) Respondent has not yet paid any of these costs.

17.  Conditions 6 and 7 of the Decision and Order require respondent to pay the
costs of the ordered evaluations, but do not specify when the financial obligations are due
and payable. Condition 17 provides that “all financial obligations” must be satisfied on or
before August 26, 2021. (Factual Finding 7.) Complainant has failed to establish by a




preponderance of the evidence that respondent s failure to pay these costs by the date of the
hearing constitutes a violation of probation.

18.  Respondent failed to pay the costs of probation monitoring by January 31 of
each calendar year as required by Condition 20 of the Decision and Order. Although
Condition 17 specifically refers to probation costs in setting a general deadline for -
satisfaction of all financial obligations, Condition 20 is more specific. Moreover, on March
29, 2017, respondent executed an agreement to pay the 2016 probation monitoring costs in
two quarterly payments on August 1, 2017 and November 1, 2017. (Ex. A.) By stipulating
to an extension of the 2016 probation monitoring costs, respondent implicitly conceded that
probation costs are due by January 31 of each year. Accotdingly, complainant has proven by

a preponderance of the evidence that the failure to pay the 2015 probation momtormg costs is
a violation of probation.

’
]

19.  On September 14, 2015, PACE suspended respondent from PEP because he
failed to pay the amount due for the July 2015 quarterly period. In November 2016,
respondent paid PACE $3,875. He was reinstated by PACE only to be suspended again.
The suspensions have caused respondent to violate Condition 8 of the Decision and Order
because he has been unable to participate in‘a professional enhancement program with
quarterly chart review, semiannual practice assessment, and semiannual review of
professional growth and education.

, 20. . Respondent has inserted the following notice in the file of all of his patients:
“ATTENTION ALL PATIENTS: THIS OFFICE DOES NOT PRESCRIBE ANY
SCHEDULED MEDICATION. SO PLEASE DO NOT REQUEST FOR THESE KINDS
-OF MEDICATIONS.” (Ex. E.) Respondent explained to the Board, “Any potential patient
is informed prior to signing in that we do not prescribe any Scheduled (narcotic) medication.
We therefore have no need for log of patients requesting these kinds of medications.” (Ex. 5,
attachment M) However, Condition 9 requires notification to “all patients being treated” by
respondent, regardless of a patient’s demand or need for controlled substances. The implied
- purpose of the log is to document when and to whom the notification was given, regardless
of the administration of controlled substances-to the patients who receive the notification,
" By failing to establish and keep a log with the information described at Condition 9 of the
Decision and Order, respondent has violated the terms of probation. (Ex. 5.)

? Complainant has the burden of proving that probation revocation is warranted by a
preponderance of the evidence. “While the board is required to prove the allegations in an
accusation by clear and convincing evidence, it is only required to prove the allegations in a
petition to revoke probation by a preponderance of the evidence.” (Sandarg v. Dental Bd. of -
California (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1434, 1441; see also Evid. Code, § 115.)

-5




Respondent’s Evidence of Financial Hardship

N

21.  Respondent is a veteran of the Vietnam War, and was recognized for having
an “honorable” character of service and released from active duty on September 7, 1969.
(Ex. G.) Since then, he has suffered from Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), as
documented by the Chief of PTSD Services at the West Los Angeles Veterans
Administration Medical Center. In 1991, following the dissolution of a “short and stormy
marriage” and the onset of Operation Desert Storm, respondent suffered “a deep, recurring
depressiont which .. . left him unable to work, homeless and mentally shattered.” (Ex. G.)
By 1993, respondent had reinstated his license and, in 1995, he resumed working as a sole
practitioner in South Central Los Angeles. In 2000, a fire in his building destroyed all of his
records and equipment. Respondent lost his clientele and struggled to rebuild his practice.
He began prescribing excessive medication “because [he] was really struggling to keep . .
afloat.” (Ex G.) He was subsequenily arrested, indicted, and convicted of the substantlally
related crime described at Factual Finding 4.

22. Respondent’s dauighter entered medical school at the time his license was
suspended. In addition, respondent’s elderly mother was in declining health during the first
two years of respondent’s probation, imposing further financial demands on respondent. In
February 2017, respondent’s mother died. As a result, respondent stands to receive funds
from the sale of her house and to gain financial relief from the expenses relating to cross-
country travel to oversee her care needs. ]

23. Respondent is in the process of paying the arrearage on the PACE program.
Respondent testified that he anticipates being able to cure all financial obligations to the
Board in 60 days. :

24.  Respondent-has experienced financial hardship in paying the costs imposed by
the Decision and Order. He currently performs disability evaluations, with gross monthly
earnings of approximately $12,000. His office expenses are approximately $5,500 per
month. He currently lives in a motel room, costing $400 per week. The bank statement that
respondent presented as proof of payment to PACE in November 2016 reflects a closing
balance of $626.33. (Ex.D.)

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS

1. The Medical Practice Act governs the rights and responsibilities of the holder
of a physician’s and surgeon’s certificate. (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 2000 et seq.) The state’s
obligation and power to regulate the professional conduct of its health practitioners is well
settled. (Skea v. Board of Medical Examiners (1978) 81 Cal.App.3d.564; Fuller v. Board of
Medical Examiners (1936) 14 Cal.App.2d 732.) The purpose of a disciplinary action is not
to punish, but to protect the public. (Watsor v. Superior Court (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 1407,
1416.) Protection of the public is the highest priority for the Board in exercising its :




disciplinary authority and is paramount over other interests in conflict with that objective.
(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 2001.1.) - . _ '

2, A licensee who has been found guilty under the Medical Practice Act may
have his or her license révoked, suspended for a period not o exceed one year, placed on
- probation and required to pay the cost of probation monitoring, or such other action taken in

relation to discipline as the Board or administrative law judge deems proper. (Bus. & Prof,
Code, § 2227.) '

3.~ Anadministrative law judge of the Medical Quality Hearing Panel is

* mandated, wherever possible, to take action that is calculated to aid in the rehabilitation of
the licensee, or where, due to a lack of continuing education or other reasons, restriction on
scope of practice is indicated, to order restrictions as are indicated by the evidence. (Bus, &
Prof. Code, § 2229, subd. (b).)

4. Respondent previously admitted that cause was established to revoke his
‘license, and stipulated to reasonable terms and conditions of probation. The Decision and
Order expressly provided that,"if respondent violated the congditions of probation, the Board
may set aside the stay order and impose the stayed discipline of respondent’s license.

S. In spite of the opportunity to retain his license, respondent failed to participate
in a professional enhancement program as required by Condition 8 of the Decision and
Order, he failed to maintain a log as required by Condition 9 of the Decision and Order, and
he failed to pay the 2015 probation monitoring costs as required by Condition 20 of the -
Decision and Order. - . B

6. Accordingly, cause exists to grant the Petition and revoke probation.
However, under the circumstances, it is possible to take action that is calculated to aid in
. respondent’s rehabilitation. Specifically, in light of the change in circumstance resulting
from the death of his mother and his efforts to cure the arrearages owed to PACE, allowing
respondent additional time to restore his enrollment status at PACE will aid in his
rehabilitation. Moreover, the Decision and Order omitted for unstated reasons other
acceptable provisions in the Board Guidelines that may have been less financially -
burdensome. Respondent has credibly demionstrated that his failure to pay the costs of -
enrollment is based on a bona fide financial hardship, not on an unwillingness to comply
with the Decision and Order. Also, respondent’s documented medical condition of PTSD
warrants reasonable accommodation by the grant of additional time.

7. In spite of having regularly met with his probation monitor, respondent
credibly testified that he believed in good faith that a log was not required if he rejected any
patient requesting controlled substances. The log is an administrative mechanism to
facilitate the Board’s oversight and verification that notification was given to patients, but
public protection is primarily achieved by the actual notification to patients, which
.respondent has done. Allowing respondent additional time to establish a notification log will
aid in his continuing rehabilitation. ; : :




8. Pursuant to the Board Guidelines, the minimum penalty for violations of
probation is a 30 day suspension, and the maximum penalty is revocation. Respondent has
not engaged in repeated similar offenses and his violations do not reveal a cavalier or
recalcitrant attitude. On the contrary, respondent has demonstrated compliance in
substantive respects, completing required educational courses and undergoing psychological
and medical evaluations to assess his fitness to practice. To revoke respondent’s license
based on administrative deficiencies and financial obstacles would be unduly punijtive under
the circumstances. If respondent is able to promptly correct all probation violations and
satisfy outstanding financial obligations to the Board, even the minimum penalty may be
excessive. Accordingly, respondent’s certificate will be suspended for 30 days, unless he
demonstrates compliance with Conditions 8 and 9, and pays the Board the sum of
$10,392.50, within 60 days of the effective date of this Decision.

9. Although not technically a violation of probation in this case, respondent’
financial difficulty in promptly paying or reimbursing the Board is nonetheless cause for
concern. Respondent’s financial instability in 2006 influenced his active participation in a
crime substantially related to his duties and responsxblhtles as a-physician and surgeon.

+ Accordingly, his financjal struggles during the first two years of probation give rise to a risk
of recurrence. Extending the term of respondent’s probation for an additional two years is
warranted to enable the Board to oversee respondent’s continuing rehabilitation and to
protect the public.

_ 10.  Except as otherwise ordered by this Decision, the Decision and Order will
remain in full force and effect. :

ORDER ' ‘

1. The Petitioﬁ is granted. Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate number
-A31509 issued to respondent Tyron Cleon Reece is suspended for 30 days, to commence 60
days after the effective date of this Decision.

2. . Altematively, in lieu of license suspension, respondent may elect to satisfy the
following conditions within 60 days of the effective date of this Decision: '

(A) Pay the Board the sum of $10,392.50 as reimbursement for I:he costs of
the above-described psychiatric, medical, and neuropsychological evaluations, and in
payment oi the costs of probation monitoring for 2015;

(B) "Provide proof to the Board that respondent is actively enrolled in PEP
at PACE as required by Condition 8 of the Decision and Order;

3 Because respondent and the Board have agreed to p'aymen't of the 2016 probation
monitoring costs in quarterly installments, the sum of $3,667 is excluded from this amount,

8




©) Provide proof to the Board that respondent has established a log
containing the data required by Condition 9 of the Decision and Order.

3. The term of probation is extended for two years and is now scheduled to
expire on December 24, 2023, : :

4. Except as otllcrwise'ordered bif this Decision, the stay order and all _
probationary terms and conditions of the Decision and Order shall remain in full force and
effect. o

: ' DocuSlg'ned by: |
ottt hew gv%
MA;I“THEW“C%OLDSBY

.Administrative Law Judge
Office of Administrative Hearings

DATED: August 22, 2017
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA™

KAMALA D. HARRIS , MEDICAL BOARD-OF CALIFORNIA
Attorney General of California SACRAMENTO (¢4~ 24t 20 | (o
ROBERT McKim BELL BY _{>.'Ry vl > ANALYST
Supervising Deputy Attorney General . '
CHRIS LEONG
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 141079

California Department of Justice

300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702

Los Angeles, CA 90013

Telephone: (213) 897-2575

Facsimile: (213) 897-9395
Attorneys for Complainant

BEFORE THI
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA -
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Petition to Revoke Probation | Case No. 8002016023827
Against: :

A PETITION TO REVOKE PROBATION
TYRONE CLEON REECE, M.D.

1550 N. D Street, Ste. D
San Bernardino, California 92405-4720

Physician’s and-Surgeon's Certificate A 31509,

Respondent.

Complainant alleges:

PARTIES

1. Kimbetly Kirchmeyer (Complainant) brings this Petition to Revoke Probation solely
in‘her official capacity as the Exeoutive Director of the Medical Board of California (Board).

2. On September 1, 1977, the Board issuéd Physician’s and Surgepn's Certificate
number A 31509 to Tyrone Cleon Reece, M.D. (Respondent). That license was in effect at all
ﬁ'mes relevant to the charges brought herein and will expire on October 31, 2017, unless renewed.

3. On N.ovember 24, 2014, in a disciplinary action entitled In the Matter of Accusation
Against Tyrone Cleon Reece, M.D., Medical Board Case No. 11-2010-211926, the Board issued

a Decision effective December 24, 2014, in which Respondent’s Physician and Surgeon’s

1
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Certificate was revoked. However, the revocation was stayed and Respondent’s Certificate was
placed on probation for a period of seven (7) years with certain terms and conditions. A copy of
that Decision is attached as Exhibit A and is incorporated by reference.

JURISDICTION

4. This Petition to Revoke Probation is brought before the Board under the authority of
thé "foHowing provisions of the California Busiﬁes;s and Professions Code {Code) unless otherwise
indicated. _

5. Section 2227 of the Code provides tﬁat a licensee who is found guilty under the-
Medical Practice Act may havelhis or her license revoked, suspended for a period not to exceed
one year, placed on probation and recitiired to pay the costs of probation monitoring, or such other
action taken in relation to discipiine as the Board deems proper.

6.  Section 822 of the Codé provides:

“If a licensing agency determines that its licentiate’s ability to practice his or her
profession safely is impaired because the licentiate is mentally ill, or physically ill affecﬁﬁg
competency, the licensing agency may take action by any one of the following methods:

“(a) Revoking the licéntiate’s certificate or license.

“(b) Suspending the licentiate’s right to practice.

“(c) Placingthe licentiate on probation..

“(d) Taking such otheraction in relation to the licentiate ag tﬁe licensing agency in its
discretion deems. proper. The licjensing agency shall not.reinstate a revoked or suspended
certificate or license until it has received competent _evideﬁce of the absence or contro] of
the condition which caused it:;: action and until it is satisfied that with due regard for the
ppblic health and safety the person’s right to practice his or her profession may be safely
reinstated.” |

7. © Section 824 of the Code provides:
“The licensing agency may procéc_d against a licentiate under either Section 820, or
8}2, or under both sections.”

1

2
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this condition.

FIRST CAUSE TO REVOKE PROBATION -

(Education Course)
8. Condition 3 of the Board’s Decision and Order Jn the Matter of Accusation Againsz‘

Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.," Case No. 11-2010-211926, which became effective on December 24
2014 states: '

“ EDUCATION COURSE. Within 60 caiendar days of the effective date of this Decision,
and on an annual bas.is thereafter, Respondent shall submiit to the Board or its designee for
its prior approval educational program(s) or course(s) which shal'! not be less than 40

- houws per year, fer each year of probation. The edﬁcaﬁonal program(s) or course(s) shall
be aimed at cerrecting any areas of deficient practice or knowledge and shall be Category
I certified. The educational program(s) or course(s) shall be at Respphdent’s expense and
shail be in addition to the Contieuing Medical Education (CME) requirements for renewal
of licensure. Following the completion of each course,.the Board or.its designee tmay
administer an examination to test Respondent’s krioyvledge of the course. Respondent
shall provide proof of attendance for 65 hours of CME of which 40 hours were in
satisfaction of this condition.” .

9. Respondent’s probation is subject to revocation because he failed to comply with
Probation Condmon 3, referenced above in that he failed to successfully complete the education
courses. The facts aud circumstances regaldmg this violation are as follows: he failed to prov1de
sixty-five (_65) Contmumg Medical Education (CME) hours to the Board by December 24, 2015,
He provided forty-six (46) . -Also on November 3, 2015, the Board sent Respondent a letter
informing him that at that time he needed to provide thirty-eight (38) CME hours to comply with

SECOND CAUSE TO REVOKE PR_OBATI(SN

(Failure to Participate ina Professional Enhancement Program).
10. Condition 8 of the Board’s Decision and Order Inn the Matter of Accusation Against
Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.," Case No. 11-2010-211926, which became effective en December 24,
2014, states:’

3
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. “MONITORING - PRACTICE/BILLTNQ. With.in 30 calendar days of the effective ciate of
this Decision, Respondent shall participa;ce ina profeissionel enhancement program
equivalent to the one offered by the Physician Assessment and Clinical Education Program
at the University of California, San Diego School of Medxeme, that.includes, at minimum,
quarterly chart review, semi- annual practice assessment, and semi-annual review of -
professional growth and education. Respondent shall participate in the professional
enhancement program at Respondent’s expense dunng the term of probation.”

11. Respondent’s probation is subject to 1evocat10n because he failed to comply with .
Probation Condition 8, referenced above, in that he failed to successfully complete the
Professional Enhancement Progfarn (PEP). The facts and circumstances regarding this vi.olation
are as follows: On September 14, 2015, the Board received an e-mail from N.F.,! Director at
Physiei‘an Assessment and Clinical Education Program (PACE), In this email was an attached
letter stating that Respondent had been sugpended i.i'om participation in the PEP program until
payment of $2,125 for the month of July 2-015 Quarterly Period was paid in full. As oftoday,
Respondent has failed to provide proof of this paymient. = -

THIRD CAUSE TO REVOKE PROBATION

(Failure to Notify Patients of Prohibited Pr.actice) ' '
12. Condition 9 of the Board’s Decision and Order In the Matter of Accusation Against
Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.," Caee No. 11-2010-211926, which became effective on December 24,
2014, states:

“PROPHﬁITED PRACTIGE. During probation, Respondent is prohibited from prescribing
any controlled substances. After the effective date of this Decision, all patients being |
treated by the Respondent shall be notified that the Respondent is prohibited from
prescribing any controlled substances:. Any new patients must be provided this notiﬁeatien
at the time of their initial appointment,

Respondent shall maintain a log of all patients to whom the reqnired oral notification was

! The names are redacted to initials for privacy.
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made. The log shall contain the: 1) patient’s name, address and phone number; 2) patient’s
miedical record number, if available; 3) the full name of the person making the notification;
4) the date the notification was made; and 5) a description of the notification given.
‘Respondent shall kéep this log in a separate file or ledger, in chronological order, shal]
make the log available for iinme;diate inspection and copying oﬂ the premises at all times
during business hours by the Board or its designee, and shall retain the log for the entire
term of prébation. »

'13.  Respondent’s probation is subject to revocation because he failed to comply with
Probation Condition 9, referenced abave, in that he failed to notify his patients of hig practice.
restrictions, The facts and cifcumstances regarding this violation are as follows. .In Probation
Quarterly Report Quarter 2, April 2016 — June 2016, page 3 of 4 states:

“Iinquired with [Respondent] pursuant to Condition #9 — Prohibited Practice, that he [was]
prohibited from prescribing any conirolled substanceé, and that he [was] required. to notify
all treating patients that he is prohibited from presctibing any controlied substances, and any
new patients must provide this notification at the time of their initial appointment,

[Respondent] stated that he did not obtain a DEA certificate, and that his office turns away -

any potential patient inquiring about controlled substances. Therefore no log is kept. [The

Board] requested [that] [Respondent] provide .., something in writing...” :

Respondent sent a letter dated April 8, 2016, stating that he has no log because he does not
pLescnbe contr olled substances However as of today, Respondent hqs falled to provide proof of
this notification to all treating patients, that he is prohibited from prescnbmg any controlled
substances, and any new patients must be provided this notification at the time of their initial
appointment.

. FOURTH CAUSE TO REVOKE PROBATION

(Failure to Pay the Cost of Psychiatric Evaluation)
14.  Condition 6 of the Board’s Decision and Order In the Matter of Accusation Against
Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.," Case No. 11-2010-211926, which became éffective on Decembcg 24,
2014, states: -

5
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.other information the psychiatrist deems relevant, and shall furnish a written evaluation

Probation Condition 6, referenced above, in that he failed to pay the cost of the medical

evaluation, The facts and circumstances regarding this violation are as follows.

states: “ [Respondent] was also informed of his outstanding cost of the following: ...Medical

evaluation $2,400.00.” To date, Respondent has not paid this cost for the psychiatric evaluation.

follows:

“PSYCHIATRIC EVALUATION. Within 30 calendar days of the effective date of this
Decision, and on whatever periodic basis thereafter may be required by the Board or its
designee, Respondent shall undergo and complete a psychiatric evaluation (and
psychological testing, if deemed necessary) by a Board-appointed board certified

psychiatrist, who shall consider any information provided by the Board or designee and any

report to the Board or its designee. Psychiatric evaluations conducted prior to the effective
date of the Decision shall not be accepted towards the fulfillment of this requirement. -
Respondenf shall pay the cost of all psychiatric evaluations and psychological testing.
Respondent shall comply with all restrictions or coﬁditions recommended by the .evaluating :
psychiatrist within 15 calendar days after being notified by the Board or its designee.” -

15.  Respondent’s probation is sﬁbj ect to revocation because he failed to comply with
A.  InProbation Quarterly Report Quarter April 2016 ~ June 2016 page 3 of 4

B. OnNovember 3, 2015, the Board sent a letter to Respondent that stated as

“The Medical Board of California has received the results from the Neuropsychological
Evaluation you participated in as required by the Board’s Decision. The evaluator has
found that you are safe to practice medicine with the following tecommendations:. ..

In addition, the Board’s decision requires that the cost of this evaluation are to be paid by
you. The fec for the Neuropsychological Evaluation is $2,937.50.” To date, Respondent
has not paid this cost for the ngzuropsycl;iatric evaluation,

FIFTH CAUSE TO REVOKE PROBATION

(Failure to Pay Cost of Medical Evaiuation)

16. Condition 7 of the Board’s Decision and Order In the Matter of Accusation Against

6
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Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.," Case No. 11-2010-211 926, which became effective on December 24,
2014, states:

“MEDICAL EVALUATION AND TREATMENT. Within 30 calendar days of the

effective date of this Decision, and on a periodic basis thereafter as may be required by the
Board or its desighee, Respondent shall undergo a medical evaluation by a Board-appointed
' physician who shall consider any information provided by the Board or designee and any
other information the évaluating physician deems relevant and shall farnish a medical
report to the Board or its designee. Respondent shall provide the evaluating physician any
information and documentation thaf the evaluating physician may deem pertirié:;t.

Following. the evaluation, Respondent shallvcomply with all restrictions or conditions
recommended by the evaluating physician within 15 calendar days after being notified by

. the Board or its designee, If Respondent is required by the Board or its designee to
undergo medical treatment, Respondent shall within 30( caleﬁdgf days of the requirement -
notice, submit to the Board or its designee for prior approval the name and qualifications of
a California licenséd treating physician of Respondent’s choice. Upon approval of the
treating physicién, Respondent shall within 15 calendar days undertake 1nedi£:al treatment
and shall continue such treatment until further notice from the Board or its designee.

The treating physician shall consider any information provided by the Board ot its
designee or any other information fhg treating physician may deem pertinent prior to
commencement of t'reatmeﬁt. Respor;dént shall have the treating physician submit

- quarterly reports to.the Board or its designee indicating whether or not the Respohdent is
capable of practicing medicine safely. Respondent shall provide the Bbard or its designee
with any and all medical records pertaining to treatment, the Board or its deéignee deems

" necessary. '

If, prior to the completion of probation, Reépondent is found to be physically
incapable of resuming the practice of medicine without restrictions, the Board shall retain
continuing jurisdiction over Respondent’s license and the period of probation shall be

' extended until the Board determines that Respondent is physically capable of resuming the

7
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Respondent has not paid this cost for the mgcfical evaluation.

-practice of medicine without restrictions. Respondent shall pay the cost of the medical

evaluation(s) and treatment.” .

17. Respondent’s probation is subject to revocation Bécause he failed to comply with
Probation Condition 7, referenced-above, in that Vhe failed to pay the cost of the medical
evaluation. Thé facts and circumstances régabd’mg this violation are as follows. In Probation
Quarterly Report Quarter April 2016 — June 2016 page 3 of 4 states: © [Respondent] was aiso ‘

informed of his outstanding cost of the following: ...Medical evaluation $949.00.” To date,

SIXTH CAUSE TO REVOKE PROBATION
AFailure to Pay Probation Monetary Cos.t) |
18.  Condition 20 of the Board’s Decision and Order In the Matter af Accusaz‘i_én Against
Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. " Case No. 11 ~2010-21 1926, which became effective on becémber 24,
2014, states: | . |

“PROBATION MONITORING COSTS. Respond_ent shall pay the costs associated with
probation monitoring each and every yeaf of proba’;ion, as designaf:ed by the Board, which
may be adj usted on an annual basis. Such costs shall be payable to the Medical Board of
California é_nd delivered to the Board or its designee no later than January 31 of each
calendar year,” | .

19.  Respondent’s probation is subject to revocation because he failed -to comply with
Probation Condition 20, referenced above, in that he failed to pay probation mohitoring costs.
The facts and circumstances rf.:garding tfxis violation-are as follows. In Probation Quarterly
Report Quarter April 2016 — June 2016 page 3 of 4 states: “[ informed [Respopdent] of his 2015
probation monitoring cost of $4,106.00, which were due January 31, 2016... . To date,
Respondent has not paid this cost for 'the probation monitoring.

DISCIPLINE CONSIDERATIONS

20. To determine the degree of diséipline, if any, to be imposed on Respondent,

Complainant alleges that effective on or about December 24,2014, in a prior disciplinary action

entitled In the Matter of the Accusation Against Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D. before the Medical

8
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‘revocation was stayed and Respondent was place on seven (7) yeérs probation with terms and

No. 11-2010-211926 and imposing the disciplinary order that was stayed thereby fevoking

Board of California,” in Case No. 11-2010-211926, Respondent‘s license was revoked, the

conditions for conviction of a crime, commission of acts involving dishonesty or corruption,
excessive prescribing, rebates for patient referrals, violation of drug statutes, and general
unpfofeséional conduct. That decision is now final and is incorporated by reference as if fully set |
forth.
PRAYER
WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein alleged,
and that following‘the hearing, the Medical Board of Califomia issue a decision:

1. Revoking the probation that was granted by the Medical Board of California in Case

Physiéian’s and Surgeon's Certificate No. A 31509 issued to Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.;

2. Revoking or suspending -Physician’s and Surgeon's Certificate No. A 31 §O9 issued
to Tyron Cleon Reece, M.D.;

3. Revoking, suspending or denying approval of his authority to supervise physician
assistants, pursuant to section 3527 of the Code;

4,  If placed on probation, ordering him to pay the Medical Board of California the costs
of probation monitoring; and

5.  Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper.

DATED:. Odtober 24, 2016 - ‘Mdfu %M/%W

BERLY HMEYER
Executwe Director
Medical Board of California
Department of Consumer Affairs

State of California
Complainant
LA2016502025
62129757 .docx
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. BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE, OF CALIFORNIA
In the Métter of the Accusation Against: )
TYRON CLEbN REECE, M.D. ; Case No, 11-2010-211926
Physician's and Surgeon's ' ; -
Certificate No, A 31309 ) \
Respondent i :

DECISION AND ORDER

_ The attached Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order is hereby
adopted as the Decision and Order of the Medical Board of California,
Department of Consumer Affairs, State of California.

This Decision shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on December 24. 2014,

IT IS SO ORDERED: November 24. 2014.

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA

@a/&;w@/%

Dev Gnanadev, M.D., Chair
Panel B
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KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
E. A. JoNESIII _
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
CHRIS LEONG
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 141079
California Department of Justice

" 300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702

Los Angeles, CA. 90013
Telephone: (213) 897-2575
Facsimile: (213) 897-9395
E-mail: chris.leong@doj.ca.gov
Attorneys for Complainant

BEFORE THE
. MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER A¥TAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA .
In the Matter of the Accusation Against: Case No. 11-2010-211926
TYRON C. REECE, M.D, OAH No. 2014020139 ,
321 E, Hillerest Blvd.
Inglewood, CA 90301 STIPULATED SETTLEMENT AND
: DISCIPLINARY ORDER

Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No.
A 31509
' Respondent.

In the interest of a prompt dnd speedy settlement of this matter, consistent with the public

interest and the responsibility of the Medical Board of California of the Department of Consumer

Affairs (Board), the parties hereby agree to the following Stipulayteci Settlement and Disciplinary
Order whioh will be subr;ﬁitted to the Board for approval and adoption as the final disposition of
the Accusation. ' h
| PARTIES |

1.  Kimberly Kirchmeyer ("Complainant") is the Executive Director of the Board, She -
brought this action solely in her official capacity and is represented ip this matter by Kamala D,
Hai-ris, Attorney Ge'neral of the State of California, by Chris Leong, Deputy Attorney General.

) Respondent TYRON C. REECE, M.D. ("Respondent") is represented in this

proceeding by attorney Duare R. Folke, Esq., whose address is: 3450 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite

108-17, Los Angeles, CA 90010-2208.

f ’ . "STIPULATED SETTLEMENT (11-2010-211926)




BN B Y e

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

21

22
23
24
25
26
27
28

3. Onor about September 1, 1977, the Board issued Physician's and Surgeon's
Certificate No. A 31509 to Respondent. The Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate was in filll

force and effect at all times relevant to the charges brought in Accusation No. 11-2010-211926

“and will expire on October 31, 2015, unless renewed.

JURISDICTION

4. Accusation No. 11-2010-211926 was filed before the Board and is currently pending

against Respondent. The Accusation and all other statutorily required documents were properly

" served on Respondent on November 14, 2013, Respondent timely filed his Notice of Defense

contesting the Accusation.

5. A copy of Accusation No. 11-2010-211926 is attached as Exhibit A and is

incorporated herein by reference.

" ADVISEMENT AND WAIVERS

6.  Respondent has carefully read, fully discussed with counsel, and understands the
charges and allegations in Accusation No. 11-2010-211926. Respondent has also carefully read,

fully discussed with counsel, and understands the effects of this Stipulated Settlement and

' Disciplinary Order,

7. Respondent is fully aware of his legal rights in this matter, including the right to a
hearing on the charges and allegétio'ns in the Accusation; the right to be represented by counsel at
his own expense; the right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him; the right to
.pl'eSéﬁt evidence and to tesﬂfy'on his own behalf; the right to the issuance of subpoenas to compel
the aitendance of witnesses and the production of docﬁments; the right to reconsideration and
court review of an-adverse decision,; and. all other rights accorded by the California
IAdminisu'ativ'e Procedure Act and other applicable léws.

8.  Respondent voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waives and gives up each and
every right set forth above. '

CULPABILITY
9. . Respondent admits the truth of each and every charge and allegation in the First

Cause for Discipline in Accusation No. 11-2010-211926.

2
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10.  Respondent agrees that his Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate is subject to
discipline and he a‘grees to be bound by the Board's probationary terms as set forth in the
Disciplindry Order below.

11, Respondent agrees that if he ever petitions for early termination of probation or
modification of probation, or if the board ever petitions for revocation of probation, all of the.
charges and allegations contained in Accusation No. 11-2010-211926 shall be deemed true,
correct and fully-admitted by Respondent for purposes of that proceeding or any other licensing
proceeding invoIv'ing Respondent in the State of Califomia.

CONTINGENCY

12, This stipulation shall be subject to approval by the Medical Board of California.
Respondent un‘derstandst and agrees that counsel for Complainant and the staff of the Medical
Board of California may communicate directly with the Board regarding this stipulation and
settlement,'without notice to or participation by Reépondent or his counsel. By signing the
stipulation, Respondent understands and agrees that he may not withdraw his agreement or seek
to rescind the stipulation prior to the time the Board considers and acts upon it. If the Boérd fails
to adopt this stilpulation as its Decision and Order, the Stipulated Settlement anci Disciplinary
Order shall be of no force or effect, except for. this paragraph, it shall be inadmissible iﬁ. any legal
action bc;,tween the parties, and the Board shall not be disqualified from further action by having
considered this matter. '

13. The parties understand and agree that Portable Do'cx}mcnt Format (PDF) and facsimile
copies of this Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order, including Portable Document Format
(PDF) and facsimile signatures thereto, shall have the same force and effect as the originals,

14. In comsideration of the foregoing admissions and stipulatioﬁs, the parties agree that '
the Board may, without further notice or formal prooéeding, issue and enter the following
Disciplinary Order: '

DISCIPLINARY. ORDER

'IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No. A 31509 issued
to Respondent TYRON C. REECE, M.D. (Respondent) is revoked. However, the revocation is

3
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stayed and Respondent is placed on probation for seven (7) years on the following terms and

conditions.

1.  ACTUAL SUSPENSION As part of probation, Respondent is suspended from the

plaCtICG of medicine for ninety (90 days) beginning the sixteenth (16th) day after the effective

date of this decision.

2. COMMUNITY SERVICE - FREE SERVICES. Within 60 calendar days of the
effective date of this Decision, Respondent shall submit to the Board or its designee for prior
approval a community service plan in which Respondent shall within the first 2 years of

probauon, provide 100 homs of free services (e.g., medical or nonmedical) to a community or

non-profit organization. If the term of probation is deswnated for 2 years or less, the community

service hours must be 90mpleted not later than 6 months prior to the completion of probation.
Prior to engaging in any community service Respondent shall provide a true ¢opy of the
Decision(s) to the chief of staff, director, office manager, program manager, officer, or the chief
executive officer at every commﬁnity ot non-profit organization where Respondent provides
community service and shall submit proof of complia.nce to the Board or its designee within 15
calendar days. This condmon shall also apply to any change(s) in community service.
Community service performed prior to the efféctive date of the Decision shall not be

accepted in fulﬁllment of this condition.

3, EDUCATION COURSE. Within 60 calendar days of the effective date of this
Decis.ion, and on an annual basis thereafter, Respondent shall submit to the Board or its designee

for its prior approval educational program(s) or course(s) which shall not be less than 40 hours

.per year, for each year of probation. The educational program(s) or course(s) shall be aimed at

cotrecting any areas of deficient practice or knowledge and shall be Category I certified. The.

educational program(s) or course(s) shall be at Respondent’s expense and shall be in addition to
the Continuing Medical Education (CME) requirements for renewal of licensure. Following the .
completion of each course, the Board or its designee may administer an examination to test
Respondent’s knowledge of the course. Respondent shall provide proof of attendance for 65

hours of CME of which 40 hours were in satisFaction of this condition.

4
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4,  PRESCRIBING PRACTICES COURSE. Within 60 calendar days of the effective‘
date of this Decision, Respondent shall enroll in a course in prescribing practices equivalent to the
Presc%'ibing Practices Course at the Physiciaﬁ-Assessment and Clinical Education Program, |
University of California, San Diego School of Medicine (Program), approved in advance by the
Board or its designee. Respondent shall provide the pro grain with any information and documents
that the Program may deem pertinent. Respondent shall participate in and Successtully compléte
the cl.assroom component of the course not later that_n six (6) fnonths after Respondent’s initial
enrollment. Respondent shall successfully complete any other component of the course within
one (1.) year of enrollment, The prescribing practices course shall be at Respondent’s expense
and shall be in addition to the Continuing Medical Education (CME) requirements for renewal of
licensure. '

A prescribing practices course tak.en after the acts that gavé rise to the charges in the
Accusation, but prior to the effective date of the Decision may, in the sole discretion of the Board
or its designee, be accepted towards the fulfillment of this condition if the course would have
been approved by the Board or its designee had the course been taken after the effective date of
this Decision.

Respondent shall submit a certification of successful completion to the Board or its
designee not later than 15 calendar days after successfully cbmplet'mg the course, or not later than
15 calendar days after the effective date of the Decision, whichever is later.

5. - PROFESSIONALISM PROGRAM (ETHICS COURSE). Within 60 calendar days of

the effective date of this Décision, Respondent shall enroll in a professiqnalism program that
meets the 1‘equix'emerits of Title 16, California Code of Regulations (CCR) section 1358,
Respondent shall pﬁicipatc in and successfullf complete that program. Respondent shall
provide any information and docu.ments that the program may deem pertinent. Respondent shall
successfully complete the classroom component of the program not later than six (6) months after
Respondent’s initial enrollment, and the longitudinal component of the program not later than the
time specified by the pro g£m1, but no later than one (1) year after attending the classroom

component. The professionalism program shall be at Respondent’s expense and shall be in

5
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addition to the Continuing Medical Education (CME)_requh'ements for renewal of licensure. .

A professionalism program taken after the acts that gave rise to the charées in the
Accusation, but prior to the effective ﬁate of the. Decision may, in the sole discretion of the Board
or its designee, be accepted towards the fulfillment of this condition if the program would have
been approved by the Board or its designee had the program been taken after the &ffective date of
this Decision.

Respondent shall submit a certification of successful completion to the Board or its
designee not later than 15 calendar days after successfully completing the program or not late;
than 15 calendar days after the effective date of the Decision, whichever is later.

6. 'PSYCHIATRIC EYALUATION. Within 30 calendar days of the effective date of

this Decision, and on whatever periodié basis thereafter rhay be required by the Board or its
designee, Respondent shall undergo and complete a psychiatric evaluation (and psychological
testing, if deemed necessary) by. a Board-appointed board certified psychiattist, who shall
consider any information provided by the Board or designee and any other information the '
psychial‘crist deems x:elevant, and shall furnish a written evaluation report to the Board or its
designée. Psychiatric evaluations conducted prior to the effective date of the Decision shall not'
be accepted towards the fulfillment of this requirement. Respondgnt shall ﬁay the cost of all
psychiatric evaluations and psychological testing. '

. Respondent shall comply with all restrictions or cond1t10ns recommended by the evaluatmg

psychiatrist within 15 calendar days after being notified by the Board or its designee,

7. MEDICAL EVALUATION AND TREATMENT. Wlthm 30 calendar days of the

effective date of this Decision, and on a periodic basis thereafter as may be required by the Board
or its designee, Respondent shall undergo a medical evaluation by a Board-appointed physman

who shall consider any information pr ov1ded by-the-Board-or deSLgnee and any-other- mformanou

the evaluating physician deems relevant and shall furnish a medical report to the Board or its
designee. Respondent shall provide the evaluating physician any information and documentation
that the evaluating physician may deem pertinent. -

Tollowing the evaluation, Respondent shall comply with. all restrictions or conditions

6
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recommended by the evaluating physician within 15 calendar days after being notified by the
Bogrd or its designee. If Respondent 1s required by the Board or its designee 1o undergo medical
treatment, Respondent shall within 30 calendar days of the requirement notice, submit to the
Board or its designee for prior approval the name and qualifications of a Cah'fornia licensed
treating physician of Respondent’s choice. Upon”approval of the treating physician, Respondent
shall within 15 calendar days undertake medical treatmerﬁ and shall continue such treatment until

further notice from the Board or its designee.

The treating physician shall consider any information providéd by the Board or its designee

or any other information the treating physician may deem pertinent prior to commencement of

treatment. Respondent shall have the treating physician submit quai'terly reports to the Board or
its designee indicaﬁng.wheﬂ1er or not the Respondent is capable of practicing medicine safely,
Respondent shall provide the Board or its designee with any and all medical records pertaining to
treatmeﬁt, the Board or its designee deems necessary.

If, prior to the -cc')mpletion of probation, Respondent is found to be physically incapable of
resuming tﬁe practice of medicine without restrictions, the Board shallhrctain,coﬁtmuing
jurisdiction over Respbndent’s license and the period of probation shall be extended unti] the
Board determine_sAthat Respondent is physically capable of resuming the practice of médicine

without restrictions. Respondent shall pay the cost of the medical evaluation(s) and treatment,

8. MONITORING - PRACTICE/BILLING. Within 30 calgndar days of the effective
date of this Decision, Respondent shall participate in a professional enhancem.ent program
equivalent to the'one offered by the Physician Assessment and Clinical Ediication Program at the
University of California, San Diego School of Medicine, that inclndes, at minimum, quarterly

chart review, semi-annual practice assessment, and semi-annual review of professional growth

24
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arideducationRespondent shall participate i the-professional enhancement programrat
Respondent’s expense during the term of probation.

9. PROHIBITED PRACTICE. During probation, Respondent is prohibited frém

prescribing any controlled substances. After the effective date of this Decision, all patients being

treated by the Respondent shall be notified that the Respondent is prohibited from prescribing any

7
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controlled substances. Any new patients must be provided this notification at the time of their
initial appointment.

Respondent shall maintain a log of all patients to whom the required oral notification was
made. The log shall contain the: 1) patient’s name, address and phone number; 2) patient’s
medical record number, if available; 3) the full name of the person making the not.iﬁcation; 4) the
date the notification was made; and 5) a description of the notification given. Respondent shall

keep this log in a separate file or ledger, in chronological order, shall make the lo gravailable for

_ immediate inspection and copying on the premises at all times during business hours by the Board

or its designee, and shall retain the log for the entire term of probation.

10. NOTIFICATION. Within seven (7) days of the effective date of this Decision, the

' Respondem shall provide a true copy of this Decision and Accusation to the Chief of Staff or the

Chief Executive Officer at every hospnal where privileges or membersh.tp are extended to
Respondent, at any other facility where Resp_ondent engages in the practice of medicine,
including all physician and locum tenens registries or other similar agencies, and to the Chief
Executive Officer at every insurance carrier which extends malpfactice insurance coverage 10
Respondent. Respondent shall submit proof of compliance to the Board or its designee within 15
calendar daJys.

“This oondition shall apply to any changé(s) in hospitals, other facilities or insurance carrier.

11. SUPERVISION OF PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS. During probatlon Respondent is

prohibited from supervising physician assistants,

12. .OBEY ALL LAWS. Respondent shall obey all federal, state and local laws, all fules

governing the practice of medicine in California and remain in full compliance with any court

ordered criminal probation, payments, and other orders.

13 uUARTERL‘Y‘DEGIMTTGNS.—Respond’ent‘shal‘lmbmirquafcefly‘declarafio as

under penalty of perjury on fo.rms provided by the Board, stating whether there has been
compliance with all the conditions of probation.
Respondent shall submit quarterly declarations not later than 10 calendar days afier the end

of the preceding quarter.

STIPULATED SETTLEMENT (11-2010-211926)




14, GENERAL PROBATION REQUIREMENTS:.

2 Compliance with Probation Unit

3' Respondent shall comply \.Niﬂl the Board’s prbbation unit and all terms and éonditio'ns of

4 || this Deci$ion.

5 Address Changes

6 Respondent shall, at all tir;:xes, keep the Board informed of Respondent’s business aﬁd

7 || residence addresses, email address (if available), and telephone number. Changes of such

8 || addresses shall be immediately communicated in writing to the Board or its desigﬁee. Under no

9 || circumstances shall a post office box serve as an address of recérd, except as allowed by Business
10 || ‘and Pljof_essi'ons Code secﬁon 2021(b). ‘
11 Place of Practice
12 Re;pondent shall not engage in the prac‘tice of 1'11edicine in Respondent’s or patient’s place
13 || of residence, unless the patient resides in a skilled nursing facility or other similar licensed
14 || facility. |
15 License Renewal
lé Respondent shall maintain a current and renewed Caiifomia physicia.n’s and surgeon’s
17 il license.
18 Travel or Residence Qutside California
19 Respondent shall imrlnediately inform the Board or its desi‘gnee, in writing, of travel to any
20 |i areas outside the jurisdiction of California which lasts, or is contemplated to las.t, more than thirty
21 | (30) calendar days.
22 In the event Respondent should leave the State of California to reside or to practice
23 || Respondent shall notify the Board 61‘ its designee in writing 30 calendar days prior to the dates of | .
24— t—departure-and-return: .
25 15. INTERVIEW WITH THE BOARD OR ITS DESIGNEE. Respondent shall be
26 || available in person upbn request for interviews either at Respondent’s.place of business or at the
27 || probation unit office, with or without prior notice t111;oughout the term of probation.
28 16. NON-’PRACTICE WHILE ON PROBATION. -Respondent éhall notify the Board or

9
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its designee in writing within 15 calendar days of any periods of non-practice lasting more than

30 calendar days and within 15 calendar days of Respondent’s return to practice. Non-practice is

_deﬁned as any period of time Respondent is not practicing medicine in California as defined in

Bus'me'ss, and Professions Code sections 2051 and 2052 for at least 40 hows in a calendar month
in direct patient care, clinical activity or teaching, or other activity és approved by the Board, All
time spént in an intensive training program whioﬁ has been approvéd by the Board or its designee
shall not be considered non-praotice. Practicing medicine in another state of the United States or
Federal jurisdiction while on probatibn with the medical licensing authori;ty of that state or
jurisdiction shall not be considered non-practice. A Boafd—ordered sﬁspcns'ion of practice shall
not be considered as a period of non-practice. _

In the event Respondent’s period of non-practice while on probation exceeds 18 oaléndar
months, Respondent shall successfully complete a clinical training program that meets the criteria
of Condition 18 of the current version of the Board's “Manual of Model Disciplinary Orders and
Disciplinary Guidelines” prior to resurhing the practice of medicine.

Respondent’s period of non-practice while on prdbation shall not exceed two (2) year.s.

Periods of non-practice will not apply to the reduction of the probationary term.

Periods of non-practice will relieve Respondent of the responsibility to comply with the
probationary terms and conditions with the exception of this condition and the following terms

and conditions of probation: Obey All Laws; and General l?roba’tion Requirements.

17. COMPLETION OF PROBATION. Respondent shall comply with all financial
abligations (e.g., restitution, probation costs) ndt later than 120 calendar days prior to the

completion of probation. Upon successful completion of probation, Respondent’s certificate shall

be fully restored.

25
26
27
28

18— VIOLATION-OF PROBATION-—Failure-to-fully-comply with-any-term-er-condition

of probation is a violation of probation. If Respondent violates probation in any respect, the -
Board, after giving Respondent notice and the opportunity to be heard, may revoke probation and
cairy out the disciplinary order that was stayed. If an Accusation, or Petition to Revoke Probation,

or an Interim Suspension Order is filed against Respondent during probation, the Board shall have

10
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continuing jurisdiction until the matter is final, and the period of probation shall be extended unti]

2 || the matter is final.

3 19. LICENSE SURRENDER. Following the effective date of this Decision, if

4 || Respondent ceases practicing due to retivement or health reasons or is otherwise unable to satisfy

5 || the terms and conditions of probation, Respondent may request to surrender his or her license,

6 || The Board reserves the right to evaluate Respondent’s request and to exercise its discretion in

7 || determining whether or not to grant the request, or to take arly other action deemed appropriate

¢ || and reasonable under the cirpumstances. Upon formal acceptance of the surrender, Respondent

9 1| shall within 15 calendarvdays deliver Respondent’s wallet and wall certificate to the Board or its
10 || designee and Respondent shall no longer practice medicine. Respondent will no longer be subject
11 || to the terms and conditions of probation. If Respo ndent re-applies for a medical license, the
12 || application shall be treated as a pefition for‘remstatement of arevoked certificate,
13 20. PROB'ATION MONITORING COSTS. Respondent shall pay the costs associated
14 || with probation monitoring each and every year of probation, as designated by the Board, which
15 may. be adjusted on an annual basis. Such costs shall be payable to the Medical Board of
16 || California and delivered to the Board or its designee no later than January 31 of each célendar

© 17 1| year. |
18
19 ACCEPTANCE
20 I have carefully read the above Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order and have fully
21 || discussed it with my attorney, Duané R. Folke, Esq. Iunderstand the stipulation and the effect it
22 I will have on my Physician’s and Surgeon's Certificate. I enter into this Stipuléted Settlement and
| 23 Disciplinary Order voluntarily, lmowmgly, and ultelhgently, and aglee to be bound by the
24 || Decision and Otder of the Wedical Board of California.
25 |- S Z
26 || DATED: /gﬁ DA 7A Zo 4 g/ /‘/}W// el
/TYRON C. §EECE, M.D.
27 Responden
28 |
11
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I have read and fully discussed with Respondent TYRON C. REECE, M.D. the terins and

2 conditions and other matters contained in the above Stipulated Settlement and Diseiplinary Order.
3 || [ approve its form and content. ' :
4 | ’ . /‘// ) .
" _/‘ - " .
| oureo. ot Py W] Ak
- _ '(—%I%U//S.NE R. FOLKE.ESQ—"
6 ttorney for Respondent
7 ENDORSEMENT
8 The foregoing Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order is hereby respectfully
9 || submitted for consideration by the Medical Board of California. - |
10 '
Dated: : : Respectfully submitted,
i a 0@&,66)2/’)]7/0\\,‘ pectfully submitted,
KAMALA D. HARRIS
12 Altorney General of California
E. A Jongs TII
13 Supervising Deputy Attomey General
14 (/O\,; (;u;_/
15 CHRIS LEONG
16 Deputy Attorney General
Attorneys for Complainant
17 LA2013609293
18 61390134.doc
19
20
" 21 ’ )
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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o STATE OF GALIFORMIA
Attomey General of California
2 || B A JoNEs I DICAL BOARD-OF CALIFORNIA
I Supervising Deputy Attomey General - s Rl a1
3 || CHRISLEONG - C ST ICYEE: ANALYST
- |{ Deputy Attomney General s
4 || State Bar No, 141079 - ' ‘ : :
|| California Departmen of Justice
5 300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702
: Los Angeles, CA. 90013
6 Telephone: (213) 897-2575
' Faosimile: (213) 897-9395
7 E-mail: chris.leong@daj.ca.gov
g Attarneys for Complainant
BEFORE THE
9 MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
10 : STATE OF CALIFORNIA
11 ) ' '
" In the Matter of the Accusation Against: Case No. 11-2010-211926
TYRON C. REECE, M.D. ' ,
13"l 321 E, Hillérest Blvd,, _
L4 - Inglewood, California 90301 ' ACCUSATION
15' Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No, A 31509 A .
Respondent
16
17 Complainant alleges:
i8 | PARTIES
‘19 . 1. Kirnberly Kirchmeyer (Complainant) brings this Accusation solely in her official
- 20 || capacity-as the Interim Executive Director-of the Medical Board of California (Board).
21 2. Onor about September 1, 1977, the Board- issued Phy§iciérfs and Surgeon's Certificate
22 || Number A 31509 to TYRON C. REECE, M.D. (Respondent), The Physioian‘g and Surgeon's
23 Il Certificate was in full force and effect at all tirnes relevant to the charges brought herein' and will
24 || expire on October 31,2015, unless renewed. '
25 JURISDICTION
26 3, This Accusation is brought before the Board, under the authority of the following laws.
27 | All section references are to the Business a.ncl Professions Cede (Code) unless otherwise
indicated.

Acousation (11-2010-211926)
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4, Séction 2234 of the Code, states:

"The board shall take action against any licensee who is charged with nnprofessional
conduct, In addition to other provisions of this article, upprofessibnal conduet includes, but is n‘ot
lirnited to, the following: . .

"(a) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, assisting in or abetting the
vi.olaﬁon of, or conspiring to violatq any provision of this chépter.

“(b) Gross negligence.

"(c) Repeated négligent acts. To be repeated, there must be {wo or more negligent acts or
omissions. An initial negligent act or omission followed by a separate and disﬁﬁct departure from
the applicable standard of care shall constitute repeated negligent acts. | -

"(1) An initial negligent diagnosis followed by an act or omission medically
. appropriate for that negligent diagnosis of the paﬁen’c shall constitute 4 singl'e negligent act,
"(2) When the standard of care requires alchange in the diagnosis, act, or omission

that constifutes the negligent act described in paragraph (1), includiﬁg, but not limited to, a

reevaluation of the diagnosis or a change in treatmeht, and the licensee's conduct departs

from the applicable standard of care, each depar.tufe constitutes a separate and distinct
. breach of the standard of care. L

"(d) Incompetence.

".(e) The commiss'ion of any act involving dishonesty or corruption which is substantially
related to the qu,aliﬁcgti;)ns, functions, or duties of a physician and surgeon.

“(f) Any action or-conduct which would have warra:_lted the denial of a certificate.

“(g) The practice of medicine from this state into another state or country without meeting

24
25
26
27
28

thetegal requirements-of that state-or country for the-practice of medicine. Section 2314 shall not

apply to this subdivision. T bis subdivision shall become operative upon the implementation of the
proposed registration program described in Section 2052.5. ‘
"(k) The repeated failure by e certificate holder, in the absence of good cause, to attend and

participate in an intervisw scheduled by the mutual agreement of the certificate holder and the

2
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board. This subdivision shall oxily apply fo a certificate holder who is the subject of an
investigation by the board." '

5. Section 2227 of the Code states:

_"(a) A licensee whose matter has been heard by an adminis'(;rative law judge of the Medical
Quality Hearing Panel as designated in Section 11371 of the Government Code, or whose default |
has becn entered, and who is found guilty, or.who has entered into a stipulation for disciplinary
action with thé board, may, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter:

' "(1) Have his or her license revoked upon order of the bolard.
"(2) Have his or her right o practice suspended for a peﬂo.d not to exceed one year

upon order of the board.

"(3) Be placed on probation and be required to pay the costs of probation monitoring
. upon order of the board, A | .
~ "(4) Be publicly reprimanded by the board. The public reprimand may include a |
requirement that the licensee com-plete relevant educgtfonal courses approved by the board.
“(5) Have aqy other action talcen in relation to discipline as part of an order of
probation, as the board or an admipistrativc law judge may deem proper.

"(b) Any matter heard pursuant to subdivision (a), exeept for wéming letters, medical
review or advisory conferences, professional competency examinations, édntinuing'education
activities; and cost reimbursement associated therewith that are agreed to with the board and
successfully completed by the licenses, or other matters made confidential or privileged by
existing law, is deemed ﬁub]ié, and shall be made available to the public by the board pursuant to
Swﬁ011 g03.1." |

6.,  Section 2236 of the Code states:

A(a)-Theconviction of any offense substantially related to the qualifications, finetions, or
duties of a physician and surgeon constifittes unprofessional conduct within the meaning of this
chapter [Chapter 5, the Medical Practics Act]. “The record of conviction shall be conclusive

evidence only of the fact that the conviction occurred.
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A(b) ':l‘he district attorney, city attorney, or other prosecuting agency shall notify the
Division of Medical Quality of thé pendency of an action against a licensee charging a felony or
misdemeanor immediately upon obtaining inf91mation that the defendant is a licensee, The notice
shall identify the licensee and describe the crimes charged and the facts alleged. The prosecuting
agency shall also ﬁotify the clerk of the .court in which the aotién is pending that the defendantis a
licensee, and the clerk shall record prominently in the file that the. defendant holdg a l'm;anse asa
physician and surgeon, ' |

&{c) The clerk of the court in which a licensee is convictéd of a crime shall, within 48
hours after the conviction; transinit a certified copy of the record of conviction to the board. The

division may inquire into the circumstances surrounding the commission of a orime in order to fix

the degree of discipline or td determine if the conviction is of an offense sﬁbstantially related to

the qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician and sui‘geon.

A(d) A plea or verdict of guilty ora conviction after a plea of nolo contendere is deemed to

be a conviction. within the meaning of this section and Section 2236.1. The record of conviction

- shall be conclusive evidence of the fact that the conviction oceurred.@

7.  Section 2238 of the Code states:

AA violation of any federal statute or federal regulation ot any of the statutes or regulations
of this state regnlating dangerous arugs or controlled substances constitutes unprofessional
condnct.@

B,  Section 725 of the Cade states:

"() Repeated acts of clearly excess ive prescribing, furnishing, dispensing, or administering
of drugs or treatment, xepeated.acts of clearly excessive use of diagn‘ostic procedures, or repeated
acts of clearly excessive use of diagnostic or treatment facilities as determined by the standard of

the-community-of licensees is unprofessional conduct for a physician and surgeon, dentist,

[\
28 &

podiatrist, psychologist, physical therapist, chiropractor, optometrist, speech-language pathologist,
or audiologist. '
- “(h) Any person who engages in repeated acts of clearly excessive prescribing or

administering of drugs or trea"ament is guilty of a risdemeanor and shall be punished by a fine of

4
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1 || not less than one hundred dollars ($100) nior more than six hundred dollars ($600), or by
2 |} tmprisonment for & term of not less than 60 days nor more than 180 days, or by both'that fine and
3 || imprisonment, ' '
4 "'(c) A practitioner who has a medical basis for presctibing, furnishing, dispensing, or
5 || administering dangerous drugs or prescription controlled substances shall not be subject to
6 i disciplinary action or prosecution under this section, '
7 "(d) No physician and surgeon shall be subject to disciplinary aotion pursuant to this section
8 || for treating intractable pain in compliance with Section 2241.5."
9 9.  Section 630 of the Code states: ‘ _
10 “(a) Excéijt as provided in Chapter 2.3 (commencing with Sectian 1460}- of Division 2 of
11 || the Health and Safety Code, the offer, delivery, receipt, or acceptance by any person licensed .
12 1| under this division ot the bhiropraoticj Initiative Act. of any rebate, refund, commission,
13 |} preference, patronage dividend, discount, or other consideration, whether in the form of money ot
14 || otherwise, as compensation or inducement for referring patients, clients, or customers to any
15 || person, irrespective of any membership, pr.oprietary interest, or coownership m or with any person
16 || to whom these patients, clients, or customers are referred is unlawful.
17 “(b) The payment or recéipt of consideration for services other than the referral of patients
18 || which is based on a percentage of gross revenue or similar type of contractual arrangement shall
19 || not be unlawful if the consideration is commensurate with the value of the services furnished or
20 || with the fair rental value of any premises or equipment leased or provided by the recipient to the
21 || payer. i
29 “ (¢) The offer, delivery, receipt, or-acceptance of any consideration between a federally
23 || qualified health center, as defined in Section 1396d(D(2)(B) of Ti_tle 42 of the United States.Code,
24 || and any individual or entity proviting goods;items; sex vices; donations; loansyoracombination
25 | thereof to the health center entity pursuant to a contract, lease, grant, loan, or c_)’cher agreement, if
26 || thatagreement coﬁtributcs 1o the ability of the health center entity to maiutain or increase the
27 availabilit;y, or enhance the quality, of services provided to a medically underserved population
28 |
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served by the health center, shall be permitted only to the extent sanctioned or permitted by
federal law, _ . .

“(d) Exoept as provided in Chapter 2.3 (6onunencing with Section 1400) of Division 2 of
the Health and Safety Cade and in Sections 654.1 and 654.2 of ﬂ’llS code, it shall not be unlawful
for any person licensed under this division to refer a person to any laboratory, pharmaoy, clinic
(including entities exempt from licensure pursuant to Section 1206 of the Health and Safety
Code), or health care facility solely becanse the licensee has a proprietary interest or coownership

in the laboratory, pharmacy, clinic, or health care fa,cili‘ty, provided, however, that the liéensee‘s

' retuitn on investment for that proprietary interest or coownership shall be based upon the amount

of the capital investment or proportional ownership of the licensee which ownership intetest is no£
based on the number or value of any patients refeﬁed Any referral excepted under this section
shall be unlawful if the prosecutor proves that there was no valid medical need for the referral,

“(e) Except as provided in Chapter 2.3 (commencing with Section 1400) of Division 2 of
the Health and Safety Code and in Seotions 654.1 and 654.2 of this code, it shall not be unlawful
to 'provide nonmox.mtary remuneration, in the form of hardwars, software, or information
technology and training services, as desoribed in subsections (x) and (y) of Section 1001,952 of
Title 42 of the Code of Fe&e’ral chul»ations_, a.s amended October 4,2007, as published in the
Tederal Register (72 Fed. Reg. 56632 and 56644), and subsequently amended versions.

““(f) "Health care facility" means a general acute care hospital, acute psychiatric hospital,

. skilled nursing facility, intermediate care facility, and any other health facility licensed by the

State Depart;mént of Public Health under Chapter 2 (coﬁumenoing with Section 12507 of Division
2 of the Health and Safety Code.

“(g) A violation of this section is a public offense and is pumshable upon a first convietion

by imprisomment tn-a-county Jail-for not-morethan one year, ar by impri sonment mmuant 10

25

2 .
27

28

subdivision (h) of Section 1170 of the Penal Code, or by a fine nof exceeding fifty thousand
dolless ($50,000), or by both that imprisonment and fine. A second or subsequent conviction is
punishable by imprisonment pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section. 1170 of the Penal Code, or by
that imprisonment and & fine of fifty thousand dollars (§50,000).”

6
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" INTRODUCTION

10, This Accusation involves prescriptions for medications regulated by the
Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act, passed into law in 1970, Title IT of this’
l,aw, the Controlled Substances Act, is tilc legal foundation of narcotics enforcement in the United
States, The Controlled Substances Act regulates the manufacturs, poséession, movement, and
distribution of drugs in our cduntry. The Controlled Substé_nces Act places all drugs into one of
five schedules, or classifications, and is controlled by the bepmtment of Justice and the
]jcpartrnent of Health and Human Services, including the Federal Drug Administration, In 1972,
California followed the federal lead by adoptmg the Uniform Controlled Substance Act.
(Govemmen’c Code §11153 et seq.),

11, The fqllowing delineates the five schiedules with examples of drugs, medications,

and information about each.

12. Schedule I Drugs

- These drugs have NO safe, accepted medjcal use in the United States. This schedule
includes drugs such as beroin, ecstasy, LSD, and crack cocaine, Schedule I drugs have ahigh
tendency for abuse and have no accepted medical use, Pharmacies do not sell Schedule I drugs,
and they are not available with a preseription by phys191an.

13 Schedute I Drups o
Schedule 11 drugs have a high tendency for abuse, may have an accepted medic.al use, and

can produce de‘oendency or addiction with ChLODlG uge. Of all legal prescription medications,

‘Schedule II controlled substances have the kughest abuse potential, These drugs can cause severe

psych: ologlcal or physical dependence.. Schedule II drugs mclude certam narcotic; siimulant, and

depressant drugs, Examples of Schedule II drugs include cocaine, opium, morphmc, fentanyl

araphetamin 85 Al dmeth nmﬂkpfam'lh 68,

Schedule IT drugs may be availablc with a prescription by a physician, but not all

pharmacies may carry them., These drugs require more stringent records and storage procedures

than drugs in Schedules II and TV,
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EE N

O o N Oy W\

. 14, Sc_heduIe III Drugs

Schedule I drugs have less ﬁotential for abuse or addiction than drugs in the first two

schedules and have a currently accepted medical use, The abuse of Schedule III drugs may lead to
moderate to high psychological dependence.

Examples of Schedule IT drugs include codeine, hydrocodone with acetaminophen, or

anabolic steroids. Schedule III drugs may be avaﬂable with & prescription, but not all phaxmacm

'may carry them.,

.18, Schedule IV Drugs

. Schedule IV drugs have a low potential for abuse that leads only to limited physical
dependence or psychological dependence relative to drugs in Schedule II. Schedule [V drugs .

| have a currently accepted medical use and have limited addictive properties. Schedule IV drugs

have the same restriotions as Schedule Il drugs.

Examples of Schedule IV drugs include xanax, valium; phenobarbital, aﬁd rohypnol

| (comnmonly known as the "date rape” drug). These drugs may be evailable with a preseription, but

not all pharmacies may carry them.

16. Schedule V Drugs . _

Schedule V drugs have a lower cbanc;e of abuse than Schedule IV drugs, have a curently
accepted medical use in the United States, and lesser chance of dependence compared to Schedule
IV drugs. This schedule includes such drugs as cough suppressants with codeine.

CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES AND DANGERQUS DRUGS
VA Kanax is a dangerous drug pursuant to Code section 402'2. Itis a Schedule IV

Controlled Substé.noé 23 designated by Health and Safety Code section-11057, subdivision (cj.](l).

Its generic name is Alprazolam and is used to relieva anxiety.

10 | tnd] Yaxr Tlac]
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subdivision (&)(4))/APAP is an analgesic corbination of a narcotic, Hydrocodone, and
Acetaznihophen. Acetaminophen, often abbreviated as APAP, is a peripherally acting analgesic
agent found in many oc;mbinaﬁon products and also available by ftself, This combination product

is used to treat moderate to moderately severe pain. In the U.S., formulations containing more.

8
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than 15 mg hydrocodone per dosage unit are considered Schedule 11 dmgs: Tho;se containing less
than or eqﬁal to 15 mg per dosage wnit in combination with acetaminophen or another non-
confrolled cfrug are called hyérocodone compounds and are considered Schedule 1T drugs,
Hydrocodorie (as designated by Health and Safety Code geotion 11055, subdivision (b)(1))(D))is
not available in pure form in the United States dus {o a separate regulation, Hydfocoé._onc is

always sold combined with another drug, Hydrocodone is 2 dangevous drug within the meaﬁjng

'of code section 4022,

19, . Promethazine with codeine is a dangerous drug pursuant to section 4022 of the
Code, Itisa Soheduic IV controlled substance, as designated by Health. and Safety Code section
11057, subdivision (f)(4). '

) FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Conviction of Subs;tantially Related Cri,mes)v

20. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under sectio1;1 221.36 of the Code in that he
has been convicted of crimes which are substantially relatéd fo the qualifications, fonctions, or
duties of a physician and surgeon. The circumstances are as follows:

21. Since in or around 2006; Respondent has been Writin‘g preseriptions for contralled
subétdnces for money without seeing the patient. At various times,'RespondenﬁWmdd receive a
list containing, among other information, names of patients from about five i.ndividuéls.
Respondent would write presorip’éions for controlled substances for the named patients, The
prescriptions were taken to a pliarmacy whers they were filled for individuals, other than the
named patents. Respondent received approximately $60.00 for each prescription as more
specifically set forth in paragraph 22 below.

22, OnAugust 12,2011, 1in tim United States District Court, Southern District of

Califarnin Dnnnnﬂr‘eﬂ“' wras charaed incount 1 of an indictment in a.case entitled Unlted States
S IOTIR A IRCSPORAGI W Ao Cad o a0ty 228 AHEGDHHES

vs. Tyron Réece, et al., case number 11CR3588-ATB, with conspiracy to distibute controlled
substances, in violation 6f Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1). The indictment plead

in part as follows: -

Acousation (11-2010-211926)
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“CONSPIRACY TO DISTRIBUTE CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES

“2. Beginning on a date unknown to the grand jury and contiming up to and
including August 10, 2011, within the Southern District of Califomié, and elsewhere,
defendants ANTHONY WRIGHT, aka “Serh,” CHARLES DABNEY, TYRON

- REESE, MOSES BLACKMON, KIM MARTIN, and GLENN REYNALDO,' did

lcnowingly and intentionally conspire and agree with Milton Farmer, charged .

' elsewhere, and each other and with others known and unknown to the grand jury, to

distﬁbuﬁe’ comtrolled substances all in violation of Title 21, United States Code, .
Seotion 841(a)(1). | :
|  “MANNER AND MEANS

© “ROLES OF THE DEFENDANTS . )

“3,  Defondant ANTHONY WRIGHT paid defendants MOSES BLACKMON ané
GLENN REYMNALDO cash for fraudulent medical prescriptions issued by' TYRON
REECE whmh were nsed (o illegally acquire Scheduled phalmaceutmal drugs from co-

conspirators Workmg at Dabney Pharmacy

“4,  Defendant CHARLES DABNEY, who was the manager of Dabney Pharmacy

- since 1989, in'exchange for cash, processed and filled defendant ANTHONY

WRIGHT’s fraudulent medical prescriptions at the rate of approximately 90

prescriptions a week.

5. . Defendant TYRON REECE, a medical doctor licensed to practice medicine in

California, sold frandulent medical prescriptions for 100 tablets of hydrocodone
(Schedule ITI), 100 tablets alprazolam (Schedule IV) and 1 pint of prorﬁethazine with

codeine (Schedule V) to defendants MOSES BLACKMON and GLENN REYNALDO

%6, Defendant KIM MARTIN, a receptionist/clerk at Dabney Pharmacy, received

and processed defendant ANTHONY WRIGHT's fraudulent presoriptions' in exchange
for cash payments fror defendant ANTHONY WRIGHT,

10
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“OVERT ACTS
“7.  Infntherance of sald conspliracy, and to effect the objects thereof, the followmg
overt acts, among others, wers committed within the Southern District of Californiz,
and elsewhere:
“a) On or about March 21, 2010, in Los Angeles, California, during a
telephone conversation, defendant KIM MARTIN informed defendant
ANTHONY WRIGHT that she had given fraudulent medical preseriptions to
defendanf CHARLES DABNEY. for processing,

“b) “On about Augvst 12, 2010, in Los Angeles, California, defendant
TYRON REECE issued medical prescriptions to an individual for 100 tablets
of hydrocodone (Schedule I, 100 tablets alprazolam (Schedule IV)and 1 pint
-of promethazine with codeine (Schedule ) without conducting & medical
examination, .

“c) On or about August 25, 2010, in San Diego, California, during a
telephone conversation, defendant ANTHONY WRIGHT offered to sell
tablets of oxycddone to a confidential source for 325.00 a tablet.

“d) On or about November 29, 2010, in Los Angeles, California, during &
telephone conversation, defendant MOSES BLACKMON informed defendent
ANTHONY WRIGHT that she had fifteen prescriptions avallable for
imiediate delivery to ANTHONY WRIGHT.

“g) Omn oraboutMarch 14,2011, in Los Angeles, Chlifornia, during a
telephone conversation, defendants CHARLES DABNEY and ANTHONY
WRIGHT discussed how DABNEY maintained list of names for defendant

A]\TTT—T(TN[V “anT—TT k7o "‘IGg $a Qﬁﬂ"'!:'l‘ﬂ Eal~hb] Al“ﬂﬂ‘f YHPA'I["'{Y 'F\Vbuh?‘l nHeme
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“f)  On or about March 28, 2011, in Los Angeles, California, during a
telephone conversation, defendant GLENN REYNALDO informed
ANTHONY WRIGHT that he would facilitate the delivery of.fraudulent
medical presctiptions to defendant KIM MARTIN at Dabney Pharmecy.”

11
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23, On August 12, 2011, a Warranit for the Arrest of Respondent was filed in the United
States District Court. On August 16, 2011, Respondent was arrested by the U.S, Marshall,

24, OnNovember 1, 2012, in the United States District Cowrt, Southern District of
Califdﬁi_a, Respondent entered a plea of guilty to count 1 of the indictment.

25, On Navember 1, 2012, a Findiﬁgs and Recommendation of the Magistrate Judge
Upon a Plea of Guilty, was signed by Hon. Jan M, Adler, United States Magistrate Judge.

26, On November 19,2012, an Order Ptcceptizlag Guilty Plea, was signéd by Hon.
Anthony J. Battaglia, U.S, District Court Judge, | |

27. On September 19, 2013, the United States‘District Court Judge signed a Joint Motion
Continuing the Seéntencing of Respondent,

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Conumission of Acts Involving Dishonesty or Corruption)
28. Byreason of the allegations set forth above, 'in paragraphs 21 through 27, whioh ave

incorporated herem as if fully set forth, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section.

2234, subd1v151on (e) of the Code in that he has commltf'cd acts involving dishonesty or

corruption which are substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician

and surgeon.

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Bxeessive Prescribing)

29. By reasci of the allegations set forth above, in paragraphs-21 through 27, which are

incorporated herein as if fiilly set forth, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action for'excessive

prescribing, in violation of section 725 of the Code.

FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

®R ebates for P a‘H ent Referrals)

30. By reason of the allegations set forth above, in paragraphs 21 through 27, which are
incorporated herein as if fully st forth, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action for receiving

rebates for pdtient referrals in violation of section 650 of the Code, More specifically,

| Respondent, in effect, referred patients to the pharmaqy, by writing prescriptions which were

12

Accusation (11-2010-211926)




1 || delivered to the pharmacy, in exchange-for cash payments,
2 FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
3 (‘\}iolation of Drug Statwtés)
4. 31, By reason of the allegations set forth above, in paragraphs 21 thiough 27, Respondent .
5 || is subject to disciplinéry action for unpro'fessional conduct under section 2238 of the Code,
6 SIXTH CAUSE/ ROR DISCIPLINE
7 " (General Unprofessional Conduct) _
g 32, Byreason of the allegations set forth above, in paragraphs 21 througﬁ 31, Respondent
9 || is subject to disciplinary action for unprofessional conduet under section 2234 of the Code.
10 WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters harein alleged,
11 || and that following the hea;*‘mg, the Medical Board of Cah;form'a issue a de'cision:
12 1. Revoking or suspending Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate Numnber A 3 1509,
13 || issued to Tyron C. Reece, M.D.;
14 2. Revoking, snspending or denying approval of Tyron C. Reece, M.D.'s authonty to
15 || supervise physician assistants, pursuant to section 3527 of the Code;
16 3. Ordermg Tyron C. Reece, M.D. to pay the Medical Board of California, if placed on
19 probatmn the costs of probation momtonng, and ‘
i8 4. Takmg such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper,
19 ' | /"
20 DATED: November 14, 2013 | hﬂ/ szk«d{/y %)’)/{//A,{,U/
21 ] ' KIMBERLY KIRCHMEYZER //’
Interim Executive Director
22 Medical Board of California
Department of Consumer Affairs
23 State of California
Complatnant
24
25 || LA2013609293
26 61106559,doc
27
28
13
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